
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

  
SONTERRA CAPITAL MASTER FUND, LTD., 
HAYMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, L.P., and 
CALIFORNIA STATE TEACHERS’ RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

- against - 

UBS AG, UBS SECURITIES JAPAN CO. LTD., 
MIZUHO BANK, LTD., THE BANK OF TOKYO-
MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., THE SUMITOMO TRUST 
AND BANKING CO., LTD., THE NORINCHUKIN 
BANK, MITSUBISHI UFJ TRUST AND BANKING 
CORPORATION, SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING 
CORPORATION, RESONA BANK, LTD., J.P. 
MORGAN CHASE & CO., JPMORGAN CHASE 
BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, J.P. MORGAN 
SECURITIES PLC, MIZUHO CORPORATE BANK, 
LTD., DEUTSCHE BANK AG, DB GROUP SERVICES 
UK LIMITED, MIZUHO TRUST AND BANKING CO., 
LTD., THE SHOKO CHUKIN BANK, LTD., SHINKIN 
CENTRAL BANK, THE BANK OF YOKOHAMA, 
LTD., SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE SA, THE ROYAL BANK 
OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC, THE ROYAL BANK 
OF SCOTLAND PLC, RBS SECURITIES JAPAN 
LIMITED, RBS SECURITIES INC., BARCLAYS BANK 
PLC, BARCLAYS PLC, BARCLAYS CAPITAL INC., 
CITIBANK, NA, CITIGROUP, INC., CITIBANK, 
JAPAN LTD., CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS 
JAPAN, INC., COÖPERATIEVE CENTRALE 
RAIFFEISEN-BOERENLEENBANK B.A., HSBC 
HOLDINGS PLC, HSBC BANK PLC, LLOYDS 
BANKING GROUP PLC, LLOYDS BANK PLC, ICAP 
PLC, ICAP EUROPE LIMITED,  R.P. MARTIN 
HOLDINGS LIMITED, MARTIN BROKERS (UK) 
LTD., TULLETT PREBON PLC, BANK OF AMERICA 
CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 
MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL, AND JOHN 
DOE NOS. 1-50, 

Defendants. 
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 I, Vincent Briganti, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a shareholder with the law firm Lowey Dannenberg Cohen & Hart, P.C. 

(“Lowey”). I submit this Declaration in connection with the pending Motion for Preliminary 

Approval of the settlements reached with R.P. Martin and Citi.   

2. A true and correct copy of the Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement dated 

December 3, 2014 (the “R.P. Martin Settlement”), among Plaintiffs and Defendants R.P. Martin 

Holdings Limited and Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd., and their subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively 

“R.P. Martin”) is attached as Exhibit 1. 

3. A true and correct copy of the Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement dated 

August 11, 2015 (the “Citi Settlement”), among Plaintiffs and Defendants Citigroup Inc., Citibank, 

N.A., Citibank Japan Ltd., Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., and their subsidiaries and affiliates 

(collectively “Citi”) is attached as Exhibit 2.1 

4. A true and correct copy of the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission’s 

Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Section 6(c) and 6(d) of the Commodity Exchange Act, 

Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions against R.P. Martin is attached as Exhibit 3. 

5. A true and correct copy of the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority’s Final Notice to 

Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd. is attached as Exhibit 4. 

6. Experience.  At the time the proposed R.P. Martin and Citi Settlements 

(collectively, “Settlements”) were being negotiated, my firm and I were experienced in prosecuting 

claims under the Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”), 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., Sherman Antitrust Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1961 et seq.  

7. I have nearly twenty years of experience in successfully developing and leading the 

1 Capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined in this Declaration have the same meaning as in the Citi 
Settlement. 
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prosecution of commodity manipulation, antitrust, and federal securities litigation matters.  This 

experience includes cases in which my firm and I have successfully prosecuted, as court-appointed 

lead or co-lead counsel or individual plaintiff’s counsel, what were at the time the first, second, third, 

and fourth largest class action recoveries under the Commodity Exchange Act: In re Sumitomo Copper 

Litigation, Master File No. 96 CV 4854 (S.D.N.Y.) (Pollack, J.) ($149 million settlement); Hershey v. 

Pacific Investment Management Corp., Case No. 05-C-4681 (RAG) (N.D. Ill.) ($118.75 million 

settlement); In re Natural Gas Commodity Litigation, Master File No. 03 CV 6186 (S.D.N.Y.) (Marrero, 

J.) ($101 million settlement); and In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litigation, Master File No. 07 

Civ. 6377 (S.D.N.Y) (Scheindlin, J.) ($77.1 million settlement).  Currently, my firm and I are 

prosecuting, as court-appointed class counsel, cases alleging anticompetitive conduct and 

manipulation of the world’s most important financial benchmarks, including the London Interbank 

Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) for the Swiss Franc (Sonterra Capital Master Find Ltd. et al. v. Credit Suisse 

Group AG et al., Case No. 15-cv-871 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y.)), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate 

(“Euribor”) (Sullivan et al. v. Barclays PLC et al., Case No. 13-cv-2811 (PKC) (S.D.N.Y.)), the 

WM/Reuters FX benchmark (“FX”)(In re Foreign Exchange Benchmark Rate Antitrust Litig., Case No. 

13-cv-7789 (LGS) (S.D.N.Y.)), and the London Silver Fixing (In re: London Silver Fixing Ltd., Antitrust 

Litigation, Case No. 14-md-2573 (VEC) (S.D.N.Y.).  In the Euribor litigation, Judge Castel 

preliminarily approved a $94 million settlement with Barclays plc and related Barclays’ entities on 

December 15, 2015.  As part of the December 15 Order, Judge Castel appointed my firm and I as 

Co-Class Counsel to the Settlement Class.  See Sullivan v. Barclays plc, No. 13-cv-2811 (PKC), Order 

Preliminarily Approving Class Action Settlement and Conditionally Certifying a Settlement Class 

(ECF No. 234). 

8. Lowey’s Firm Resume is attached hereto as Exhibit 5.     

9. Well-Informed.  Before reaching the Settlements, Plaintiffs’ counsel was well-
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informed regarding the strengths and weaknesses of Plaintiffs’ claims.  My firm and I extensively 

reviewed and analyzed the following documents and information: (i) government settlements, 

including plea, non-prosecution and deferred prosecution agreements; (ii) publicly available 

information relating to the conduct alleged in Plaintiffs’ complaints; (iii) expert and industry research 

regarding Yen-LIBOR, Euroyen TIBOR and Euroyen-Based Derivatives futures and over-the-

counter markets; and (iv) prior decisions of this Court and others deciding similar issues. In addition, 

my firm and I: (a) conducted an extensive investigation into the facts and legal issues in this action; 

(b) engaged in extensive negotiations with Citi and R.P. Martin; and (c) took many other steps to 

research and analyze the strengths and weaknesses of the claims, including ongoing consultations 

with a leading commodity manipulation consulting expert. 

10. Procedural History.  On April 30, 2012, Plaintiff Jeffrey Laydon (“Laydon”) filed a 

class action complaint against Citibank, N.A. and Citibank Japan Ltd. and other Defendants.2  ECF 

No. 1.  Thereafter, on December 3, 2012, Laydon filed a corrected first amended class action 

complaint adding certain bank defendants, including Citigroup Inc. and Citigroup Global Markets 

Japan Inc. ECF No. 124.  Laydon filed a second amended class action complaint on April 15, 2013 

adding other defendants, including R.P. Martin.  ECF No. 150.  Defendants filed their motion to 

dismiss and thirteen separate memoranda of law on June 14, 2013.  ECF Nos. 204, 205-06, 208-14, 

217-18, 220-21.  Laydon filed his opposition to Defendants’ motions to dismiss on August 13, 2013.  

ECF No. 226.  Defendants filed reply memoranda on September 27, 2013.  ECF No. 232-243. 

Laydon filed a sur-reply memorandum on October 9, 2013.  ECF No. 245. 

11. On March 5, 2014, the Court held an all-day oral argument on Defendants’ motion 

to dismiss.  On March 28, 2014, the Court granted in part and denied in part Defendants’ motion to 

dismiss Laydon’s second amended complaint.  ECF No. 270.  Defendants moved for 

2 Unless otherwise noted, all docket citations are to Laydon v. Mizuho Bank, Ltd. et al., 12-cv-3419 (GBD) (S.D.N.Y.).   
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reconsideration of their motions to dismiss on April 11, 2014.  ECF Nos. 275, 277, 278, 282.  

Laydon opposed the reconsideration motions on May 9, 2014. ECF No. 290. Defendants filed reply 

memoranda on May 30, 2014. ECF Nos. 292, 293, 295, 296. The Court denied the motions for 

reconsideration on October 20, 2014. ECF No. 398. 

12. On April 21, 2014, the Court granted Laydon leave to file a motion to amend the 

second amended complaint and file a proposed third amended complaint. ECF No. 286. Laydon 

filed his motion to amend on June 17, 2014. ECF No. 301.  The proposed third amended complaint 

added Oklahoma Police Pension & Retirement System (“OPPRS”), and Stephen P. Sullivan 

(“Sullivan”) as proposed plaintiffs and added claims under RICO and for breach of good faith and 

fair dealing against certain Defendants.  The proposed third amended complaint also sought to cure 

certain pleading deficiencies identified by the Court in its March 28, 2014 Order.  On August 15, 

2014, Defendants filed a joint opposition to the motion to amend. ECF No. 361.  Laydon filed his 

reply memorandum on September 22, 2014. ECF Nos. 387-388. As part of his reply, Laydon also 

sought to add the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (“CalSTRS”) as a named plaintiff.  

The Court granted in part and denied in part Laydon’s motion to amend on March 31, 2015. ECF 

No. 448.  In the March 31 Order, the Court denied CalSTRS’ application to intervene without 

prejudice and ordered CalSTRS to renew its application within 30 days.  CalSTRS filed its letter 

motion to intervene on April 29, 2015.  ECF No. 460.  Defendants filed their opposition on May 13, 

2015.  ECF No. 471.  CalSTRS filed its reply on May 26, 2015.  ECF No. 475.  The Court denied 

CalSTRS’ motion to intervene on October 8, 2015.  ECF No. 525.  CalSTRS timely filed a notice of 

appeal on November 9, 2015.  ECF No. 535.        

13. While the parties briefed arguments addressing Plaintiff Laydon’s motion for leave to 

amend, fourteen Defendants filed motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and a stay of 

discovery on August 10, 2014.  ECF Nos. 310, 315, 323, 331, 334, 337, 341, 344.  Laydon opposed 
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these motions to dismiss on August 29, 2014. ECF Nos. 366-370.  Fourteen Defendants filed their 

reply memoranda on September 15, 2014. ECF Nos. 375-379, 381-384. On September 30, 2014, the 

Court held oral argument on the fourteen Defendants’ motions to dismiss for lack of personal 

jurisdiction.  On March 31, 2015, the Court granted the four Stipulating Defendants’ motions to 

dismiss and denied the ten Non-Stipulating Defendants’ motions to dismiss. ECF Nos. 446-447. 

Defendants’ motion for reconsideration was filed on April 14, 2015. ECF No. 452. The Court 

denied the motion for reconsideration on July 24, 2015. ECF No. 490.  The ten Non-Stipulating 

Defendants filed a petition for writ of mandamus on September 25, 2015.  See In re: Mizuho Corporate 

Bank, 15-3014 (2d Cir.).  The Second Circuit denied the mandamus petition on January 20, 2016.  Id.  

14. On April 28, 2015, Laydon moved for an order entering final judgment under Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 54(b) as to the dismissal of the four Stipulating Defendants on personal jurisdiction 

grounds. ECF No. 457.  On April 30, 2015, Laydon, with proposed plaintiffs OPPRS and Sullivan, 

sought leave to file an interlocutory appeal under 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b) for immediate review of the 

Court’s order denying Laydon leave to further amend the complaint to add the RICO claims and 

proposed plaintiffs OPPRS and Sullivan. ECF No. 461.  The Court denied both motions on July 24, 

2015. ECF Nos. 489, 491. 

15. Plaintiff served his First Request for the Production of Documents on Defendants 

on June 17, 2014.  While the parties were briefing Plaintiff Laydon’s motion for leave to amend and 

fourteen Defendants’ motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, the U.S. Department of 

Justice also filed a motion to intervene and for a stay of discovery on September 15, 2014. ECF No. 

380.  The Court granted the U.S. Department of Justice’s motion to intervene and ordered a stay of 

discovery until May 15, 2015. ECF No. 451.  Defendants served their responses and objections to 

Plaintiff’s First Request for the Production of Documents on December 19, 2014.   

16. Following the lifting of the stay of discovery on May 15, 2015, Magistrate Judge 
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Pitman held a discovery conference on June 25, 2015.  Judge Pitman set a schedule by which 

Defendants were to brief and Plaintiff was to oppose Defendants’ discovery objections based on the 

foreign data privacy laws of, among others, Japan.  ECF No. 483.          

17. Certain Defendants then moved on August 6, 2015 for an order sustaining their 

discovery objections under the foreign data privacy or bank secrecy laws of the United Kingdom 

and Japan.  ECF Nos. 495, 501.  On September 11, 2015, Plaintiff Laydon filed his opposition, 

including an expert declaration, to certain Defendants’ motion to sustain their discovery objections 

under the laws of the United Kingdom.  ECF Nos. 512-513.  On September 11, 2015, Plaintiff 

Laydon and certain other Defendants also notified Magistrate Judge Pitman that they had reached an 

agreement to table Defendants’ motion under the foreign data privacy laws of Japan.  ECF No. 511.   

18. On July 24, 2015, Sonterra Capital Master Fund, Ltd. and Hayman Capital 

Management, L.P. filed their initial complaint against Defendants. Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. et 

al. v. UBS AG et al., 15-cv-5844 (S.D.N.Y.) (“Sonterra Action”) ECF No. 1. The Sonterra Action was 

assigned to this Court on August 5, 2015 as related to the Laydon action.  On October 8, 2015, the 

Court denied, without prejudice, Plaintiffs’ request to consolidate the Sonterra and Laydon Actions.  

ECF No. 524. 

19. On December 18, 2015, Plaintiff Laydon filed his Third Amended Class Action 

(“TAC”) complaint.  ECF No. 547.  On January 8, 2016, the Court granted Defendants’ request to 

strike the TAC and directed Plaintiff to submit a letter request with a new proposed complaint TAC 

by January 28, 2016.  ECF No. 558.  Plaintiff filed a letter request with a new proposed TAC on 

January 28, 2016.  ECF No. 564.   

20. On December 18, 2015, Sonterra Capital Master Fund, Ltd. and Hayman Capital 

Management, L.P. and CalSTRS filed their amended class action complaint. Sonterra Action, ECF 

No. 121.   
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21. Arm’s-Length.  Negotiations leading to the Settlements were entirely non-collusive 

and strictly arm’s-length.  During the course of negotiations, Plaintiffs had the benefit of developing 

information from various sources, including government settlements and orders, other public 

accounts of manipulation involving Yen-LIBOR and Euroyen TIBOR, counsel’s investigation into 

Plaintiffs’ claims, industry and expert analysis, and information shared by Settling Defendants during 

the negotiations.  See ¶ 9.  I was involved in all aspects of the settlement negotiations on behalf of 

Plaintiffs.    

22. R.P. Martin Settlement Negotiations. The negotiations with R.P. Martin took 

place over four months starting approximately in September 2014 and continuing until the R.P. 

Martin Settlement was executed in December 2014.   

23. Settlement discussions began in September 2014 after Lowey learned that R.P. 

Martin was facing insolvency, which would potentially impact, among other things, access to 

relevant documents and information.  

24. R.P. Martin and Plaintiffs engaged in a number of phone calls and email exchanges 

to discuss the scope and terms of any settlement agreement during September and October 2014. 

25. On November 5, 2014, my partner Geoffrey Horn and I traveled to London, 

England to meet in person with representatives of R.P. Martin, including R.P. Martin’s Chairman 

and CEO Stephen Welch. During this meeting, R.P. Martin described the results of its investigation 

into its role in manipulating Yen-LIBOR, Euroyen-TIBOR and Euroyen-Based Derivatives, and 

discussed white papers it had prepared for government investigators describing its findings. R.P. 

Martin detailed their role in brokering various yen products including cash products, interest rate 

swaps, forward exchange and forward rate agreements in the voice broker market. It also provided 

information about its brokers’ relationships with and manipulative activities (including wash trades) 

on behalf of Defendants such as UBS, RBS, and JPMorgan. R.P. Martin showed us audiotapes 
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containing conversations between R.P. Martin brokers and Defendants; the same recordings 

provided much of the information released by the various governments investigating the 

manipulation. 

26. Following the November 5, 2014 meeting, R.P. Martin and Plaintiffs exchanged 

drafts of a proposed settlement agreement. After several rounds of revisions, R.P. Martin and 

Plaintiffs agreed on the final language and executed the R.P. Martin Settlement on December 3, 

2014.  

27. On December 4, 2014, Lowey had a conference call with R.P. Martin to specifically 

discuss the financial information and cooperation to be provided pursuant to the R.P. Martin 

Settlement. R.P. Martin agreed to produce, among other items, corporate declarations from R.P. 

Martin’s C.E.O. describing, inter alia, R.P. Martin’s involvement in manipulation; drafts of year-end 

audited financials; emails; voice recordings; electronic chat room data; transaction data; R.P. Martin’s 

internal investigation files; and details of a plan to sell some assets of R.P. Martin and enter into 

insolvency proceedings. 

28. Plaintiffs informed the Court and Defendants of the R.P. Settlement on December 

9, 2014.   

29. On December 15, 2014, Lowey had a conference call with R.P. Martin CEO and 

Chairman Stephen Welch to discuss the acquisition of certain R.P. Martin assets by BGC Partners, 

Inc. and the placement of the remaining assets under the supervision of a court-appointed 

administrator pursuant to British administration (insolvency) law. 

30. On December 17, 2014, Lowey received some of the required information from R.P. 

Martin. Pursuant to the existing stay of discovery and an agreement with the U.S. Department of 

Justice, R.P. Martin’s cooperation materials, other than information relating to R.P. Martin’s 

financial condition, asset sale and insolvency, were embargoed and were not viewed until the Court-
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ordered stay of discovery was lifted on May 15, 2015. 

31. Over the next several months, Lowey continued to work with R.P. Martin’s agents to 

obtain all of the required documents. Lowey also confirmed R.P. Martin’s representations that it was 

unable to pay any monetary settlement. 

32. R.P. Martin’s settlement cooperation has provided a wealth of information 

previously unavailable to Plaintiffs.  For example, as part of its settlement cooperation, R.P. Martin 

produced its internal investigation files compiled as part of its investigation into the manipulation of 

Yen-LIBOR, Euroyen TIBOR, and the prices of Euroyen-Based Derivatives.  These internal 

investigation files included interview notes with former brokers.  These interview notes provide 

specifics on the means by which R.P. Martin and other Defendants manipulated Yen-LIBOR, the 

identities of R.P. Martin’s principal co-conspirators, and specific examples of instances in which R.P. 

Martin and other Defendants manipulated Yen-LIBOR.   

33. Aside from R.P. Martin’s interview notes, R.P. Martin also provided the underlying 

documents and audio files that it produced directly to global regulators during the course of the 

regulators’ investigation of Yen-LIBOR and Euroyen TIBOR manipulation.  These underlying 

source documents have helped identify the names of Yen traders and submitters at other 

Defendants who were active participants in the manipulation.  These materials also provide 

additional examples of the manipulation of Yen-LIBOR.     

34. R.P. Martin also produced its “BOSS” database which included over twelve gigabytes 

of market data and prices that has helped Plaintiffs analyze the level of artificiality caused by 

Defendants’ manipulation in the market on a daily basis.  This market data will also help build a 

proposed Distribution Plan.  

35. Citi Settlement Negotiations.  The negotiations with Citi occurred over 

approximately four months, beginning in early April 2015 and continuing until the Citi Settlement 
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was executed in August 2015.   

36. Following initial phone calls with Citi’s counsel during the first week of April 2015, 

Lowey and Citi met in person on April 9, 2015.  At the April 9 meeting, Lowey presented to Citi’s 

counsel and a representative for Citi what Lowey perceived to be the strengths and weaknesses of 

the litigation as well as Citi’s litigation exposure.  The April 9 meeting did not result in a settlement.   

37. Over the next several weeks, Lowey and counsel for Citi had numerous phone calls 

and continued to present to each other the perceived strengths and weaknesses of the litigation.       

38. On May 26, 2015, counsel for Citi and Lowey signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding (“MOU”).  The MOU set forth the terms on which the parties agreed, subject to the 

preparation of a full Settlement Agreement, to settle Plaintiffs’ claims against Citi.  At the time the 

MOU was executed, Lowey was well-informed about the legal risks, factual uncertainties, potential 

damages and others aspects of the strengths and weaknesses asserted herein.  

39. Following months of arm’s-length negotiations, consisting of in-person meetings and 

presentations to Citi, teleconferences, exchanges of draft settlement terms, Lowey, on behalf of 

Plaintiffs and Citi entered into the Citi Settlement on August 11, 2015.  The Citi Settlement was the 

culmination of arms-length settlement negotiations that had extended over many months.   On that 

same day, the Parties reported to the Court and Defendants that a settlement had been reached.  

40. The Settlements were not the product of collusion.  Before any financial numbers 

were discussed in the settlement negotiations and before any demand or counter-offer was ever 

made, I was well informed about the legal risks, factual uncertainties, potential damages, and other 

aspects of the strengths and weaknesses of the claims against R.P. Martin and Citi.   

41. The Settlements involve a structure and terms that are common in class action 

settlements in this District.   

42. The consideration that Citi has agreed to pay in the initial, “ice-breaker” settlement is 
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In the Matter of: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION 

' ( 
.c l_; RP Martin Holdings Limited and 

Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd., 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CFTC Docket No. 14-16 

Respondents. 

____________________________ ) 

ORDER INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 6(c) AND 6(d) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT 

MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS 

I. 

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "Commission" or the "CFTC") has 
reason to believe that RP Matiin Holdings Limited and Matiin Brokers (UK) Ltd. (collectively, 
"Respondents" or "RP Maliin"), have violated Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Commodity 
Exchange Act (the "Act" or the "CEA"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006). Therefore, the 
Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest that public administrative 
proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted to determine whether Respondents engaged in the 
violations set forth herein, and to determine whether any order shall be issued imposing remedial 
sanctions. 

II. 

In anticipation of the institution of an administrative proceeding, Respondents have 
submitted an Offer of Settlement ("Offer"), which the Commission has determined to accept. 
Without admitting or denying the findings or conclusions herein, except to the extent 
Respondents admit those findings in any related action against RP Matiin by, or any agreement 
with, the Depatiment of Justice or any other governmental agency or office, Respondents herein 
consent to the entry and acknowledge service of this Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to 
Sections 6( c) and 6( d) of the Commodity Exchange Act Making Findings and Imposing 
Remedial Sanctions ("Order"). 1 

Respondents consent to the ently of this Order and to the use of these findings in this proceeding and 
in any other proceeding brought by the Commission or to which the Commission is a party; provided, 
however, that Respondents do not consent to the use of the Offer, or the findings or conclusions in this 
Order, as the sole basis for any other proceeding brought by the Commission, other than in a proceeding 
in bankruptcy or to enforce the terms of this Order or where Respondents have admitted findings as set 
forth above. Nor do Respondents consent to the use of the Offer or this Order, or the findings or 
conclusions in this Order consented to in the Offer, by any other patiy in any other proceeding. 
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III. 

The Commission finds the following: 

A. Summary 

During a period encompassing nearly twelve months, from at least September 2008 
through at least August 2009 ("relevant period"), RP Martin, through certain of its brokers on the 
Yen desk, knowingly disseminated false and misleading information concerning Yen borrowing 
rates to market participants in attempts to manipulate, at times successfully, the official fixing of 
the daily Yen London Interbank Offered Rate ("Yen LIB OR"). RP Martin brokers engaged in 
this misconduct primarily to aid and abet a senior Yen derivatives trader ("Senior Yen Trader") 
employed at UBS Securities Japan Co., Ltd. ("UBS") and later at another bank, in his attempts to 
manipulate Yen LIB OR to benefit his derivatives trading positions that were tied to this 
benchmark. 2 

Yen LIB OR, one of the British Banker's Association's ("BBA'') benchmark rates, is 
established each day based on information submitted by banks who are members of the Yen 
LIBOR panel. The rates contributed by the panel banks are supposed to reflect each banlc's 
assessment of the costs of borrowing unsecured funds in the London interbanlc market. Before 
panel banlcs make their rate submissions each day, certain interdealer brokers, such as RP 
Mmiin, which intermediate over-the-counter ("OTC") cash and LIBOR-based derivatives 
transactions between banks and other institutions, provide banks with their trading insight on 
cash pricing trends in the market and on assessments of likely LIB OR rates. Brokers provide 
this type of market information as a service to clients to solicit and maintain business, and are 
thus well-situated to influence the fixing of Yen LIB OR. During the financial crisis of late 2007 
through 2009 ("2007-2009 financial crisis"), panel banlcs became increasingly reliant on such 
market information from RP Maliin and other brokers to inform their LIBOR submissions. 
Accordingly, RP Mmiin brokers' market views could and did have an impact on Yen LIBOR 
submissions. 

As one ofhis many manipulative schemes, the Senior Yen Trader asked RP Martin's Yen 
brokers to exploit their relationships with submitters and traders at Yen LIB OR panel banlcs to 
achieve his manipulative goals. At times, RP Maliin' s Yen brokers accommodated these 
requests, paliicularly whenever the Senior Yen Trader offered to generate extra commissions for 

2 On December 19, 2012, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Sections 
6( c) and 6( d) of the Commodity Exchange Act Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions 
against UBS AG and UBS, finding, among other things, that UBS AG and UBS, through the Senior Yen 
Trader, attempted to manipulate Yen LIB OR, at times successfully, through multiple methods. The 
Commission's Order against UBS AG and UBS found that one of the Senior Yen Trader's strategies 
included enlisting the aid of interdealer brokers to attempt to influence the rates submitted by Yen LIB OR 
submitters at other panel banks. In that Order, RP Martin was identified as Brokerage B and the RP 
Martin broker referenced was identified as Derivatives Broker B 1. See In re UBS AG eta!., CFTC 
Docket No. 13-09 (CFTC filed December 19, 2012), at 
http://www .cftc. gov /ucm/ groups/pub I i c/ @I renforcementactions/ documents/lega !pleading/ enfu bsorder 121 
912.pdf. 

2 
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them through the use of high-dollar wash trades. Specifically, on a limited number of occasions, 
the Senior Yen Trader entered into two identical trades with a Yen Trader at another banlc where 
each took opposing positions in each trade, thus resulting in a net zero trading position for each 
trader, but generating commissions for the entire RP Martin Yen desk, all in anticipation of or 
reward for the RP Mmiin brokers' assistance in the Senior Yen Trader's attempts to manipulate 
Yen LIB OR. These bogus wash trades generated more than $400,000 in commissions for RP 
Mmiin' s Yen desk over the relevant period. 

To try to achieve the Senior Yen Trader's manipulative goals, at times, the RP Mmiin 
Yen brokers disseminated false Yen LIB OR information to Yen LIB OR submitters by providing 
them with misleading market information concerning Yen LIB OR borrowing rates. First, the RP 
Maliin Yen desk provided misleading recommendations regarding where the Yen LIB OR 
submitters should set celiain Yen LIB OR tenors. Market participants believed that these 
recommended LIBORs reflected the RP Mmiin brokers' assessment of how Yen LIBOR should 
be fixed based on their unbiased evaluations of borrowing costs in the interbank madcet. RP 
Mmiin brokers spoke on a daily basis with several ofthe panel banlcs' Yen LIBOR submitters. 
Some submitters relied on the market information RP Mmiin provided when making their own 
Yen LIB OR submissions. However, at ce1iain times during the relevant period, RP Martin's 
Yen brokers skewed their Yen LIB OR recommendations to benefit the Senior Yen Trader, rather 
than provide an objective, unbiased assessment of this benchmark interest rate. 

Second, at times, RP Martin Yen brokers contacted submitters at certain panel banlcs and 
asked them directly to move their Yen LIB OR submissions in a manner that would benefit the 
Senior Yen Trader. At times, some of these submitters agreed to help the brokers. 

Finally, RP Mmiin Yen brokers occasionally offered "spoof' bids to their clients, 
including clients who were Yen LIB OR submitters. These nonexistent cash bids gave the false 
impression that a banlc in the market was willing to trade Yen cash at a paliicular price. RP 
Mmiin Yen brokers knew that Yen LIB OR submitters might consider such market information 
when determining what rates to submit for Yen LIB OR, and hoped that the misleading "spoof' 
bids might influence their eventual Yen LIBOR submissions to the benefit ofthe Senior Yen 
Trader. 

RP Martin's ineffectual supervision of the Yen desk, and its complete failure to audit the 
Yen derivatives desk or adequately review the Yen brokers' communications with clients, among 
other internal controls and supervisory deficiencies, allowed this misconduct to continue 
throughout the relevant period. 

*************** 

In accepting RP Mmiin's Offer, the Commission recognizes Respondents' cooperation in 
the final stages of the Division of Enforcement's investigation and the resolution of this matter. 

3 
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B. Respondents 

1. RP Martin Holdings Ltd. ("RP Martin Holdings") is a privately-owned holding 
company, whose businesses consist of wholesale money brokers who operate in the interdealer 
broker market transacting business on behalf of market participants. The company's brokers act 
as voice brokers, arranging deals over the telephone between buyers and sellers of bonds, 
currency and financial derivatives, and generating revenue from the commission earned on each 
trade. RP Mmiin Holdings is not registered with the Commission in any capacity. 

2. Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd. ("Martin Brokers") is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Mmiin Brokers Group Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary ofRP Mmiin Holdings, and is 
headqumiered in London, England. It manages a cash, foreign exchange, and off-balance sheet 
brokering business in the United Kingdom, including the brokering business conducted by Yen 
brokers and other brokers engaged in the unlawful conduct found herein. Martin Brokers is not 
registered with the Commission in any capacity. 

C. Facts 

1. LIBOR and the Fixing of LIBOR 

LIB OR is the most widely used benchmark interest rate in the world and affects market 
pmiicipants and consumers throughout the world, including in the United States. LIBOR is used 
as a barometer to measure strain in money markets and is often a gauge of the market's 
expectation of future central bank interest rates. LIB OR is used in interest rate transactions with 
a notional value of $500 trillion, such as OTC swaps, loans and exchange-traded interest rate 
futures and options contracts. 

During the relevant period, under the auspices of the BBA/ LIBORs were issued on a 
daily basis for ten currencies, including Yen, with fifteen tenors (i.e., durations for interest rates) 
ranging from overnight through twelve months. Cetiain cunencies, including Yen, are more 
widely referenced in interest rate contracts. One, three and six months are the most common 
tenors referenced in LIBOR-indexed transactions. 

According to the BBA, LIBOR "is based on offered inter-bank deposit rates contributed 
in accordance with the Instructions to BBA LIBOR Contributor banks." The BBA requires that: 

[a]n individual BBA LIBOR Contributor Panel Banlc will contribute the rate at 
which it could borrow funds, were it to do so by asking for and then accepting 
inter-banlc offers in reasonable market size just prior to [11 :00 a.m. London 
time].4 

On February 1, 2014, the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited was appointed as the new 
administrator for LIBOR, following authorization by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). 

4 This definition ofLIBOR has been used by the BBA from 1998 to the present. 

4 
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Every business day shortly before 11:00 a.m. London time, the banks on the LIB OR 
panels submit their rates to Thomson Reuters. A trimmed averaging process is used to exclude 
the top and bottom quartile ofrates and the remaining rates are averaged for each tenor. That 
average rate becomes the official BBA daily LIBOR (the "LIBOR fixing"). 

The BBA makes public the daily LIB OR fixing for each currency and tenor, as well as 
the daily submissions of each panel bank, through Thomson Reuters and the other data vendors 
licensed by the BBA. This information is made available and relied upon by market participants 
and others throughout the world, including in the United States. 

By its definition, LIBOR requires that the submitting panel banks exercise their judgment 
to determine the rates at which they may obtain unsecured funds in the London interbank market. 
These definitions require that submissions relate to funding and do not permit consideration of 
factors unrelated to the costs of boiTowing unsecured funds, such as the benefit to a banlc' s 
derivatives or money market trading positions. 5 

2. RP Martin's Role as an Interdealer Broker 

RP Martin, a relatively small, United Kingdom-based cash and derivatives broker with 
less than 200 employees and 5 offices world-wide, intermediates cash trades in the money 
markets and derivatives transactions. Interdealer brokers, like RP Mmiin, act as intermediaries 
between major dealers in the money markets and the OTC derivatives markets to facilitate 
execution of interdealer trades. Because of their role in the financial markets, interdealer 
brokers, including RP Martin, have a significant impact on panel banlcs' views of the interbanlc 
markets for cash deposits, and, therefore, have a potential impact on panel banlcs' LIBOR 
submissions. Interdealer brokers assist banlcs in obtaining funding by facilitating the negotiation 
of deposits and loans, and in hedging those transactions with derivatives trades often referenced 
to LIBOR. Brokers match buyers and sellers in return for commissions, and provide market 
information for banlcs. Typically, broker commissions are based on a percentage of the notional 
value of consummated transactions. Therefore, higher commissions are generated from 
brokering larger trades. 

In order to find matching counterparties, brokers provide bid or offer prices for a 
financial transaction. Brokers use "squawk boxes" or speakerphones which allow them to speak 
to numerous trading desks of their banlc clients and simultaneously to disseminate broadly bid 
and offer prices. Brokers also frequently use Bloomberg instant message chats and other 
messaging platforms, email and dedicated telephone lines. 

In addition to brokering transactions, as pmi of their client services, interdealer brokers, 
including RP Martin, frequently provide clients with their views and advice on market pricing 
and trends, often called "market color." Clients, including LIBOR submitters and interest rate 

5 In June 2008, the BBA clarified that panel banks could not contribute a rate based on the pricing of 
any derivative financial instrument. BBA guidelines issued in October 2009 fmiher clarified that LIBOR 
submitters "should not ask intermediaries where they believe LIB OR rates will set on a given day and use 
this as a basis for submissions. This misses the point of the benchmark, and is a circular process that 
would rapidly lead to inaccurate rates." 

5 
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derivatives traders at panel banks, rely on brokers for such information. Because brokers speak 
to multiple clients at different financial institutions and share internally the information learned 
from clients, they have pmiicular market insight about cash market prices and trends in otherwise 
opaque markets, offering an impmiant price discovery function. In providing this market 
information, interdealer brokers are implicitly representing that such market information reflects 
their third-pmiy unbiased assessment of borrowing costs and market pricing based on objective, 
observable data, some of which they uniquely possessed. 

During the relevant period, certain interdealer brokers, including RP Martin, provided, 
and still provide, predictions or suggestions of where they believe key benchmark interest rates, 
such as LIBOR, would fix on specific days. These were known as "Suggested LIBORs". 
Interdealer brokers, including RP Martin, also at times shared with some panel banks the 
intended LIB OR submissions of other panel banks. 

During the 2007-2009 financial crisis, LIBOR submitters became increasingly reliant on 
interdealer brokers for their market information, including specific information about the level at 
which other panel banks intended to submit LIBORs, and the brokers' Suggested LIBORs. This 
reliance was due to limited interbank lending occurring upon which submitters could base their 
LIBOR submissions. Some panel banks believed at times during the financial crisis that such 
market information provided by RP Martin and other interdealer brokers was possibly the only 
meaningful market information available to assess their ability to bonow funds in the interbank 
markets. 6 

3. RP Martin Brokers Disseminated False and Misleading Suggested LIBORs in an 
Effort to Manipulate Yen LIB OR to Benefit Panel Banks, at Times Successfully 

At specific times during the relevant period, cetiain RP Martin Yen brokers, acting 
together, knowingly disseminated false and misleading market information including false 
Suggested LIBORs, in attempts to influence the Yen LIB OR submissions made by panel banks 
and thereby manipulate the official fixing of Yen LIB OR. These RP MartinY en brokers 
engaged in such false reporting primarily to assist the Senior Yen Trader at UBS (and later at 
another banlc) in his efforts to manipulate Yen LIB OR to benefit his Yen derivatives trading 
positions, which were valued based on the Yen LIB OR fixings. The Senior Yen Trader believed 
that RP Mmiin brokers could influence cetiain of the Yen panel banlcs' submissions to levels 
favorable to the Senior Yen Trader's positions, and thereby affect the direction and level Yen 
LIB OR would fix at various tenors to benefit the Senior Yen Trader's positions. By beneficially 
affecting the Yen LIB OR fixings, the Senior Yen Trader could increase his profits or reduce his 
losses on his trading positions. At times, the collective effmis of the RP Martin Yen brokers and 
the Senior Yen Trader were successful in influencing Yen LIB OR submissions made by the 
panel banlcs, and thereby manipulating Yen LIBOR. 

6 Yen LIBOR submitters' reliance on interdealer brokers for market information was not consistent 
with BBA guidelines. See supra note 5. 

6 
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a. RP Martin Brokers Provided Unlawful Assistance to the Senior Yen 
Trader By Providing False Suggested LIBORs to Yen LIBOR Submitters 

In 2006, RP Martin assigned a RP Matiin broker manager to be the new Yen forwards 
desk manager ("Yen Desk Head"). The new Yen Desk Head had little to no experience working 
in Yen products. RP Martin also merged the Yen forwards desk with the Yen money market 
desk to create a new foreign exchange forward Yen desk ("Yen Desk"). The Yen Desk consisted 
of several brokers, including Yen Broker 1, who was promoted to "Manager of Yen Money 
Markets" in January 2007. Yen Broker 1 's mandate was to grow both the money market 
business and the off-balance-sheet ("OBS") or Yen derivatives business on the Yen Desk. Yen 
Broker 1 supervised another broker ("Yen Broker 2"), who was also responsible for money 
market and derivatives products. A third broker focused on forward Yen contracts but spent 
some of his time brokering derivatives products. The remaining five brokers on the Yen Desk 
exclusively brokered Yen forward contracts. 

In the fall of 2006, shmily after joining UBS, the Senior Yen Trader requested that RP 
Matiin assign to him one of its junior Yen brokers, whom he could mold into the type ofbroker 
he wanted. He was assigned to Yen Broker 1, who had been working as a cash broker for a 
number of years, but who had no experience in the derivatives market. The Senior Yen Trader, 
based in Tokyo, was then a relative newcomer to the Yen market but quickly became known as a 
high volume, aggressive and dominant Yen derivatives trader who was injecting significant 
liquidity into a previously illiquid market. Because he commanded a large trading volume, the 
Senior Yen Trader was a highly desirable and sought after client of interdealer brokers. This was 
especially true for Yen Broker 1. 

Commencing in October 2006 and continuing throughout the relevant period, the Senior 
Yen Trader frequently asked Yen Broker 1 to assist him in manipulating Yen LIB OR. 
Specifically, the Senior Yen Trader wanted Yen Broker 1 to ask other Yen LIB OR submitters to 
increase or decrease their submissions for the Yen LIB OR rate. If Yen Broker 1 was out of the 
office, the Senior Yen Trader directed such requests to Yen Broker 2, who covered Yen Broker 
1 's clients in his absence. At times during the relevant period, Yen Brokers 1 and 2 complied 
with the Senior Yen Trader's requests. To accomplish this, Yen Broker 1 simply provided 
misleading market information to Yen LIB OR submitters, such as oral Suggested LIBORs that 
he skewed to benefit the Senior Yen Trader's trading positions. 

For example, on July 18, 2008, in a Bloomberg chat, the Senior Yen Trader requested 
that Yen Broker 1 help him lower the one-month Yen LIB OR submission: 7 

Senior Yen Trader: 1m mate * * * whats it looking like need ity lower 
Yen Broker 1: lower 

The communications quoted in this Order are from telephone calls, emails, instant messages, and the 
like. Some contain shorthand trader language and typographical errors. The shorthand and errors are 
explained in brackets within the quotations only when necessary to understand the discussion. 

7 
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Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1 : 
Senior Yen Trader: 
*** 

rabo8 moved UP to 71 they are offered at 49! 
ill have a work with rabo agn then 
please have a word that is wrong 

Senior Yen Trader: [Yen Broker 1] have you spoken to rabo re his 1m fix its a 
joke i need your help on 1m icap are suggesting 63 today 
pis do the same 

Yen Broker 1: ok mate il. do tyeh same i did iyt yesterday too 
*** 
Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1 : 

Senior Yen Trader: 

thx its killing me mate i am losing so much cash then i 
can't pay you 
thats is not gonna help anyone [Yen Broker 2] is trying to 
pull a favour with rabo now 
ta 
roite yu owe him a beer wednesday h [Yen Broker 2] 63 
rabo going ok?> fosters top he likes extra chilled 
ok mate ta for that dude 

During this Bloomberg chat, Yen Broker 1 telephoned the Yen LIB OR submitter at Ban1<: 1 and 
provided Suggested LIBORs, including the recommendation that the one-month Yen LIB OR be 
set at 0.60. Similarly, Yen Broker 2 telephoned the Yen LIBOR submitter at Raboban1<:, and 
convinced him to move his one-month LIBOR down to 0.63, from 0.71 the previous day: 

Rabobank Submitter: I don't know what do you reckon? 
Yen Broker 2: 65? 
Rabobank Submitter: I don't know. I ain't got a clue, 65. He wants me to set 98 

in the 6's. 
Yen Broker 2: That low, yeah? What does he want you setting 1 's then? 
Raboban1<: Submitter: Nothing he hasn't told me. 
Yen Broker 2: 65 then. That's good. Well, got someone asking here. 
Raboban1<: Submitter: Oh ok. 
Yen Broker 2: 
Raboban1<: Submitter: 
Yen Broker 2: 
Raboban1<: Submitter: 

If you can? 
Do you want me to set 65? 
Yeah, or as low as possible basically. 
Well, why didn't you say that then? ***Well, I'll set to 63 
ifyou want. 

This is a reference to Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. ("Rabobank"). On 
October 19, 2013, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Sections 6(c) and 
6(d) of the Commodity Exchange Act Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions against 
Rabobank, finding, among other things, that Rabobank attempted to manipulate Yen LIB OR, at times 
successfully, through multiple methods. In that Order, Yen Broker 2 was identified as Derivatives Broker 
AI. See In re Cooperatieve Centrale RaiffeisenBoerenleenbank B.A., CFTC Docket No. 14-02 (CFTC 
filed October 29, 2013), at 
htJll://www .cftc.gov /ucm/ grou R§L!21t b I ic/ @lrenforccmen1actions/ documents/lega I pl eadingLenfrabobank 1 02 
913.pdf. 
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Yen Broker 2: Yeah? Alright then. Cool. 
Rabobank Submitter: Yeah, it makes no odds to me. 

*** 
Rabobank Submitter: Who's that? 
Yen Broker 2: 
Rabobank Submitter: 

It's a geezer at UBS, [Senior Yen Trader] 
Alright well make sure he knows * * * You know, scratch 
my back, yeah, and all. 

Yen Broker 1 issued skewed Suggested LIBORs on other occasions. For example, on 
October 31, 2008, the Senior Yen Trader instructed Yen Broker 1 to pushY en LIB OR 
submissions for the one, three and six month tenors downward (Senior Yen Trader: "Yes, or 
actually 3's down 12. Yes, 12 or 13 for 3's, 7 or 8 for 6's, like, 19 or 20 for 1's."). Yen Broker 
1 then telephoned Yen LIB OR submitters at three different panel banks, Bank 1, Banlc 2 and 
Banlc 3. During the telephone calls to each Yen LIB OR submitter, Yen Broker 1 strongly 
recommended submitting a lower Yen LIB OR submission for the one-month, three-month, and 
six-month tenors, based on what he claimed were the prices he was hearing in the market. Yen 
Broker 1 stated the following to the Yen LIB OR submitter at Banlc 3: "I'm calling LIBORs 
down maybe about 17, 18 points in 1 's, 3 's around 12, 6's around 8." 

Yen Broker 1 also spoke with other brokers on the RP Martin Yen Desk and the 
Arbitrage Desk, to ensure that the Yen LIBOR submitters at RBS9 and Bank 4 received a similar 
directive to lower their LIBORs based on "market information". However, the RBS Yen LIB OR 
submitter admonished an Arbitrage Desk broker that his Yen LIB OR recommendations were 
"much too much too [low]. I reckon about between three and five off, across the board". 

These telephone conversations demonstrate that submitters at panel banlcs often sought 
advice from brokers such as RP Mmiin when attempting to make benchmark interest rate 
submissions that reflected an assessment of the costs ofborrowing funds in the interbanlc Yen 
market. However, such submitters may have passed on false or misleading submissions because 
they used RP Martin brokers' purpmied unbiased assessments of Yen bono wing rates and 
Suggested LIBORs to inform their submissions. Their reliance on RP Mmtin brokers meant that 
their submissions did not actually reflect borrowing costs, but rather the Senior Yen Trader's 
desired rates. 

9 On February 6, 2013, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Sections 6( 
c) and 6( d) of the Commodity Exchange Act Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions against 
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc and RBS Securities Japan Ltd. (collectively "RBS"), finding, among 
other things, that RBS, through its Yen LIB OR submitters and other yen traders, attempted to manipulate 
Yen LIB OR, at times successfully, through multiple methods. In the Commission's Order, RP Martin is 
identified as Interdealer Broker B. See In re The Royal Bank of Scotland plc eta!., CFTC Docket No. 13-
14 (CFTC filed February 6, 2013), at 
http://www.cftc.gov/ucm/grol_!Qs/public/@lrenforcementactions/documentsflMill.Qleacling/enfrbsorcler020 
613.pclf. 

9 
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b. RP Martin Contacted Submitters Directly and Coordinated with Other 
Brokers on the Yen Desk to Ensure the Senior Yen Trader's Demands 
Were Met 

At times, Yen Broker 1 and Yen Broker 2 also contacted their Yen LIB OR submitter 
clients directly and asked them to move their Yen LIB OR submissions as a "favor" to the Senior 
Yen Trader. Yen Broker 1 also enlisted the help of certain other brokers at RP Martin, including 
managers of certain trading desks, to reach out to additional Yen LIB OR submitters, in an effmi 
to fmiher manipulate the daily Yen LIBOR fixing. For example, on February 25,2009, Yen 
Broker 1 contacted several Yen LIB OR submitters directly and through his colleagues when the 
Senior Yen Trader offered to "pay" Yen Broker 1 if he helped lower the three-month Yen 
LIBOR fixing. They first spoke via Bloomberg chat: 

Yen Broker 1: anything cookjing i can try desperate for a decent trade 
gone pear shaped this month 

Senior Yen Trader: we can switch 2yrs today i'll talk later in mean time low 
1m and 3m we must keep 3m down and high 6m act 6m 
unchanged today try for low on all of em from tom on-row 
need 6m high as a drug addict 

Yen Broker 1: ok ill do my best for those tday hahahha like it ok 

Next, Yen Broker 1 and Senior Yen Trader further discussed their scheme by telephone: 

Yen Broker 1: 

*** 
Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1 : 
Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1 : 
Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 
Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 
Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 

Yes, I know, you need the LIB OR stuff. I know that's 
really important. I know how impmiant it is, you know 
how it is so 

I mean I'm just trying to think who you might be able to 
f*cking lean on a bit today. 
yes, go on g1ve me some names. 
it's really important to get the 3 's down for me. 
3 's more than anything else. 
Yes. Really, well, I mean today I need them all low but, I 
mean, 3's particularly. ***Right [Bank 5] put his at 64, 
mate. Can you get him down? 
64 [Bank 5]. Okay, I'll have a word with him. 
[inaudible] up to 65 
Who's that? [Banlc 2]? 
Yes. 
Right, I'll go and ask him for a- [Yen Broker 2] off today 
but I'll go in and I'll get a favor. 
Yes, ask him if he can move it to 63 for the day or 
something. ***Who else is [inaudible]? 
Rabo is all done out of Utrecht now, even though it's still 
under London. 
RBS is 64 ***you don't talk to RBS, do you? 
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Yen Broker 1: No but the guy in the arbi does, I'll see if he can, smi of, 
see if he can have a word with him for us*** So [Bank 2], 
[Bank 5] and RBS, yes? See if I can get that down some, 
yes? 

Senior Yen Trader: Yes, if you could mate. * * * And you don't speak to [Banlc 
6], do you? 

Yen Broker 1: He's on the arbi so I could have a word with the guy that 
speaks to him and see if he can have a word. See if he can 
drop his LIB OR a couple of pips today ... 

Senior Yen Trader: He's at f!'cking 68 dude * * * if he went to 60 that would be 
f-~<cking massive. 

Yen Broker 1: Okay, I'll have a word with that as well, mate, alright? 

Yen Broker 1 next ensured that he or another RP Martin broker made contact with 
multiple Yen LIB OR submitters to ensure that their Yen LIB OR submissions were consistent 
with the Senior Yen trader's needs. That same day, Yen Broker 1 personally contacted 
submitters at Banlc 1 and Banlc 2. Yen Broker 1 enlisted the assistance of a desk head from RP 
Matiin's Arbitrage Desk ("Arbitrage Desk Head"), who had a relationship with the Yen LIBOR 
submitter at Banlc 6. The Arbitrage Desk Head agreed to make the call, although he expressed 
concern about "auditors" listening in on calls. 

Telephone call between Yen Broker 1 and Yen LIB OR submitter at Banlc 1: 

Yen Broker 1: 
Bank 1 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Bank 1 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Banlc 1 Submitter: 

I need a favor. 
yes. 
***basically I got stuffed in something earlier in an IRS 
and it would have cost me about 40,000 to get out of it, yes. 
Geezer [referring to the Senior Yen Trader] dug me out, as 
a favor back to him he's asked me, for one day today, he's 
got a couple of fixings coming. He wants to see if he can 
get LIBORs down a little bit. I've said I'll try and do what 
I can. Is there any way you might be able to set them a 
little bit lower today just to return the favor? * * * 
Yeah, well cash is a little bit easier, isn't it so I'll 
Yes, if you could get them down a couple of ticks or 
something today that would be f*cking, like the 3 's *** I 
mean if you could do that for me mate that would be a 
personal favor to you. 
Yes, yes, but yes cash is easier so I'll fix a couple up. 

Telephone call between Yen Broker 1 and Yen LIBOR submitter at Banlc 2: 

Yen Broker 1: 
Banlc 2 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1: 
Banlc 2 Submitter: 

Can I ask you a small favor? 
Yeah. 
What are you going to set in your LIBOR 3's today? 
Ah, same, 65. 
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Yen Broker 1: 

Bank 2 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1 : 

Bank. 2 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Is there any way you might be able to set them down a pip 
'cause I'm getting a bigtrade out of it? 
Smry? 
I'm getting someone do me a big trade ifthey said ifl help 
them sort of get LIBORs down a tick today. 
Yeah, okay. *** 
Ah, mate, I appreciate that. 

Telephone calls related to contacting Yen LIBOR submitter at Banlc 6: 

1st telephone call: 

Yen Broker 1: Can you do me a favor? 
Arbitrage Desk Head: Only if you tick the arbi box on that deal. 
Yen Broker 1: We've got a f*cking, yes, we've got a f*cking huge deal but 

on the back of it he's asked me to do him a favor and see if 
I can have a word with a couple of people, see ifLIBOR, 
see if I could get it down a pip. Would you - Banlc 6 is 
setting his at 68 at the moment, do you reckon he might, 
ask him if he might be able to set it at 67 just today for us? 

*** 
Arbitrage Desk Head: 3's LIBOR at 67? 
Yen Broker 1: Yes, instead of 68. It would be a big favor. * * * 
Arbitrage Desk Head: All right, all right. 

2nd telephone call: 

Arbitrage Desk Head: Where you setting 3 's Yen LIB OR? Today. Do you set the 
LIBOR? 

Banlc 6 Submitter: Yes. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: Where are you setting it? 
Banlc 6 Submitter: Actually f*cking can't even remember what I set it 

yesterday. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: 68, I thinlc. 
*** 
Arbitrage Desk Head: So you wouldn't be setting it at 67? 
Banlc 6 Submitter: Why is that a request or? 
Arbitrage Desk Head: Well sort of an underlying -
Banlc 6 Submitter: Yes. Potentially. I don't know, it's not going to be a lot 

different. If anything, yes, I mean, it's not going to go 
higher, let's put it that way. 

*** 
Arbitrage Desk Head: No, someone just said where are people setting the LIBORs 

today. I thinl<: they got some big fixing, they just wondered. 
Banlc 6 Submitter: Ah, yes, month end isn't it. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: Set at 67 by any chance, would it be? 
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Banlc 6 Submitter: 

*** 

Month end doo dah, isn't it? I think, though, that just 
looking - I've got a funny feeling ours is quite high in the 
3 's at the moment so it almost gets knocked out of the 
calculation. 

Arbitrage Desk Head: ***Alright, well okay, as I said nothing shifty or anything 
but just wondered whether you was setting it at 67 today. 

Banlc 6 Submitter: We'll see. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: If you catch my drift. Okay. 

3rd telephone call (emphasis added): 

Arbitrage Desk Head: Did he ask for [Bank 6] in particular? 
Yen Broker 1: He's just given me some names whose LIBORs are quite 

high at the moment to see if I can get them down a bit. No, 
not him, not that one banlc, just a group ofbanlcs. 

Arbitrage Desk Head: He thinlcs that I'll be- he thinlcs that he's out of the equation 
anyway. 

Yen Broker 1: Right, okay. Well it just makes a difference if everyone's 
putting theirs down a bit because I've got a couple of 
people to put them ... [Banlc 2]'s putting his down a pip; 
[Banlc 1] 's putting his down a couple of pips. I mean, if 
there's a few people putting them down it should set the 
average better. 

Arbitrage Desk Head: He's- I've asked him and he's said we'll see. 
Yen Broker 1: Alright, that's fine. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: If I set out on a line then f*cking 
Yen Broker 1: Don't push it, no don't ever push it. 
Arbitrage Desk Head: Not that, it's the old auditors as well. 
Yen Broker 1: Absolutely, no problem mate, no problem at all. 

Yen Broker 1 kept the Senior Yen Trader informed throughout the day ofFebruary 25, 
2009, updating him regarding whether Yen LIBOR submitters had agreed to manipulate their 
Yen LIB OR submissions in a manner that would benefit the Senior Yen Trader. 

1st telephone call between Yen Broker 1 and the Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1 : 
Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1 : 

I thinlc I've got [Banlc 1] down 2, I've got [Bank 2] down 1. 
Yes. 
I thinlc Banlc 6's going to come down 1. I'm working on 
Banlc 5. 
Brilliant. Alright mate, I appreciate that. 
Alright, so it should definitely have an impact, alright. 
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211
d telephone call between Yen Broker 1 and the Senior Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 

Yes, I've done it. I've tried to call in some favors, mate, 
and I think I'll be alright. 
What like the 1 's 3 'sand 6's though? 
Yes. Especially 3 's mate, I've made an extra effort on the 
3 's, alright. I think [Bank 1] will put his down a couple of 
points for the whole lot. Alright? 
Alright, great. You're a star [Yen Broker 1], mate. 

RP Matiin's efforts on February 25, 2009 on behalf ofthe Senior Yen Trader were 
successful. All three banks submitted lower three-month Yen LIB OR submissions, resulting in a 
lower Yen LIBOR fixing for February 25,2009. 

c. RP Martin Yen Broker 1 Also Used "Spoof Bids" to Unlawfully Assist the 
Senior Yen Trader 

On occasion, Yen Broker 1 also attempted to influence Yen LIB OR submitters by 
providing "spoof' bids over the Yen Desk squawk box. As previously noted, squawk boxes 
permit brokers to speak to multiple bank traders and disseminate broadly bid and offer prices. 

Yen Broker 1, acting on behalf of the Senior Yen Trader, disseminated false bid prices 
that he called "fictitious" or "spoof' bids. The Senior Yen Trader encouraged such spoof bids, 
believing that if Yen LIB OR submitters heard over the squawk box that banks were willing to 
trade Yen cash at the fictitious price, they might factor that information into their determination 
oftheir LIBOR submissions and as a result be more likely to move their Yen LIBOR 
submissions that day in a manner that could benefit the Senior Yen Trader. 

For example, during several telephone calls on September 3, 2008, Yen Broker 1 and the 
Senior Yen Trader discussed presenting spoof bids to Bank 1 and Bank 5. Almost immediately 
after these calls, Yen Broker 1 was overheard shouting on the squawk box to Bank 1 's Yen 
LIB OR Submitter that he has a bid at the same false price he discussed with the Senior Yen 
Trader: 

1st telephone call: 

Yen Broker 1: I mean I'm still offered at 91 - I mean the reason I think 
Rabo did put his up he can't get cash anywhere near 88 I 
mean he's going to be like -the only offers I'm seeing 
really are 91 for non-Japanese but I'm blagging an offer at 
88. RBS is already paying 88 maybe 89 alright. l's he's 
offered at like 70 maybe 68, me and [Yen Broker 2] are 
offering it at 67. OK*** Alright and the 6's is nothing I'm 
offering at 95 which is a complete spoof alright. 

Senior Yen Trader: OK alright thanks mate. 
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211
d telephone call: 

Yen Broker 1 : 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1 : 

Senior Yen Trader: 

*** 
Yen Broker 1: 

Yeah I'm offering 3's at 88 where it ain't offered vitiually. 
I'm only offered at 91. 
To [Banlc 1] and [Banlc 5]? 
All of those yeah I mean when I give him a LIBOR run 
through I'm going to go the 1 's I'm going to go 66. 
Yeah. 
He won't set it there but I'll try. 3 's I'm going to go 88, 
which I doubt he will but I'll have a go anyway right and 
the 6's I'm going to go 95. 
OK. 

[shouting over squawk box] I got 88 choice here 3's Yen 
[Banlc 1 Yen LIBOR Submitter] at the moment, 88 either 
way 

d. RP Martin Brokers Accepted Bribes from the UBS Senior Yen Trader, in 
the Form of Wash Trades, in Return for Their Assisting His 
Manipulative Scheme 

RP Martin Yen brokers were highly incentivized to facilitate the Senior Yen Trader's 
manipulative schemes. The Senior Yen Trader guaranteed the RP Martin brokers' loyalty and 
cooperation with his manipulative schemes by making payments to them via wash trades. In 
such trades, the Senior Yen Trader was the opposing counterpmiy on identical trades with other 
traders, resulting in a financial nullity for the counterpatiies, while generating significant 
commissions to RP Mmiin Yen brokers, who brokered both sides of the wash trades. Such 
commissions were shared by the entire Yen Desk, giving other Yen brokers incentives to assist 
Yen Broker 1 and Yen Broker 2 in the Senior Yen Trader's manipulative schemes. These wash 
trades made UBS the second largest client ofthe Yen Desk during 2008 and 2009, accounting 
for nearly 9% of the Yen Desk's revenue during that time. 

Yen Broker 1 brokered at least nine wash trades between September 2008 and August 
2009 on behalf of the Senior Yen Trader. These trades generated more than $412,000 in 
commission revenue for the Yen Desk. Accordingly, Yen Broker 1 solicited the assistance of 
multiple members of the Yen Desk, who found counterpatiies for the wash trades and telephoned 
additional Yen LIB OR submitters to ensure their Yen LIB OR submissions were consistent with 
the Senior Yen Trader's wishes. 

The telephone calls between the Senior Yen Trader and Yen Broker 1 make clear that the 
wash trades, referenced in the calls as "switch trades", were a quid pro quo for RP Mmiin's 
assistance in manipulating Yen LIB OR: 
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September 18, 2008: 

1st telephone call: 

Senior Yen Trader: Mate, right, listen. I don't care right just get me any 
fl'cking trade which pays you basically today, mate. If if 
you keep 6's unchanged today, yeah.*** I will fl'cking do 
one humongous deal with you. All right? * * * Like a 
50,000 buck deal, whatever. ***I need you to keep it as 
low as possible. All right? If you do that, then I'll cross 
the spread and I'll pay you, you know, $50,000,$100,000 
whatever it whatever you want. All right? 

Yen Broker 1: All right. 

2nd telephone call: 

Senior Yen Trader: ***have you got any mates, mate, who'll do you like a net 
trade and I could like, you know, basically give you like 
fl'cking, I don't know, a trillion 3-month LIBOR/TIBOR 
and take back a trillion 3-month LIBOR/TIBOR and, 
obviously, you're net it with the other guy. 

Yen Broker 1: Right. 
Senior Yen Trader: Do you know what I mean? I was thinking we could do 

something like that. That's probably the easiest thing. *** 
what I'm saying is, look, that if you've got a mate who will 
like do a flat switch basically. ***I'd go in and out with 
him, yeah? So I'll pay them in two years or whatever and 
I'll receive from them in two years. The coupon's the 
same.*** I'll get charged bro both sides obviously. 

*** 
Yen Broker 1: all right. That's excellent. 

October 31,2008: 

Senior Yen Trader: Listen what I need- this is what I need, I need 1 's to come 
off the most because if they are off 20 for 1 's which is what 
they [inaudible] 

Yen Broker 1: Right, yes. That's the one thats fl' eking up at the moment 
as well, isn't it, so you need definitely. 

Senior Yen Trader: Yes and then say 3 's are - I don't need it to come off quite 
so much, like, I don't know down 13 or something. 

Yen Broker 1: Right. 
Senior Yen Trader: And then 6's go well, there's still term and you can't get 

hold of it so say, like, down 8 or something. 
Yen Broker 1: Right, okay 
*** 
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Senior Yen Trader: Alright mate, if you could sort this out for me, if you can 
get 1 's down - if you could get like a staggered downward 
move like that then we'll do a f*cking massive ticket next 
week. 

February 25, 2009: 

Yen Broker 1: anything cookjing i can try desperate for a decent trade 
gone pear shaped this month 

Senior Yen Trader: we can switch 2yrs ***we can do 150b 2yrs bro both 
sides ask [RBS Yen Trader] will that help? 

Yen Broker 1: ok mate that will make us make3 budget for the month so 
massiVe yes. 

RP Matiin Yen brokers made great efforts to earn the commissions generated from these 
wash trades, with the assistance of other brokers, including brokers on the Arbitrage Desk. For 
example, on October 31, 2008, as noted above, RP Matiin brokers contacted four Yen LIB OR 
submitters to convince them to move their LIBORs in a direction that benefitted the Senior Yen 
Trader's trading position. Similar examples can be found around dates of the other wash trades, 
during which Yen Broker 1 asked multiple Yen LIB OR submitters for additional favors. A few 
examples follow: 

September 18, 2008 (emphasis added): 

Yen Broker 1: 

Bank 3 Submitter: 

June 29, 2009: 

Yen Broker 1 : 

Bank 3 Submitter: 
Yen Broker 1: 
Bank 3 Submitter: 

***if you could get 6's a little lower today, I've got, urn, 
someone that's going to do a huge trade with me today 
if the if the 6's don't go up too much. So ifyou 
We're going for 1% fix I think today. I think these are all 
going to edge up just marginally so*** what I'll do is I'll 
go 103 for 6's it's not too high but it's going to be higher 
anyway so I can't go too far away from there. 

Ummm Mr. [Bank 3 Yen LIBOR Submitter] I just need to 
ask you a small favor actually. ***I just got completely 
f*cking buried there in a 3-year anti money freeze. 
F*cking I got dug out basically. Let off. Ifthere's any way 
you can stick your LIBOR up to 71 in 6 today it would help 
me out a great deal because that was going to cost me 50 
grand. So yeah I know what you do but if you can get 71 
today mate I would appreciate it. 
Umm I think we were 69; I can probably go to 70 on it. 
Yeah? Well, anything, anything. 
I'll have a look on it. I'll have another look mate. 
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Yen Broker 1: Thank you very much mate I'm asking a couple of people, 
thank you mate. Cheers. 

e. RP Martin Brokers Persuaded Traders at Other Panel Banks to 
Participate as Counterparties to the Wash Trades, in Return for Other 
"Favors" Such as Free Travel and Entertainment 

In order to execute the wash trades with the Senior Yen Trader, RP Mmiin Yen brokers 
needed to find counterpmiies at other banks. The Yen Desk brokers contacted many of their 
cash, OBS and forwards clients, asking for their assistance. For the first set of wash trades that 
was executed on September 18 and 19, 2008, traders from RBS and Bank 7 both agreed to serve 
as counterpmiies. For all of the remaining wash trades executed for UBS, RBS served as the 
sole counterparty. 10 To ensure the traders' agreement to serve as the counterpmiy, RP Martin 
brokers promised free meals, free travel and free entetiainment. 

September 19, 2008 (emphasis added): 

Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 

March 26, 2009: 

Yen Broker 3: 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

Right, geez, can you do me a favor? You, urn, what­
you're not going to get paid any bro for this and we'll 
send you lunch around for the whole desk. Can you flat 
-can you switch, er, two years semi at 5 3/4, 100 yards, 
are you- between UBS. Just get- take it from UBS, 
give it back to UBS. He wants to pay some bro. We won't 
bro you but he wants to put- he wants to give us some bro. 
Yeah, Yeah. 
100 yards, right? 
Yeah. Yeah. UBS on UBS? Right. 
Yeah, Yeah. 100 yards- actually can you make it 150 and 
I'll send lunch around for everybody? 
Yeah. 

All right listen. I need you, mate. 
Yeah. 
I need your money. I- oh, you'll be looked after in 
Vegas. I promise you. It's only a month away. Is there 
any chance you'll be able to wash this switch through 
today? 
Yeah, but I can't do that size. I have to [inaudible] 
Yeah that's fine. Mate, listen. I'm - would be grateful 
mate. I'm- I'll be grateful for anything, mate. 
All right, I'll do 80. 
Okay, mate, listen. That's perfectly fine and er, I won't­
it's not going to be f*cking every month occurrence. It's-

10 See RES Order, supra note 9, at pages 22-24. 
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Yen Broker 3: 
*** 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

it's just like it's the end of our quarter now, so I won't 
pester you with that every month, no way, I appreciate what 
you're doing anyway, right? You'll be looked after, mate. 
Don't wony about that. All right. So, urn, so do I just­
we'll do it today or tomorrow. I'll do it- try and put it 
through today? 
Yeah, I'll put [inaudible]. 

80,yeah? 
Yeah, 80, yeah. Same rules as the last one, yeah? 
Yeah. 
Oh, mate you're a superstar. Cheers, dude, ta. 

On at least one occasion when the RBS Yen Trader agreed to pay the brokerage 
commissions for the wash trades, the RP Martin brokers attempted to assist the RBS Yen Trader 
in manipulating Yen LIB OR to benefit his trading position. 

June 26, 2009: 

RBS Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 3: 

*** 
Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

June 26, 2009: 

Yen Broker 3: 
RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

Has [Senior Yen Trader] been asking you to put Libors up 
today? 
[speaking to someone else] What's [Senior Yen Trader] 
want on Libors today? Is he fixing anything about Libors? 
What does he want? What way does he want it? 
[inaudible] 

He wants ones, ones and threes a little bit lower and sixes 
probably about the same where they are now. He wants 
them to stay the same. 
I want them lower. 
You want them lower? What the sixes? 
Yeah. 
Alright, well, alright, alright, we'll work on it. 

Hello mate, [RBS Yen Trader]? You all set? 
Yeah. 
Right listen, we've had a couple words with them. You 
want them lower right? 
Yeah. 
Alright okay, alright, no we've okay just confirming it. 
We've, so far we've spoke to [Banlc 3]. We've spoke to a 
couple of people so we'll see where they come in alright. 
We've spoke, basically*** we spoke to [Banlc 3], [Banlc 8], 
[Banlc 1], who else did I speak to? [Bank 9]. There's a 
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RBS Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 3: 

couple of other people that the boys have a spoke to but as 
a team we've basically said we want a bit lower so we'll see 
where they come in alright? 
Cheers. 
Cheers no worries mate. 

f. RP Martin Brokers and the UBS Senior Yen Trader Attempted to 
Conceal Their Improper Conduct Surrounding the Wash Trades 

The Senior Yen Trader and Yen Broker 1 were well aware of the improper nature of their 
conduct. First, they made an effort to avoid any written communications confirming the wash 
trades, choosing primarily to communicate via telephone. Second, as noted by a UBS trader 
("UBS Yen Trader") that assisted the Senior Yen Trader, they tried to hide the wash trades by 
"staggering" their execution, as noted in the example below, to avoid any "questions" about the 
trades: 

December 3, 2008: 

Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 
Senior Yen Trader: 
Yen Broker 1: 
Senior Yen Trader: 

February 25, 2009: 

UBS Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 
UBS Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 
UBS Yen Trader: 

Yen Broker 1: 

What I'm doing mate, don't f*cking put it on chat. 
All right. Okay. 
All right. Okay. 90 and three-eighths. 
Oh, thank you very much, mate. I love you. 
I just want it but don't put it on f*cking chat, all right. 

That's alright. I thought it'd be - raise less questions, 
than if I did them at the same time. 
Yeah, I understand that, thank you very much. 
What I even did, I even, put on their, do a [inaudible] like 
me, [Senior Yen Trader], [UBS Senior Yen Trader's 
Supervisor] and stuff. That people would actually, I would 
always put traded it on there anyway. 
Ah, right. 
I do it for the people, I even just stagger that. Just so if 
anyone ever questions it. 
Yeah. [inaudible] "geezer did us a favor, couple of times, 
dada da." *** 

4. Inadequate Controls and Supervision Allowed Broker Misconduct to Continue 
for Years 

During the relevant period, RP Martin failed to establish an adequate compliance 
function, failed to adequately supervise and oversee its Yen brokers and the Yen Desk, and failed 
to implement adequate internal controls and procedures to govern its Yen brokers' 
communications and interactions with clients and prospective clients. 
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During the relevant period, and continuing until February 2010, RP Martin had not 
established a compliance office. Instead, RP Matiin assigned employees from other depatiments 
to handle compliance issues on a pati-time basis. For example, its head of compliance consisted 
of an inexperienced officer who had other responsibilities that created a conflict of interest with 
his compliance duties. 

RP Martin also failed to ensure that staff were adequately trained and supervised. Staff 
received little compliance training. Further, desk heads were given almost no instruction 
regarding their roles and responsibilities in supervising the brokers on their desks. Instead, 
brokers routinely raised concerns and issues directly with senior management, who had earned 
reputations for prioritizing the happiness of profitable brokers over ensuring a compliant 
environment. Within RP Martin, the cunency desks, including the Yen Desk, were inadequately 
supervised. The Yen brokers, including the Yen Desk Head, worked with minimal supervision 
from senior RP Matiin management, who dealt with broker complaints as they arose rather than 
ensuring pro-active supervision of brokers and desk heads suppmied by a robust compliance 
department. 

As part of this insufficient system of compliance, RP Martin did not have adequate 
internal controls, policies and procedures to guide and monitor Yen brokers in their 
communications with clients, or the provision of market information or market color to clients 
and others. RP Martin had no procedures for approval of the dissemination of market 
information, or for review and verification of the basis for the market information being 
disseminated by RP Matiin brokers. Accordingly, although the improper communications 
between Senior Yen Trader and Yen brokers were well-known by most, if not all, ofthe brokers 
on the Yen Desk, and could be heard by all (or nearly all) of the Yen brokers, during the relevant 
time period no one informed compliance or senior management that such improper conversations 
were taking place. 

RP Matiin' s lackadaisical attitude towards compliance was evident when the company 
became aware ofthe UBS wash trading activity. A RP Martin manager who monitored back­
office brokerage activity on a daily basis immediately noticed the unusually large commissions 
generated by the wash trades between UBS and RBS. However, when he questioned the Yen 
Desk about these trades, at least one Yen broker said to him, "You really don't want to know". 
The RP Martin manager discussed the wash trades with at least one member of RP Matiin senior 
management. But this discussion did not generate any action, and no one at RP Matiin fmiher 
investigated why RBS and UBS had agreed to generate unusually large wash trade commissions 
for the Yen Desk. 

RP Martin's lack of specific internal controls and procedures relating to external 
communications, and distinguishing between permissible and impermissible market information 
provided by its Yen brokers to clients and others, as well as its overall lax supervision of the Yen 
Desk, allowed the misconduct to continue unabated throughout the relevant period. 
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IV. 

LEGAL DISCUSSION 

A. RP Martin Knowingly Caused Certain Panel Banks to Make False, Misleading or 
Knowingly Inaccurate Reports Concerning Yen Borrowing Costs in Violation of 
Section 9(a)(2) of the Act 

Section 9(a)(2) of the Act makes it unlawful for any person "knowingly to deliver or 
cause to be delivered for transmission through the mails or interstate commerce by telegraph, 
telephone, wireless, or other means of communication false or misleading or knowingly 
inaccurate repmis concerning crop or market information or conditions that affect or tend to 
affect the price of any commodity in interstate commerce .... " 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2) (2006); US. 
v. Brooks, 611 F.3d 678, 691-93 (5th Cir., 2012) cert. denied, 2013 U.S. Lexis 434 (U.S. Jan. 7, 
2013); United States v. Valencia, 394 F.3d 352, 354-355 (5th Cir. 2004); see also CFTC v. 
Johnson, 408 F. Supp. 2d 259, 267 (S.D. Tex. 2005) (same). 

At times during the relevant period, certain RP Mmiin brokers knowingly caused to be 
delivered through the mails or interstate commerce false or misleading or knowingly inaccurate 
repmis concerning Yen banlc borrowing rates, through the form of Suggested LIBORs, which is 
market information that affects or tends to affect the fixing or pricing of Yen LIB OR, a 
commodity in interstate commerce. 11 Each business day, Yen panel banlcs, through the 
transmission of electronic spreadsheets to Thomson Reuters, made Yen LIB OR submissions in 
contribution to the daily fixing of Yen LIB OR for various tenors through the mails or interstate 
commerce. Yen LIBOR panel banlcs' submissions were delivered through the mails or interstate 
commerce by the daily dissemination and publication globally, including into the United States, 
ofthe panel banks' submissions as well as the daily official Yen LIBOR fixing by Thomson 
Reuters on behalf of the BBA and by other third party vendors. The panel banlcs' submissions 
are used to determine the official published rates for Yen LIB OR, which are calculated based on 
a trimmed average of the submissions. 

The Yen LIBOR panel banlcs' submissions contain market information concerning the 
costs of bono wing unsecured funds in Yen in particular tenors, the liquidity conditions and stress 
in the money markets, and the panel banlcs' ability to bonow Yen in the London interbanlc 
market. Such market information affects or tends to affect the prices of commodities in interstate 
commerce, including the daily rates at which Yen LIB OR is fixed. 

Certain RP Martin Yen brokers understood and expected that at least some, if not many, 
of the Yen panel banks relied on market information from those RP Martin brokers concerning 
the Yen bono wing rates in the London interbank market. However, to benefit ce1iain RP Mmiin 
clients, specifically the Senior Yen Trader and the RBS Yen Trader, and to assist their effmis to 
attempt to manipulate the fixing of Yen LIBOR on their behalf, RP Mmiin Yen brokers at times 
often knowingly disseminated false, misleading and knowingly inaccurate market information to 

11 LIBOR as a benchmark interest rate is a commodity under the Act. See Sections la(4) and la(13) of 
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ la(4) and la(13) (2006) (pre-Dodd Frank), Sections la(9) and la(19) ofthe Act, 7 
U.S.C. §§ la(9) and la(19) (2012) (post-Dodd Frank). 
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the Yen Panel banks through three primary means: (1) Yen Broker 1 or others provided skewed 
Suggested LIBORs through oral communications with submitters or traders at theY en LIB OR 
panel banks; (2) RP Mmiin brokers directly pressured Yen LIB OR submitters and traders at 
panel banks to submit certain rates that were skewed to reflect rates beneficial to the Senior Yen 
Trader and at times other traders; and (3) RP Mmtin brokers occasionally offered "spoof' or 
nonexistent cash bids to their clients, including clients who were Yen LIB OR submitters, to give 
the false impression that a banlc in the market was willing to trade Yen cash at a particular price. 
At times, ce1tain Yen panel banks used RP Martin's skewed Suggested LIBORs in determining 
and making their Yen LIB OR submissions to the BBA. As a result, those Yen LIB OR 
submissions were false, misleading or knowingly inaccurate because the panel banks' 
submissions purported to reflect the panel banks' perceived costs of borrowing Yen in the 
interbank market but in reality, reflected in whole or in pali the rates that benefited the trading 
positions ofRP Mmiin's clients. 

Accordingly, by ce1tain brokers' actions designed and intended to benefit clients and 
themselves, RP Mmiin, through these brokers and a desk manager, knowingly caused the panel 
banks to deliver through the mails or interstate commerce false or misleading or knowingly 
inaccurate market information that affects or tends to affect a commodity in interstate commerce, 
including Yen LIBOR and violated Section 9(a)(2) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2) (2006). 

B. RP Martin Manipulated Yen LIBOR at Times for Certain Tenors 

Together, Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act prohibit acts of manipulation or 
attempted manipulation. Section 9(a)(2) of the Act makes it unlawful for "[a]ny person to 
manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of any commodity in interstate commerce, or for 
future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity .... " 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2) 
(2006). Section 6(c) of the Act authorizes the Commission to serve a complaint and provide for 
the imposition of, among other things, civil monetary penalties and cease and desist orders if the 
Commission "has reason to believe that any person ... is manipulating or attempting to 
manipulate or has manipulated or attempted to manipulate the market price of any commodity, in 
interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, .... 
or otherwise is violating or has violated any of the provisions of [the] Act .... " 7 U.S.C. § 9 
(2006). Section 6(d) ofthe Act is substantially identical to Section 6(c). See 7 U.S.C. § 13b 
(2006). 

Manipulation under the Act is the "intentional exaction of a price determined by forces 
other than supply or demand." Frey v. CFTC, 931 F.2d 1171, 1175 (7th Cir. 1991). The 
following four elements must be met, by a preponderance of the evidence, to show a successful 
manipulation has occurred: 

(1) the [respondent] had the ability to influence market prices; 
(2) the [respondent] specifically intended to do so; 
(3) mtificial prices existed; and 
( 4) the [respondent] caused an aliificial price. 
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In re Cox, [1986-1987 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 23,786 at 34,061 
(CFTC July 15, 1987). The test for manipulation, however, is a practical one: 

We think the test of manipulation must largely be a practical one if the purposes 
of the Commodity Exchange Act are to be accomplished. The methods and 
techniques of manipulation are limited only by the ingenuity of man. The aim 
must be therefore to discover whether conduct has been intentionally engaged in 
which has resulted in a price which does not reflect basic forces of supply and 
demand. 

Cargill v. Hardin, 452 F.2d 1154, 1163 (8th Cir. 1971). 

"[I]ntent is the essence of manipulation." Indiana Farm Bureau Cooperative Ass 'n, Inc., 
[1982-1984 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep (CCH) ~ 21,796, at 27,282 (CFTC Dec. 17, 
1982). The manipulator's intent separates "lawful business conduct from unlawful manipulative 
activity." Id. at 27,283. To prove the intent element of manipulation, it must be shown that RP 
Martin "acted (or failed to act) with the purpose or conscious object of causing or effecting a 
price or price trend in the market that did not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." 
!d. 

The Commission has observed that "intent must of necessity be inferred from the 
objective facts and may, of course, be inferred by a person's actions and the totality of the 
circumstances." In re Hohenberg Bros., [1975-1977 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. 
(CCH) ~ 20,271 at 21,477 (CFTC Feb. 18, 1977). "[O]nce it is demonstrated that the alleged 
manipulator sought, by act or omission, to move the market away from the equilibrium or 
efficient price - the price which reflects market forces of supply and demand -the mental 
element of manipulation may be inferred." Indiana Farm Bureau,~ 21,796 at 27,283. "It is 
enough to present evidence from which it may reasonably be inferred that the accused 
'consciously desire[ d] that result, whatever the likelihood of that result happening from his 
conduct."' !d. (quoting US. v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 442, 445 (1978)). A profit 
motive may also be evidence of intent, although profit motive is not a necessary element of an 
attempted manipulation. See In re DiPlacido [2007-2009 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. 
(CCH) ~ 30,970, at 62,484 (CFTC Nov. 5, 2008) (citing In re Hohenberg Bros. Co., ~20,271 at 
21,478)), aff'd, 364 Fed. Appx. 657 (2d Cir. 2009). 

An atiificial price (also termed a "distorted" price) is one "that does not reflect market or 
economic forces of supply and demand." Cox,~ 23,786 at 34,064; Indiana Farm Bureau, 
~ 21,796 at 27,288 n. 2. As the Commission noted with approval in DiPlacido, ~ 30,970 at 
62,484 (quoting Indiana Farm Bureau,~ 21,796 at 27,300 (Commissioner Stone concurring)), a 
Commissioner has commented: "[t]his is more an axiom than a test." In determining whether an 
atiificial price has occmTed: 

[O]ne must look at the aggregate forces of supply and demand and search for 
those factors which are extraneous to the pricing system, are not a legitimate part 
ofthe economic pricing of the commodity, or are extrinsic to that commodity 
market. When the aggregate forces of supply and demand bearing down on a 
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pmiicular market are all legitimate, it follows that the price will not be artificial. 
On the other hand when a price is effected by a factor which is not legitimate, the 
resulting price is necessarily miificial. Thus, the focus should not be as much on 
the ultimate price as on the nature of the factors causing it. 

Indiana Farm Bureau,~ 21,796 at 27,288 n. 2. See also DiPlacido, ~ 30,970 at 62,484 (finding 
that the placement of uneconomic bids or offers results in miificial prices because those prices 
are not determined by the free forces of supply and demand on the exchange"). 

Causation of artificial prices is established when it is demonstrated that miificial market 
prices resulted from the conduct of a trader, or group of traders acting in concert, rather than 
legitimate forces of supply and demand. See Cargill, Inc. v. Hardin, 452 F.2d 1154, 1171-72 
(8th Cir. 1971) (price squeeze "intentionally brought about and exploited by Cargill"); Cox, 
~ 23,786 at 34,067 (proof of causation requires the Division to show that "the respondents' 
conduct 'resulted in' artificial prices"). 

There can be multiple causes of an artificial price. DiPlacido, ~ 30,970, at 62,485. The 
manipulator's actions need not be the sole cause of the miificial price. "It is enough for purposes 
of a finding of manipulation in violation of Sections 6(b) and 9 of the Act that respondents' 
action contributed to the price [movement]." In re Kosuga, 19 A.D. 603, 624 (1960). See also 
Cox,~ 23,786 at 34,066 (recognizing there can be multiple causes of an miificial price and 
holding that a charge of manipulation can be sustained where respondents' acts are a proximate 
cause of the miificial price). 

Here, RP Mmiin brokers communicated on a daily basis with banks that participated on 
the Yen LIB OR panel and made submissions that purpmied to reflect their assessments oftheir 
respective banks' costs of borrowing unsecured funds in the London interbank market for Yen 
across tenors. The official LIBOR fixings are calculated using a trimmed average methodology 
applied to the rates submitted by the panel banks. By virtue of this methodology, panel banks 
had the ability to influence or affect the rate that would become the official Yen LIB OR fixing 
for any tenor. Accordingly, if the RP Martin brokers could influence the rates submitted by the 
panel banks, then the RP Mmiin brokers had the ability to influence or affect the rate at which 
Yen LIB OR would be fixed. As evidenced above, Yen LIB OR panel banks relied upon the 
market information about Yen bon·owing rates and Suggested LIBORs provided by RP Martin 
Yen brokers, and, at times, at least certain panel banks used the false rates suggested the RP 
Martin Yen brokers in determining and making their submissions. As a result, at times, certain 
Yen LIB OR panel banks made false or misleading Yen LIB OR submissions. 

As evidenced by the extensive communications and other facts set fmih above, in causing 
ce1iain panel banks at times to make false or misleading Yen LIB OR submissions, RP Martin 
brokers specifically intended to affect the daily Yen LIB OR fixing for ce1iain tenors, including 
the one-month, three-month and six-month tenors. Their intent is also evidenced by their 
expressed interest in earning commissions from the Senior Yen Trader via the wash trades, 
which was contingent upon their efforts to ensure that Yen LIBOR fixed at rates that benefited 
their Senior Yen Trader's derivatives trading positions. 
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As a result ofRP Martin brokers' influence on the rates submitted by panel banks, at 
times some ofthe panel banks made Yen LIBOR submissions, whether knowingly or not, that 
did not reflect their bank's costs of borrowing unsecured funds in the London Yen interbank 
market but instead reflected rates beneficial to the trading positions of the Senior Yen Trader and 
other traders. Accordingly, through RP Mmiin brokers' actions, those Yen LIBOR submissions 
acted as illegitimate factors in the pricing ofthe daily Yen LIBOR fixings for ce1iain tenors with 
the result that the official Yen LIBOR for ce1iain tenors were artificial on ce1iain occasions. 
Thus, the RP Martin brokers' actions were a proximate cause of the miificial Yen LIBOR 
fixings. 

Accordingly, on certain occasions, RP Mmiin, through the acts of certain brokers and a 
desk manager, manipulated Yen LIB OR for ce1iain tenors, a commodity in interstate commerce, 
in violation of Sections 6( c), 6( d) and 9( a)(2) of the Act. 

C. RP Martin Attempted to Manipulate Yen LIBOR 

To prove attempted manipulation, two elements are required: (1) an intent to affect the 
market price; and (2) an overt act in furtherance of that intent. See In re Hohenberg Bros. Co., 
~ 20,271 at 21,477 (CFTC Feb. 18, 1977); CFTC v. Bradley, 408 F. Supp. 2d 1214, 1220 (N.D. 
Okla. 2005). The intent standard is the same as that for manipulation. See Indiana Farm Bureau 
and Hohenberg Bros., supra. 

As evidenced and found above, ce1iain RP Martin Yen brokers each specifically intended 
to affect the rate at which the daily LIB OR for Yen would be fixed to benefit the derivatives 
trading positions of traders at panel banks, particularly the Senior Yen Trader at UBS. Each 
instance of the following constitutes overt acts in fmiherance ofRP Mmiin's Yen brokers' intent 
to affect the Yen LIBOR fixings: (1) the RP Martin brokers' coordination with the Senior Yen 
Trader; (2) the RP Martin brokers' dissemination of false and misleading Suggested LIBORs 
skewed to reflect rates beneficial to traders' derivatives trading positions; and (3) the RP Mmiin 
brokers' direct contacts with submitters and traders at certain panel banks to try to influence their 
LIB OR submissions. Accordingly, RP Mmiin, through the acts of its employees, engaged in 
repeated acts of attempted manipulation in violation of Sections 6( c), 6( d) and 9( a)(2) of the Act, 
7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006). 

D. RP Martin Aided and Abetted the Attempts of Derivatives Traders to Cause False 
or Misleading Yen LIBOR Submissions to be Made and to Manipulate Yen LIB OR 

Pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Act, RP Mmiin aided and abetted the attempts of 
derivatives traders at Yen LIB OR panel banks to manipulate Yen LIB OR in violation of the Act, 
particularly the Senior Yen Trader. 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a) (2006). Liability as an aider and abettor 
requires proof that: (1) the Act was violated; (2) the aider and abettor had knowledge of the 
wrongdoing underlying the violation; and (3) the aider and abettor intentionally assisted the 
primary wrongdoer. See In re Nikkhah, [1999-2000 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) 
~ 28,129 at 49,888 n.28 (CFTC May 12, 2000). Although actual knowledge of the primary 
wrongdoer's conduct is required, knowledge ofthe unlawfulness of such conduct need not be 
demonstrated. See In re Lincolnwood Commodities, Inc., [1982-1984 Transfer Binder] Comm. 

26 

Case 1:15-cv-05844-GBD-HBP   Document 189-3   Filed 02/01/16   Page 27 of 42



Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~21,986 at 28,255 (CFTC Jan. 31, 1984). Knowing assistance can be 
infe11'ed from the surrounding facts and circumstances. Id. 

As evidenced by the extensive communications set forth above, certain RP Martin Yen 
brokers coordinated with the Senior Yen Trader at UBS to manipulate the official Yen LIB OR 
fixings for certain tenors by attempting to cause and at times causing panel banks to make Yen 
LIBOR submissions at rates or levels that that would benefit the Senior Yen Trader's trading 
positions. The RP Martin brokers knew that the Senior Yen Trader was trying to manipulate 
Yen LIB OR to benefit his derivatives trading positions. 

UBS, through the acts ofthe Senior Yen Trader, and other panel banks through acts of 
their derivatives traders, in coordination with RP Martin brokers, attempted to manipulate Yen 
LIBOR, at times successfully, in violation of Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. 
§§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006). Cetiain RP Matiin brokers had knowledge of, and intentionally 
assisted, the attempts of the Senior Yen Trader and traders at the other banks to manipulate the 
rate at which Yen LIB OR was fixed, at times successfully. Accordingly, RP Martin, through the 
acts of certain brokers and a desk manager, aided and abetted the attempts of traders at panel 
banks to manipulate Yen LIB OR, at times successfully, in violation of Sections 6( c), 6( d) and 
9(a)(2) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006). 

E. RP Martin Holdings and Martin Brokers are Liable for the Acts of their Agents 

Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 
C.F.R. § 1.2 (2012), provide that the act, omission or failure of any official, agent or other person 
acting for any individual, associatiop., partnership, corporation or trust within the scope of his 
employment or office shall be deemed the act, omission or failure of such individual, association, 
partnership, corporation or trust. Pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the CEA and Commission 
Regulation 1.2, strict liability is imposed on principals for the actions of their agents. See, e.g., 
Rosenthal & Co. v. CFTC, 802 F.2d 963, 966 (7th Cir. 1986); Dohmen-Ramirez & Wellington 
Advismy, Inc. v. CFTC, 837 F.2d 847, 857-58 (9th Cir. 1988). 

RP Matiin Holdings and Martin Brokers are liable for the acts, omissions and failures of 
the brokers and managers who acted as their employees and/or agents in the conduct described 
above. Accordingly, RP Martin Holdings and Matiin Brokers violated Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 
9(a)(2) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006), as set forth above. 

v. 

FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS 

Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that Respondents violated Sections 6( c), 
6(d) and 9(a)(2) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006). 
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VI. 

OFFER OF SETTLEMENT 

Respondents, without admitting or denying the findings or conclusions herein, except to 
the extent Respondents admit those findings in any related action against RP Martin by, or any 
agreement with, the Department of Justice or any other governmental agency or office, have 
submitted the Offer in which Respondents: 

A. Acknowledge receipt of service of this Order; 

B. Admit the jurisdiction of the Commission with respect to all matters set forth in this 
Order and for any action or proceeding brought or authorized by the Commission based 
on violation of or enforcement of this Order; 

C. Waive: 

1. the filing and service of a complaint and notice of hearing; 

2. a hearing; 

3. all post-hearing procedures; 

4. judicial review by any court; 

5. any and all objections to the pmiicipation by any member of the Commission's 
staff in the Commission's consideration ofthe Offer; 

6. any and all claims that Respondents may possess under the Equal Access to Justice 
Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2006), and/or the rules 
promulgated by the Commission in conformity therewith, Pmi 148 of the 
Commission Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1-30 (2012), relating to, or arising 
from, this proceeding; 

7. any and all claims that Respondents may possess under the Small Business 
Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, §§ 201-253, 
110 Stat. 847, 857-868 (1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. 110-28, § 8302, 121 
Stat. 112, 204-205 (2007), relating to, or arising from, this proceeding; and 

8. any claims of Double Jeopardy based on the institution of this proceeding or the 
entry in this proceeding of any order imposing ~civil monetary penalty or any 
other relief; 

D. Stipulate that the record basis on which this Order is entered shall consist solely of the 
findings contained in this Order to which Respondents have consented in the Offer; and 

E. Consent, solely on the basis of the Offer, to the Commission's entry of this Order that: 
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1. makes findings by the Commission that Respondents violated Section 6( c), 6( d) 
and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006); 

2. orders Respondents to cease and desist from violating Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 
9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006 & Supp. V 2012); 

3. orders Respondents, jointly and severally, to pay a civil monetary penalty in the 
amount of $1,200,000, plus post-judgment interest; and 

4. orders Respondents and their successors and assigns to comply with the 
conditions and undertakings consented to in the Offer and as set forth in Part VII 
ofthis Order. 

Upon consideration, the Commission has determined to accept the Offer. 

VII. 

ORDER 

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

A. Respondents shall cease and desist from violating Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) ofthe 
Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b and 13(a)(2) (2006 & Supp. V 2012). 

B. Civil Monetary Penalty 

1. Respondents shall pay, jointly and severally, a civil monetary penalty in the 
amount of 1.2 Million U.S. Dollars ($1,200,000) ("CMP Obligation"), plus post­
judgment interest. Post-judgment interest shall accrue on the CMP Obligation 
beginning on the date of entry of this Consent Order and shall be determined by 
using the Treasury Bill rate prevailing on the date of entry of this Consent Order 
and on the date of each successive payment, pursuant to 28 U.S. C.§ 1961 
(2012). The Respondents shall satisfy their CMP Obligation by making quarterly 
payments with post-judgment interest as follows: 

a. The first year, $160,000, plus post-judgment interest, is payable, divided 
into four equal payments, falling due within 14 days of the date of this 
Order, or May 29, 2014; on or before August 29, 2014; on or before 
November 29, 2014; and on or before February 29, 2015. 

b. The second year, $410,000, plus post-judgment interest, is payable, 
divided into four equal payments, falling due on or before May 29, 2015; 
on or before August 29, 2015; on or before November 29, 2015; and on or 
before February 29, 2016. 
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c. The third year, $630,000, plus post-judgment interest, is payable, divided 
into four equal payments, falling due on or before May 29, 2016; on or 
before August 29, 2016; on or before November 29, 2016; and on or 
before February 29, 2017. 

2. Payments shall be deemed made on the date they are received by the 
Commission. If any payment is not made by the date the payment is required by 
this Consent Order, the entire outstanding balance of the CMP Obligation, plus 
any additional post-judgment interest, shall be due and payable immediately, 
without fmiher application. 

3. Respondents shall pay their CMP Obligation by electronic funds transfer, U.S. 
postal money order, cetiified check, banlc cashier's check, or banlc money 
order. If payment is to be made other than by electronic funds transfer, then the 
payment shall be made payable to the Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
and sent to the address below: 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
ATTN: Accounts Receivables 
DOT IF AA/MMAC/ AMZ-341 
CFTC/CPSC/SEC 
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd. 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
( 405) 954-7262 office 
(405) 954-1620 fax 
nikki.gibson@faa.gov 

If payment by electronic funds transfer is chosen, Respondents shall contact Nikki 
Gibson or her successor at the address above to receive payment instructions and 
shall fully comply with those instructions. Respondents shall accompany 
payment of the CMP Obligation with a cover letter that identifies Respondents 
and the name and docket number of this proceeding. Respondents shall 
simultaneously transmit copies of the cover letter and the form of payment to the 
Chief Financial Officer, Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Three 
Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581. 

C. Respondents and their successors and assigns shall comply with the following conditions 
and undetiakings. Respondents represent that they have already undetiaken and 
implemented, or are implementing cetiain compliance and supervisory controls or 
enhancements consistent with the Undetiakings. 

1. Market Publications- Policies, Procedures and Controls: 

a. Respondents shall institute, implement and/or strengthen compliance and 
·supervisory policies, procedures and internal controls designed to ensure the 
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integrity of the Respondents' Market Publications, and to detect, deter and 
prevent the dissemination of false or misleading market information contained 
therein. "Market Publication" means: (1) a written communication distributed 
via any media; (2) that includes predictions, suggestions or opinions regarding 
the levels at which a Benchmark Interest Rate12 will set; and (3) that is 
published on a regular basis and is distributed to more than one customer. 

b. Such Policies, Procedures and Controls shall provide that each provision of 
Market Publications shall be based on upon a rigorous and honest assessment 
of market data and information, and shall not be influenced by internal or 
external conflicts of interest or any other illegitimate factors. 

c. Policies, Procedures and Controls relating to Market Publications shall include 
or provide for the following: 

1. That Market Publications shall be based on all definitions, rules and 
guidance applicable to the relevant Benchmark Interest Rate as 
provided by the Benchmark Publisher; 

11. That Market Publications shall be based on transactions, bids and 
offers, market sentiment, indications of interest, and other relevant 
market activity information available to the Respondents in the 
markets relevant to Benchmark Interest Rates. An Author's reliance 
on and utilization of subjective market activity information should be 
limited only to information that the Author13 reasonably and in good 
faith believes contributes to the accuracy of any predictions, 
suggestions, or opinions regarding the levels at which a Benchmark 
Interest Rate will set as contained in the Market Publication; 

111. A description of the types of market circumstances that require the use 
of models, correlated market data or related trading instruments in 
making Market Publications; 

12 The following terms are defined as follows: 
Benchmark Interest Rate: An interest rate for a currency and maturity/tenor that is calculated based 
on data received from market participants and published to the market on a regular, periodic basis, 
such as LIBOR and Euribor; 
Benchmark Publisher: A banking association or other entity that is responsible for or oversees the 
calculation and publication of a Benchmark Interest Rate; and 
Submission(s): The interest rate(s) submitted for each currency and maturity/tenor to a Benchmark 
Publisher. For example, if a panel bank submits a rate for one-month and three-month U.S. Dollar 
LIBOR, this would constitute two Submissions. 

13 For the purposes of these Undertakings, the term "Author" means any individual within RP Mmiin 
who is responsible for the content of Market Publications. 
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1v. The contemporaneous documentation, including recording the basis 
for, Market Publications, and retention of the same; 

v. The review and approval of Market Publications by a supervisor prior 
to dissemination; 

VL The inclusion of a supervisor and a representative from the compliance 
department as an identified recipient on any written Market 
Publications disseminated; 

v11. The disclosure of the following information for Market Publications 
disseminated shall include at least the following: 

1) A statement that any Market Publication represents the 
predictions, suggestions, opinions or assessments of the Author 
based on market data and market activity information; 

2) Identification of the source(s) of information or data upon 
which the Market Publication is based; and 

3) As appropriate, identification of the use of any models, 
con-elated markets or related trading instruments in the 
formation of the Market Publications; 

vn1. Internal controls regarding other improper communications related to 
Market Publications: 

1) Such controls shall be designed to detect, deter and prevent 
improper communications between and among employees, 
agents and supervisors of the Respondents, or with any outside 
party, and to ensure the integrity and reliability of the Market 
Publications; 

2) For these purposes, improper communications shall include, at 
a minimum: (1) any attempt to improperly influence the 
content of or alter the views contained in Market Publications; 
(2) using Market Publications for the benefit of any third 
party's trading position; or (3) any attempt to influence or 
affect any panel bank's Submission. For example, Market 
Publications shall not include, and employees, agents and 
supervisors of the Respondents shall not disclose, a bank's 
proposed Submissions to other market participants; and 

1x. The periodic but routine review of electronic communications and 
audio recordings of or relating to the Market Publications and other 
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related communications between and among employees, agents and 
supervisors of the Respondents, or with any outside pmiy. 

2. Other Market Communications- Policies, Procedures and Controls: 

a. The Respondents shall institute, implement and/or strengthen compliance and 
supervisory policies, procedures and internal controls designed to ensure the 
integrity of the Respondents' Other Market Communications, including 
provisions for supervision, monitoring, auditing, training and repmiing. 

b. Other Market Communications shall include, but are not limited to: (1) 
predictions, suggestions or opinions regarding the levels of Benchmark 
Interest Rates communicated orally; (2) predictions, suggestions or opinions 
regarding the levels of pricing in cash deposit markets related to and 
derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 cunencies and 
any LIBOR cunency; and (3) communications concerning prices of 
transactions, bids or offers in cash deposit markets related to and derivatives 
markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 cunencies and any LIBOR 
currency. 

c. These Policies, Procedures and Controls shall be designed to detect, deter and 
prevent improper communications between and among employees, agents and 
supervisors of the Respondents, or with any outside pmiy, and to ensure the 
integrity and reliability of these Other Market Communications. 

d. For these purposes, improper communications shall include, at a minimum: 
(1) any attempt to improperly influence the content of or alter the views 
contained in Other Market Communications; (2) using Other Market 
Communications improperly for the benefit of any third pmiy' s trading 
position; or (3) any attempt to influence or affect any panel bank's 
Submission. For example, Other Market Communications shall not include, 
and employees, agents and supervisors of the Respondents shall not disclose, 
a banlc' s proposed Submissions to other market pmiicipants. 

3. General Policies, Procedures and Controls: The Respondents shall institute, 
implement and/or strengthen the following general policies, procedures and 
internal controls: 

a. The supervision and management of employees, agents and supervisors of the 
Respondents to ensure compliance with the Respondents' Policies, Procedures 
and Controls, and these Undertakings; 

b. The procedure(s) for the repmiing and investigation of any violations of the 
Unde1iakings, the Respondents' Policies, Procedures and Controls, or any 
questionable, unusual or unlawful activity concerning the Respondents' 
Market Publications or Other Market Communications, including notification 
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to the appropriate compliance or legal personnel and reporting, as necessary, 
to authorities; 

c. The periodic physical presence of compliance personnel on the brokering 
floors where Market Publications are prepared, and/or products that are the 
subject of Market Publications are brokered, and/or cash deposits for G8 
cmTencies and any LIBOR currency are brokered, and/or derivatives products 
based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 currencies and any LIBOR cunency 
are brokered, in connection with these Policies, Procedures and Controls, 
which shall be conducted at least monthly for main offices (including London, 
U.K.) and at least every six months for branch offices; and 

d. The handling of complaints concerning any improper Market Publications and 
improper Other Market Communications by any employee, agent or 
supervisor of the Respondents, including: 

1. Memorializing all such complaints; and 

11. Establishing a review and follow-up by the chief compliance officer(s) 
or a designee of such complaints; and 

111. The reporting of material complaints to the Chief Executive Officer 
and Board of Directors of the Respondents, relevant self-regulatory 
organizations, the Commission, and/or other appropriate regulators. 

4. Qualifications of Authors and Supervisors: All Authors of Market Publications 
and their supervisors shall: 

a. Have significant experience in the markets that are the subject of his or her 
Market Publication, and/or in cash deposit markets related to and derivatives 
markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 currencies and any LIBOR 
currency; and 

b. Receive training on the definition, rules and guidance surrounding the 
applicable Benchmark Interest Rate as set by the Benchmark Publisher. 

5. Documentation: The Respondents shall provide the documents set forth below 
promptly and directly to the Commission upon request, without subpoena or other 
process, regardless of whether the records are held outside of the United States, to 
the extent permitted by law. 

a. Requirement to Document Market Publications: The Respondents shall 
contemporaneously memorialize, and retain in an easily accessible format, for 
a period of five (5) years after the date of each dissemination, the following: 
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1. All Market Publications; 

11. The identity of the Authors of the Market Publications disseminated; 
and 

m. The record basis for the Market Publications, including, but not limited 
to, the following: 

1) The relevant market data and information used, including 
specific transactions, offers and bids relied upon by in 
formulating the Market Publications; 

2) The source(s) of the information or data relied upon; 

3) Any models, correlated market data and data for related trading 
instruments used in formulating the Market Publications; and 

4) Any information regarding market events considered in 
formulating the Market Publications, including the specific 
market announcement(s) or event(s) and any effect of such 
market event(s) on transacted rates, offers or bids in the 
relevant markets. 

b. Transaction Records: The Respondents shall retain for a period of five (5) 
years trade transaction records related to the brokering activities in the 
markets that are the subject of Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit 
markets related to and derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates 
in 08 currencies and any LIBOR currency. The records shall be easily 
accessible and convertible into the Microsoft Excel file format. 

c. Screen Data: Where an office of the Respondents maintains a screen that is 
utilized to display to customers bids, offers, and/or transactions in the markets 
that are the subject of Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets 
related to and derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in 08 
currencies and any LIBOR currency, the Respondents shall capture and retain 
for a period of five (5) years a screen shot of such information at the opening 
and close of the market for such product in the relevant time zone, as well as 
at the time of the deadline for submitting the Benchmark Interest Rate as 
imposed by the Benchmark Publisher. 

d. Requirement to Record Communications: The Respondents shall record and 
retain to the greatest extent practicable: 

1. All communications of employees, agents or supervisors of the 
Respondents who primarily broker products in the markets that are the 
subject of Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets related 
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to and derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 
currencies and any LIBOR currency. 

11. The above communications shall not be conducted in a manner to 
prevent the Respondents from recording such communications. 

111. Audio communications of Authors of Market Publications and their 
supervisors shall be retained for a period of one (1) year. Audio 
communications of other employees, agents or supervisors of the 
Respondents who primarily broker products in the markets that are the 
subject of Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets related 
to and derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 
currencies and any LIBOR currency shall be retained for a period of 
six (6) months. Subject to a reasonable time to implement, the 
Respondents' audio retention requirements pursuant to these 
Undertakings shall commence within a reasonable period after the 
entry of this Order and shall continue for a period offive (5) years 
thereafter. 

1v. All communications except audio communications shall be retained 
for a period of five (5) years. 

v. Nothing in these Undertakings shall limit, restrict or narrow any 
obligations pursuant to the Act or the Commission's Regulations 
promulgated thereunder, including but not limited to Regulations 1.31 
and 1.35, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31 and 1.35 (2012), in effect now orin the 
future. 

6. Monitoring and Auditing: 

a. Monitoring: The Respondents shall maintain or develop monitoring systems 
or electronic exception reporting systems that identify possible improper or 
unsubstantiated Market Publications or related communications among 
employees, agents or supervisors of the Respondents or with any outside 
party. 

1. This monitoring shall include reviews of written communications in 
any media and shall include supervisors. It shall also include reviews 
of oral communications of Authors and their supervisors. 

11. Such repmis will be reviewed on at least a monthly basis and if any 
significant issues are identified, then the underlying documentation for 
the Market Publications shall be reviewed to determine whether the 
Market Publications are adequately substantiated. If it is not 
substantiated, the Respondents shall notify their chief compliance 
officer(s). 
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b. Periodic Audits: Stmiing six (6) months from the date of the entry of this 
Order, and continuing every six ( 6) months thereafter, unless an annual audit 
is scheduled at the same time, the Respondents shall conduct internal audits of 
reasonable, random samples of Market Publications being disseminated, the 
evidence documenting the basis for such Market Publications, and the related 
communications of the Market Publications Author in order to verify the 
integrity and reliability of the Market Publications. 

c. Annual Audits By Third Pmiy Auditors: Starting one (1) year from the date 
ofthe entry ofthis Order and continuing annually for four (4) additional years 
thereafter, the Respondents shall retain an independent, third-party auditor to 
conduct an audit of the desks brokering products in the markets that are the 
subject of Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets related to and 
derivatives markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 currencies and 
any LIBOR currency, including employees, agents, supervisors and managing 
directors (or similarly situated persons with responsibility for desk 
management or oversight), to ensure they are in compliance with the new 
Policies, Procedures and Controls implemented as a result of these 
Undetiakings, and to confirm the adequate supervision of these desks. The 
annual audits shall include, without limitation, the following: 

1. Reviewing the clients of each desk and of the employees, agents or 
supervisors of the desk to determine the most significant corporate and 
individual clients; 

11. Reviewing communications of employees, agents, and supervisors on 
the desks, as well as managing directors (or similarly situated persons 
with responsibility for desk management or oversight). This review 
shall include the communications between and among employees, 
agents and supervisors on the desks and communications with the most 
significant corporate and individual clients of the desk; 

111. Interviewing the employees, agents and supervisors on the desks, to 
the extent they are still employed by the Respondents; 

tv. Reviewing Market Publications being disseminated, the evidence 
documenting the basis for such Market Publications, and the related 
communications of the Market Publications Author; 

v. Obtaining written verification from the employees, agents and 
supervisors on desks, to the extent they are still employed by the 
Respondents, that their Market Publications were consistent with this 
Order, and the Respondents' Policies, Procedures and Controls; and 
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VL Providing a written audit repmi to the Respondents and the 
Commission (with copies addressed to the Commission's Division of 
Enforcement (the "Division")). 

7. Training: The Respondents shall develop training programs for all employees, 
agents and supervisors who are involved in creating and/or disseminating Market 
Publications. Such employees, agents and supervisors shall be provided with 
preliminary training regarding the Policies, Procedures and Controls developed 
pursuant to these Unde1iakings. By no later than October 31, 2014, all 
employees, agents and supervisors in the markets that are the subject of Market 
Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets related to and derivatives markets 
based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 currencies and any LIBOR cunency 
shall be fully trained in the application of these Unde1iakings to them, as set fmih 
herein. Thereafter, such training will be provided promptly to employees newly 
assigned to any of the above listed responsibilities, as part of the Respondents' 
regular training programs. The training shall be based upon the individual's 
position and responsibilities, and as appropriate, address the following topics: 

a. The Undertakings set forth herein; 

b. The impropriety of: (1) any attempt to improperly influence the content of and 
alter the views contained in Market Publications or Other Market 
Communications; (2) using Market Publications or Other Market 
Communications improperly for the benefit of any third pmiy's trading 
position; or (3) any attempt to influence or affect any panel bank's 
Submission(s); 

c. The requirement to conduct all business related to Market Publications, and 
certain business related to the markets that are the subject of Market 
Publications, and/or cash deposit markets related to and derivatives markets 
based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 currencies and any LIBOR 
currency, on the Respondents' recorded telephone and electronic 
communications systems, and not on personal telephones or other electronic 
devices, as set forth in Section 5.iv. of these Undertakings; 

d. The policies and procedures developed and instituted pursuant to these 
Undertakings; and 

e. The employment and other potential regulatory and criminal consequences if 
employees act unlawfully or improperly in connection with these 
Unde1iakings. 

8. Reports to the Commission: 

a. Compliance with Unde1iakings: Every four (4) months, starting 120 days 
from the entry of this Order, the Respondents shall make interim repmis to the 
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Commission, through the Division, explaining its progress towards 
compliance with the Undertakings set forth herein. Within 365 days of the 
entry of this Order, the Respondents shall submit a report to the Commission, 
through the Division, explaining how it has complied with the Undertakings 
set forth herein. The report shall attach copies of and describe the Policies, 
Procedures and Controls that have been designed and implemented to satisfy 
the Undetiakings. The repmi shall contain a celiification from a 
representative of the Respondents' Executive Management, after consultation 
with the Respondents' chief compliance officers, that the Respondents have 
complied with the Undertakings set forth above, and that they have 
established Policies, Procedures and Controls to satisfy the Undertakings set 
forth in this Order; 

b. Compliance with Initial Training: Within two weeks of completing the 
training required in Section 7 of these Undetiakings, the Respondents shall 
provide to the Commission, through the Division, written affirmation that all 
employees, agents and supervisors in the markets that are the subject of 
Market Publications, and/or in cash deposit markets related to and derivatives 
markets based on Benchmark Interest Rates in G8 cull'encies and any LIBOR 
cull'ency have been fully trained in the application of these Undetiakings to 
them; and 

c. Disciplinary and Other Actions: The Respondents shall promptly report to the 
Commission, through the Division, all improper conduct related to any Market 
Publication or the attempted manipulation or manipulation of a Benchmark 
Interest Rate, as well as any disciplinary action, or other law enforcement or 
regulatory action related thereto, unless de minimis or otherwise prohibited by 
applicable laws or regulations. 

9. Cooperation with the Commission: 

a. The Respondents shall cooperate fully and expeditiously with the 
Commission, including the Division, and any other governmental agency in 
this action, and in any investigation, civil litigation, or administrative matter 
related to the subject matter of this action or any current or future Commission 
investigation related thereto. As pati of such cooperation, the Respondents 
agree to the following for a period of five (5) years from the date of the entry 
of this Order, or until all related investigations and litigation are concluded, 
including through the appellate review process, whichever period is longer: 

1. Preserve all records relating to the subject matter of this proceeding, 
including, but not limited to, audio files, electronic mail, other 
documented communications, and trading records; 

n. Comply fully, promptly, completely, and truthfully with all inquiries 
and requests for information or documents; 
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111. Provide authentication of documents and other evidentiary material; 

1v. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, provide copies of 
documents within the Respondents' possession, custody or control; 

v. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, the Respondents will make 
their best eff01is to produce any current (as of the time of the request) 
officer, director, employee, or agent ofthe Respondents, regardless of 
the individual's location, and at such location that minimizes 
Commission travel expenditures, to provide assistance at any trial, 
proceeding, or Commission investigation related to the subject matter 
of this proceeding, including, but not limited to, requests for 
testimony, depositions, and/or interviews, and to encourage them to 
testify completely and truthfully in any such proceeding, trial, or 
investigation; and 

v1. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, the Respondents will make 
their best efforts to assist in locating and contacting any prior (as of the 
time of the request) officer, director, employee or agent of the 
Respondents. 

b. The Respondents also agree that they will not undertake any act that would 
limit its ability to cooperate fully with the Commission. Respondents will 
designate an agent located in the United States of America to receive all 
requests for information pursuant to these Undmiakings, and shall provide 
notice regarding the identity of such Agent to the Division upon entry of this 
Order. Should the Respondents seek to change the designated agent to receive 
such requests, notice of such intention shall be given to the Division fomieen 
(14) days before it occurs. Any person designated to receive such request 
shall be located in the United States of America. 

10. Prohibited Or Conflicting Undertakings: 

a. Should the Unde1iakings herein be prohibited by, or be contrary to the 
provisions of any obligations imposed on the Respondents by any presently 
existing, or hereinafter enacted or promulgated laws, regulations and 
regulatory mandates, then the Respondents shall promptly transmit notice to 
the Commission (through the Division) of such prohibition or conflict, and 
shall meet and confer in good faith with the Commission (through the 
Division) to reach an agreement regarding possible modifications to the 
Undetiakings herein sufficient to resolve such inconsistent obligations. In the 
interim, the Respondents will abide by the obligations imposed by the law, 
regulations and regulatory mandates. 
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b. Nothing in these Undertakings shall limit, restrict or nanow any obligations 
pursuant to the Act or the Commission's Regulations promulgated thereunder, 
including but not limited to Regulations 1.31 and 1.35, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31 and 
1.35 (2012), in effect now or in the future. 

11. Public Statements: The Respondents agree that neither they nor any of their 
successors and assigns, agents or employees under its authority or control shall 
take any action or make any public statement denying, directly or indirectly, any 
findings or conclusions in this Order or creating, or tending to create, the 
impression that this Order is without a factual basis; provided, however, that 
nothing in this provision shall affect the Respondents' (i) testimonial obligations, 
or (ii) right to take legal positions in other proceedings to which the Commission 
is not a party. The Respondents and their successors and assigns shall undertake 
all steps necessary to ensure that all of its agents and/or employees under its 
authority or control understand and comply with this agreement. 

The provisions of this Order shall be effective as of this date. 

By the Commission. 

Melissa D. Jurgens 
Secretary of the Commission 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission 

Dated: May 15, 2014 
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FINAL NOTICE 
 

 

To:   Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd (Martins) 
 
Address:  Cannon Bridge House, 25 Dowgate Hill, London EC4R 2BB 
 
Reference Number: 187916 
 
Date:   15 May 2014 

 

1. ACTION 

1.1. For the reasons given in this notice, the FCA hereby imposes on Martins a 
financial penalty of £630,000 in accordance with section 206 of FSMA.  

1.2. The FCA would have fined Martins £3,600,000, subject to the appropriate 
discount (if applicable) under the FCA’s executive settlement procedures. Given 
Martins’ financial circumstances however, in particular, the fact that Martins 
would be unable to pay a penalty of this amount (together with the other 
regulatory liabilities that Martins faces in relation to LIBOR), the FCA has reduced 
the fine by 75% to £900,000 and has agreed to accept payment in instalments 
over three years. 

1.3. Martins agreed to settle at an early stage of the FCA’s investigation and therefore 
qualified for a 30% (Stage 1) discount under the FCA’s executive settlement 
procedures.  Were it not for this discount, the FCA would have imposed a financial 
penalty of £900,000 on Martins. 

Case 1:15-cv-05844-GBD-HBP   Document 189-4   Filed 02/01/16   Page 2 of 22



Page 2 of 21 
  

 

2. SUMMARY OF REASONS 

2.1. The FCA has taken this action because, during the period from 1 January 2007 to 
31 December 2010, Martins breached Principles 5 and 3 through misconduct 
relating to the calculation of JPY LIBOR. 

2.2. In breach of Principle 5, Brokers at Martins colluded with a Trader at UBS (Trader 
A) as part of a co-ordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by 
Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate. 

2.3. In breach of Principle 3, Martins failed to have adequate risk management 
systems or effective controls in place to monitor and oversee its broking activity. 

LIBOR 

2.4. LIBOR is a benchmark reference rate fundamental to the operation of both UK 
and international financial markets.  Its integrity is of fundamental importance to 
confidence in the financial system. 

2.5. LIBOR was, at the relevant time, published daily in a number of currencies and 
maturities and set according to a definition published by the BBA.  It was based 
on interbank borrowing in the London market and Panel Banks made daily 
submissions to the BBA to enable LIBOR to be calculated. 

Principle 5 breaches 

2.6. During the Relevant Period, Brokers at Martins acted improperly and breached 
Principle 5 by failing to observe proper standards of market conduct. Its Brokers 
colluded with Trader A as part of a coordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR 
submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the final 
published JPY LIBOR rate. 

2.7. Brokers at Martins attempted to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel 
Banks by suggesting to the Panel Banks that they make JPY LIBOR submissions at 
levels requested by Trader A. 

2.8. Brokers at Martins knew that the levels requested by Trader A were incorrect or 
misleading and they understood that Trader A was attempting to manipulate the 
final published JPY LIBOR rate in order to improve the profitability of his Trading 
Positions. 

2.9. Brokers at Martins were in regular contact with Panel Banks. On occasion, they 
provided Panel Banks with “Run-Throughs”. A Run-Through was Martins’ 
assessment (purportedly based on the knowledge it had gained through its 
participation in transactions in the market and its general view of the market) of 
the correct level of JPY LIBOR. 

2.10. In particular, on or around dates when the level of the final published JPY LIBOR 
rate was of particular significance to the profitability of Trader A’s Trading 
Positions, the Brokers: 

2.10.1 requested that Panel Banks make specific JPY LIBOR submissions at 
levels that would benefit Trader A; 
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2.10.2 provided misleading Run-Throughs to Panel Banks. They were 
misleading because they did not reflect their independent assessment 
of the market but instead took into account JPY LIBOR levels 
requested by Trader A, and 

2.10.3 created false (or “spoof”) orders, with the aim of influencing Panel 
Banks’ views of the cash market so that they would make JPY LIBOR 
submissions at levels that benefitted Trader A. 

2.11 Martins assisted Trader A because he was a significant client who accounted for a 
substantial proportion of the revenue of the JPY desk at Martins. 

2.12 UBS, through Trader A, also entered into “wash trades” (i.e. risk free trades that 
cancelled each other out and which had no legitimate commercial rationale) with 
Martins, in order to facilitate corrupt brokerage payments to Brokers as a reward 
for their attempts to influence the JPY LIBOR submissions of  Panel Banks. 

2.13 At least three Brokers, one of whom was also a Manager, colluded with Trader A in 
attempting to manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate.  At least one other Broker 
facilitated the wash trades.  At least one other Manager was aware that wash 
trades had been executed to pay Brokers additional brokerage payments. 

2.14 In total, UBS made at least 600 requests to Martins during the Relevant Period. 
Although Brokers did not usually accommodate these requests, they followed them 
on specific occasions, when Trader A had large fixings or when they were keen to 
boost their commission. 

2.15 Martins’ breaches of Principle 5 were extremely serious.  Its misconduct gave rise 
to a risk that the published JPY LIBOR rate would be manipulated and undermined 
the integrity of that rate. Martins’ collusion with UBS, and Martins’ provision of 
misleading Run-Throughs to several Panel Banks, significantly increased the risk of 
manipulation of the published JPY LIBOR rate. This was because the averaging 
process applied to submissions as part of the calculation of the published rate 
means that the risk of manipulation is greater if more than one Panel Bank’s 
submission has been manipulated. 

2.16 The use of spoof orders by Brokers further aggravated this risk. 

Principle 3 breaches 

2.17 During the Relevant Period, Martins breached Principle 3 by failing to take 
reasonable care to organise and control its affairs responsibly and effectively, with 
adequate risk management systems or effective controls in place to monitor and 
oversee its broking activity. 

2.18 Martins failed to have adequate systems and controls in place during the Relevant 
Period to address the risk of collusion between Brokers and their clients. 

2.19 Martins had minimal policies and procedures in place to govern individual Broker 
behaviour and those that were in place were inadequately designed and easily 
circumvented. 

2.20 Martins had no effective compliance function with limited training for Brokers and 
no effective compliance monitoring to detect Broker misconduct.  There was an 
absence of effective transaction monitoring procedures, such as might reasonably 
have detected the wash trades. 
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2.21 Martins’ reporting lines and responsibilities were unclear at every level, including 
amongst senior management, meaning that responsibility for compliance oversight 
of individual Brokers was unclear and effectively uncontrolled as a result. 

2.22 Martins’ lack of adequate systems, controls, supervision and monitoring 
throughout the Relevant Period meant that this serious and widespread misconduct 
went undetected and continued unabated throughout the Relevant Period. 

Penalty 

2.23 The integrity of benchmark reference rates such as LIBOR is of fundamental 
importance to both UK and international financial markets.  Martins’ misconduct 
could have caused serious harm to other market participants.  Martins’ misconduct 
also undermined the integrity of LIBOR and threatened confidence in and the 
stability of the UK financial system. 

2.24 The misconduct of certain Brokers was routine and widely known within the 
firm.  They engaged in this serious misconduct in order to serve their own 
interests.  The duration and extent of Martins’ misconduct was exacerbated by its 
inadequate systems and controls. 

2.25 The FCA therefore considers it is appropriate to impose a very significant financial 
penalty of £900,000 on Martins in relation to its misconduct during the Relevant 
Period. 

3. DEFINITIONS 

3.1. The following definitions are used in this notice: 

“Arbitrage Desk” means Martins’ arbitrage desk; 

“Authority” means the body corporate previously known as the Financial 
Services Authority and renamed on 1 April 2013 as the Financial Conduct 
Authority; 

“BBA” means the British Bankers’ Association; 

“Broker” means an interdealer broker employed by Martins during the Relevant 
Period, acting as intermediary in, amongst other things, deals for funding in the 
cash markets and interest rate derivatives contracts. Brokers A to E are referred 
to in in this notice. Brokers A and B are as referred to in the UBS Final Notice; 

“DEPP” means the FCA’s Decision Procedure & Penalties Manual; 

“EG” means the FCA’s Enforcement Guide; 

“ENF” means the FCA’s Enforcement Manual; 

“FSMA” means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; 

“JPY” means Japanese Yen;  

“JPY Desk” means Martins’ JPY desk; 

“JYP LIBOR” means the LIBOR for JPY; 

“LIBOR” means London Interbank Offered Rate; 

“Manager” means a Martins employee with direct line management responsibility 
over Martins Brokers during the Relevant Period; 

“Martins” means Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd;  
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“Panel Bank” means a bank with a place on the BBA panel for contributing 
LIBOR submissions in one or more currencies. Panel Banks 1 to 8 are referred to 
in this notice. Panel Banks 1, 3, 4 and 5 are as referred to in the UBS Final 
Notice; 

“Principle 3” means Principle 3 (Management and control) of the FCA’s Principles 
for Businesses; 

“Principle 5” means Principle 5 (Market conduct) of the FCA’s Principles for 
Businesses; 

“Relevant Period” means 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2010;   

“Run-Through” means the information Martins provided to its clients, concerning 
bid and offer prices for cash as well as suggestions as to where Martins believed 
the published LIBOR rate would set for that day; 

“Trader” means a person trading interest rate derivatives or trading in the 
money markets.  Three Traders are referred to in this notice, from Traders A to 
C.  Traders A and C are as referred to in the UBS Final Notice; 

“Trader-Submitter” means a Trader at a Panel Bank other than UBS who also 
had responsibility for making LIBOR submissions.  Seven Trader-Submitters are 
referred to in this Notice, from Trader-Submitter A to G; 

“Trading Positions” means trading book positions held either in respect of 
derivative positions or money market positions; 

“Tribunal” means the Upper Tribunal (Tax and Chancery Chamber); 

“UBS” means UBS AG; 

“UBS Final Notice” means the final notice issued to UBS on 19 December 2012. 

4. FACTS AND MATTERS 

Background 

LIBOR and interest rate derivative contracts 

4.1. LIBOR is the most frequently used benchmark for interest rates globally; it is 
referenced in transactions with a notional outstanding value of at least USD 500 
trillion. During the Relevant Period, LIBOR was published for ten currencies and 
fifteen maturities. JPY LIBOR is a widely used benchmark rate. 

4.2. Interest rate derivatives contracts typically contain payment terms that refer to 
benchmark rates. LIBOR is by far the most prevalent benchmark rate used in 
over-the counter interest rate derivatives contracts and exchange traded interest 
rate contracts. 

4.3. LIBOR was, at the relevant time, published on behalf of the BBA.  LIBOR (in each 
relevant currency) was set by reference to the assessment of the interbank 
market made by a number of Panel Banks.  The Panel Banks were selected by the 
BBA.  Each Panel Bank contributed rate submissions each business day. 

4.4. These submissions were not averages of the relevant Panel Banks’ transacted 
rates on a given day. The BBA required Panel Banks to exercise their judgement 
in evaluating the rates at which money may be available to them in the interbank 
market when determining their submissions. 

4.5. During the Relevant Period, the LIBOR definition published by the BBA and 
available to participants in UK and international financial markets was as follows: 

Case 1:15-cv-05844-GBD-HBP   Document 189-4   Filed 02/01/16   Page 6 of 22



Page 6 of 21 
  

“The rate at which an individual contributor panel bank could borrow 
funds, were it to do so by asking for and then accepting interbank offers in 
reasonable market size just prior to 11:00 London time.” 

4.6. The definition of LIBOR required submissions related to funding from the Panel 
Banks.  It did not allow for consideration of factors unrelated to borrowing or 
lending in the interbank market, such as Trading Positions. 

4.7. During the Relevant Period (particularly during the financial crisis), there was 
very little interbank lending to guide LIBOR submitters at Panel Banks. 
Submitters at those Panel Banks therefore came to rely increasingly on broker-
provided market colour and Run-Throughs to inform their LIBOR submissions. 

Martins’ role in the financial markets and LIBOR 

4.8. Martins is a voice broker, acting for institutional clients transacting in the 
wholesale financial markets.  During the Relevant Period, Martins’ main role was 
to bring together counterparties to execute trades in return for commissions and 
where necessary, to provide information to clients.  

4.9. The information Martins provided to its clients included advice as to where it 
believed the published LIBOR rates would be set on particular days. 

4.10. Amongst other things, as a broker, Martins helps facilitate interbank funding by 
introducing and assisting clients (including Panel Banks) to negotiate: (i) deposits 
and loans; and (ii) trades in relation to interest rate derivatives products that are 
directly referenced to LIBOR rates.  This provides Martins with particular market 
insight into cash trading prices and expected published LIBOR rates. Based on 
this insight Martins is able to provide clients (including Panel Banks) with 
suggestions, in Run-Throughs, as to where LIBOR may set on particular dates. 

Martins’ internal structure 

4.11. Martins is organised into various “desks” of Brokers.  Each desk specialises in 
facilitating trades in different currencies and financial products on behalf of its 
clients. 

4.12. In addition to their basic salary, Brokers were also paid a bonus that represented 
a percentage of net profit generated on a quarterly basis. Any agreed bonus was 
shared between the Brokers on the desk.  During the Relevant Period, 30 percent 
of this net profit amount was paid to the Brokers and 70 percent was retained by 
Martins. 

4.13. On most desks bonuses were calculated on an individual basis.  However, the JPY 
Desk was different in that commission income from all of its Brokers was pooled.  
The JPY Desk comprised eight to ten Brokers and the bonus was shared equally 
between each of these Brokers. 

4.14. During the Relevant Period, the Arbitrage Desk was responsible for executing 
trades for institutional clients (including Panel Banks) in relation to instruments 
between different currencies, including JPY. 
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Principle 5 breaches:  attempts to manipulate JPY LIBOR rates 

Martins’ collusion with Trader A 

4.15. During the Relevant Period, Brokers colluded with Trader A as part of a co-
ordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in 
an attempt to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate. 

4.16. Brokers attempted to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks by 
suggesting to the Panel Banks that they make JPY LIBOR submissions at levels 
requested by Trader A. 

4.17. Trader A usually made his requests to Broker A. If Broker A was unavailable he 
would then make his requests to Broker B, who was one of Broker A’s colleagues 
on the JPY Desk. 

4.18. For example, on 18 July 2008, Trader A wanted a lower one month JPY LIBOR 
rate. In a Bloomberg exchange with Broker A, Trader A identified the JPY LIBOR 
submission made by Panel Bank 1 the previous day as: “a joke”. Trader A asked 
whether Broker A had: “spoken to [Panel Bank 1] re his 1m fix”.  

4.19. Panel Bank 1 was a client of Broker B. At Broker A’s request, Broker B called 
Trader-Submitter A, Panel Bank 1’s JPY LIBOR submitter. Broker B requested that 
he set his one month JPY LIBOR submission at: “65…got someone asking here…if 
you can…or as low as possible basically”. Trader-Submitter A agreed to set Panel 
Bank 1’s one month JPY LIBOR submission at 0.63. 

4.20. Panel Bank 1’s one month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.63 that day, down from 
0.71 on the previous day. This resulted in Panel Bank 1 moving to equal 
thirteenth in the ranking of Panel Banks, from equal first on the previous day. 

4.21. Occasionally, Broker A was assisted by Brokers on both the JPY Desk and on the 
Arbitrage desk. 

4.22. For example, on 25 February 2009, Trader A telephoned Broker A and stated that 
he wanted lower JPY LIBOR submissions in each of the one, three and six month 
maturities (or “tenors”). Trader A added that he was: “just trying to think who 
you might be able to ****ing lean on a bit today…it’s really important to get the 
threes down for me…”. 

4.23. Trader A asked Broker A to approach  various Panel Banks, including Panel Bank 2 
and Panel Bank 3, in order to suggest that they lower their three month JPY 
LIBOR submissions. Later that day, Broker A spoke with Trader-Submitter B, the 
JPY LIBOR submitter at Panel Bank 2:  

                    Broker A:    Can I ask you a small favour? 
 

Trader-Submitter B: Yeah. 

Broker A: What are you going to set in your LIBOR 3s 
today? 

 
Trader-Submitter B:             Ah, same, 65. 

 
Broker A:   Is there any way you might be able to set 

them down a pip ‘cause I’m getting a big 
trade out of it? 
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                    Trader-Submitter B:            Sorry? 

 
Broker A: I’m getting someone do me a big trade if 

they said if I help them sort of get LIBORs 
down a tick today. 

 
Trader-Submitter B: Yeah, okay.    
 

 
4.24 Panel Bank 2’s three month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.64 that day, down from 

0.65 on the previous day. This resulted in Panel Bank 2 moving to equal 
seventh in the ranking of Panel Banks, from fourth the previous day. 

4.25 Broker A also approached Panel Bank 3 but because Panel Bank 3 was not his 
client he did so through Broker C, who worked on the Arbitrage Desk and for 
whom Panel Bank 3 was a client. 

4.26 Broker A asked Broker C for: “a favour…we’ve got a ****ing huge deal but on the 
back of it he’s asked me to do him a favour and see if I can have a word with a 
couple of people, see if LIBOR, see if I could get it down a pip.” 

4.27 Broker C later spoke with Trader-Submitter C, the JPY LIBOR submitter at Panel 
Bank 3 to request that he lower Panel Bank 3’s JPY LIBOR submission by one 
basis point from that of the preceding day. 

4.28 Later that day, Broker C expressed concern in a telephone call with Broker A 
about the conduct: “If I set out on a line…it’s the old auditors as well”.  Broker A 
advised Broker C: “don’t push it, no don’t ever push it.”  The language in the call 
clearly illustrates that Broker A was aware that his conduct, and that of his 
colleague on his behalf, was inappropriate. 

4.29 Panel Bank 3’s three month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.67 that day, down from 
0.68 on the previous day.  This submission was third in the overall ranking of the 
Panel Banks, the same as the previous day. 

4.30 That day, Broker A also spoke with Trader-Submitter D, the JPY LIBOR submitter 
at Panel Bank 5.  Broker A appears to have fabricated a story as a way to 
persuade Trader-Submitter D to assist him: 

Broker A:   I need a favour. 
 
Trader-Submitter D: Yes. 
 
Broker A: ...Alright, it’s got [UNCLEAR] really, what it is, 

basically I got stuffed in something earlier in an IRS 
and it would have cost me about 40,000 to get out of 
it, yes.  Geezer dug me out, as a favour back to him 
he’s asked me, for one day today, he’s got a couple of 
fixings coming.  He wants to see if he can get LIBORs 
down a little bit.  I’ve said I’ll try and do what I can.  
Is there any way you might be able to set them a 
little bit lower today just to return the favour?  It was 
a ****ing big, big, big giant stuffing that I got out of 
there. 

 
Trader-Submitter D:     Yeah, well cash is a little bit easier, isn’t it so I’ll… 
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Broker A: Yes, if you could get them down a couple of tickpips 

or something today that would be ****ing, like the 
out of 3s… 

 
Trader-Submitter D: Yes, I mean, that’s, you know, it’s because cash is 

easier. 
 
Broker A: Yes, it is easier so... yes, I mean if you could do that 

for me mate that would be a personal favour to you.  
At least it shows that I’ve tried to do my best for him, 
do you know what I mean? 

 
Trader-Submitter D: Yes, yes, but yes cash is easier so I’ll fix a couple up. 
 
Broker A:  I love you for that, thanks very much mate.  I 

appreciate it, ta. 

4.31 Panel Bank 5’s three month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.58 that day, down from 
0.6 on the previous day.  This submission was fifteenth in the ranking of Panel 
Banks, the same as the previous day. 

4.32 The Brokers who participated in these exchanges understood that Trader A was 
attempting to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate in order to improve 
the profitability of his Trading Positions. 

Misleading Run-Throughs 

4.33 Broker A also attempted to influence JPY LIBOR submitters by providing 
misleading Run-Throughs. They were misleading because they did not reflect his 
independent assessment of the market but instead took into account JPY LIBOR 
levels requested by Trader A. 

4.34 For example, on 18 July 2008 Trader A was concerned that other Panel Banks 
were setting the one month JPY LIBOR rate higher than he would like. He told 
Broker A that he needed assistance to move it to a lower rate.  Specifically, 
Trader A was concerned that Panel Bank 1 had “moved up to 71” and he told 
Broker A that he would “need it lower”.  Trader A added: “I am losing so much 
cash…then I can’t pay you”. 

4.35 Later that morning, Broker A spoke with Trader-Submitter D, the JPY LIBOR 
submitter at Panel Bank 5. Trader-Submitter D requested a Run-Through from 
Broker A.  Broker A responded: “Oh, yeah yeah, while you’re here.  Okay, one 
month for the month is going to be 60”. 

4.36 The published one month JPY LIBOR rate on 17 July 2008 was 0.65.  Broker A 
therefore suggested that the rate was going to be 5 basis points lower on 18 July.  
In fact, the published JPY LIBOR rate for one month on 18 July was 0.645, a half 
basis point lower.  The rate that Broker A suggested to Trader-Submitter D 
therefore reflected Trader A’s request, rather than a being a proper assessment 
of where the rate would actually set on the day. 

4.37 In accordance with Broker A’s Run-Through, Panel Bank 5‘s one month JPY LIBOR 
submission was 0.6 that day. Another example occurred on 31 October 2008, in 
an exchange between Trader A and Broker A: 
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Trader A:    Right, okay.  Listen what I need – this is what I need, I need 
1’s to come off the most because if they are off 20 for 1’s 
which is what they [unclear]. 

 
Broker A: Right, yes.  That’s the one that’s ****ing up at the moment 

as well, isn’t it, so you need definitely. 
 
Trader A: Yes and then say 3’s are – I don’t need it to come off quite 

so much, like, I don’t know down 13 or something. 
 

Broker A: Right. 
 
Trader A: And then 6’s go well, you know, there’s still term and you 

can’t get hold of it so say, like, down 8 or something. 
 
Broker A:    Right, okay. 
 
Trader A: See what I mean. 
 
Broker A: [UNCLEAR]. 
 
Trader A: Alright mate, if you could sort this out for me, if you can get 

1’s down - if you could get like a staggered downward move 
like that then we’ll do a ****ing massive ticket next week.  

 
4.38 Shortly after, Broker A told another client that: “I’m calling LIBORs down maybe 

about 17, 18 points in 1s, 3s around 12, 6s around 8.” 

4.39 A suggested drop of 18 basis points in the one month JPY LIBOR submission rate 
was extraordinary and unprecedented.  An analysis of the daily submission rates 
for the previous year reveals that the mean average daily movement in one 
month JPY LIBOR was merely 0.9 basis points.  The largest daily rate move in the 
same period was 8.1 basis points. 

4.40 The client asked him to repeat himself because the Run-Through was so 
unrealistically low. Broker A justified his suggested LIBOR rates by explaining: “I 
don’t know so much at the moment because I don’t have any prices in anything 
but I’d say 1s are probably going to be down, obviously sort of, about 17, 18, 17 
points say, 3s about 12 and 6s about 8.  Sounds about sensible, I think.” 

4.41 Broker A’s Run-Through did not reflect his independent assessment of the market 
but instead took account of Trader A’s request. 

4.42 Also on 31 October 2008, Trader-Submitter E, the JPY LIBOR submitter at Panel 
Bank 4, asked for a LIBOR Run-Through from Broker D on the Arbitrage Desk. 
Broker D requested this information from Broker A. In response Broker A 
suggested, as part of his Run-Through, the following JPY LIBOR submissions; one 
month JPY LIBOR 18 basis points lower, three month JPY LIBOR 13 basis points 
lower and six month JPY LIBOR 9.5 basis points lower. 

4.43 Broker D then communicated these suggested rates to Trader-Submitter E. 
Trader-Submitter E questioned these levels and told Broker D that he would 
check elsewhere.  Trader-Submitter E called Broker D back and told him that the 
suggested levels were much too low, and that they should only be about three to 
five basis points lower across all maturities. 
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4.44 On 30 October 2008, the published rates for JPY LIBOR in the one, three and six 
month tenor were 0.91, 0.98 and 1.065 respectively.  The published rates for 31 
October were 0.85, 0.94 and 1.03 respectively.  This means the actual drop in 
rates was 5.5, 4 and 3.5 basis points.  In response to Trader A’s requests, using 
its Run-Throughs, Martins had tried to influence Panel Banks to make JPY LIBOR 
submissions that were far below what they should have been. 

4.45 On occasion, certain fixing dates would have a greater significance for Trader A, 
and Trader A would remind Broker A that he needed Broker A’s assistance.  As 
explained at paragraph 78 of the UBS Final Notice, by 23 June 2009 Trader A held 
a large number of positions tied to the six month JPY LIBOR rate that were due to 
mature on 29 June 2009. 

4.46 For this reason and as explained at paragraph 80 of the UBS Final Notice, 
between 23 and 29 June 2009, Trader A made at least 21 requests to four 
brokers, including Broker A and others not employed by Martins seeking their 
assistance in influencing the JPY LIBOR submissions of Panel Banks. 

4.47 During this six day period, Trader A had numerous conversations with Broker A 
during which they discussed the importance, for Trader A’s positions, of a high six 
month JPY LIBOR rate on 29 June 2009. 

4.48 For example, on 25 June 2009 Trader A told Broker A: “remember 6m on Monday 
[29 June] is a huge huge priority”.  On 29 June 2009, Trader A reminded Broker 
A that he wanted the six month JPY LIBOR rate to increase and told him: “do your 
best and I’ll sort u out…” 

4.49 In the days leading up to 29 June 2009 and on the day itself, Broker A contacted 
a number of submitters at Panel Banks with a view to influencing them to 
increase their six month JPY LIBOR submissions. 

4.50 For example, on the morning of 29 June 2009, Broker A spoke to Trader-
Submitter F, the alternative JPY LIBOR submitter at Panel Bank 5.  During his 
LIBOR Run-Through, Broker A suggested 0.75 for the six month published JPY 
LIBOR rate. This would have represented a rise of 6.1 basis points on the 
previous days’ equivalent rate. 

4.51 On 28 June 2009, the published rate for six month JPY LIBOR was 0.68875, which 
rose to 0.69625 on 29 June 2009, a rise of only 0.75 basis points. 

4.52 However, notwithstanding the unrealistic nature of Broker’s A Run-Through, on 
29 June 2009, Panel Bank 5’s six month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.75, in line 
with Broker A’s Run-Through. 

Spoof orders 

4.53 Broker A created false (or “spoof”) orders.  This involved calling out prices over a 
conference-style telephone called the “squawk box” to suggest a potential trade 
when there was none, such that the conversation could be heard by clients, 
including Panel Banks. 

4.54 Broker A thereby represented that he had genuine interest from bank clients to 
trade cash at a particular level.  He did this by shouting cash prices over the 
squawk box indicating prices had moved in a particular direction.  The direction 
chosen took account of Trader A’s request to move JPY LIBOR rates to benefit 
Trader A’s positions. 
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4.55 By doing so, Broker A attempted to mislead market participants about the prices 
at which cash was trading and with the intention that JPY LIBOR submitters would 
move their submissions accordingly. 

4.56 For example, on 3 September 2008 Trader A explained to Broker A that: “3s is 
the big one for me mates…I’m getting ****ed on the 3s.” 

4.57 Trader A suggested that Panel Bank 5’s three month JPY LIBOR submission could 
be moved down to 0.88.  Broker A explained that he would: “flood [Trader-
Submitter D] with offers today” and stated that: “he does tend to set them where 
I offer them.”  Immediately, Broker A called out an offer to Trader-Submitter D at 
Panel Bank 5 over the squawk box stating that “88, at the minute, I’m giving 3s, 
[Trader-Submitter D]”. 

4.58 Later on, Trader A asked Broker A if he was putting offers around in 3s.  Broker A 
told him that: “I’m offering 3s at 88 where it ain’t offered virtually.  I’m offered 
only at 91.”  Trader A asked whether that is: “to [Panel Bank 5] and [Bank C]?”   

4.59 Within seconds of the end of this call with Trader A, Broker A again shouted over 
the squawk box to Trader-Submitter D  that: “I got choice here 3s Yen [Trader-
Submitter D ], 88 either way.” 

4.60 In line with Broker A’s “spoof-order” Panel Bank 5’s three month JPY LIBOR 
submission for 3 September 2008 was 0.88. 

4.61 Broker A conducted “spoof-orders” in an attempt to influence Panel Banks’ views 
of the cash market so that they would make JPY LIBOR submissions at levels that 
benefitted Trader A. 

Brokers motivated by revenue 

4.62 The Brokers assisted Trader A because UBS was a significant client who 
accounted for a substantial proportion of the revenue of the JPY Desk at Martins. 
During the Relevant Period, UBS was the JPY Desk’s second largest client and 
represented nearly 9% of its total commission revenue. On occasion, Trader A 
accounted for over 25% of the monthly commissions generated by Broker A. 

Wash trades used to facilitate corrupt brokerage payments 

4.63 Between 19 September 2008 and 25 August 2009, Broker A booked nine wash 
trades between Trader A, another UBS Trader and other clients of the JPY Desk.  
This was to facilitate corrupt brokerage payments between UBS and Martins as a 
reward for Brokers’ efforts to influence the JPY LIBOR submissions of Panel 
Banks. These wash trades generated illicit fees of £258,151.09 for Martins. 

4.64 For example, on 18 September 2008 Trader A explained to Broker A: “if you keep 
6s [i.e. the six month JPY LIBOR rate] unchanged today … I will ****ing do one 
humongous deal with you … Like a 50,000 buck deal, whatever … I need you to 
keep it as low as possible … if you do that …. I’ll pay you, you know, 50,000 
dollars, 100,000 dollars … whatever you want … I’m a man of my word”. 

4.65 Trader A made it clear to Broker A that the wash trade was in return for Broker A 
assisting him to keep the six month JPY LIBOR rate down, and told him: “if 6s go 
up a load, mate I can’t afford to do it…but if that…if that happens it’s a 62,000 
buck trade for you.” 
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4.66 Later that day, Broker A contacted Trader-Submitter G at Panel Bank 6 to request 
that he submit a low six month JPY LIBOR: "I tell you what, if you could get 6s a 
little lower today, I’ve got, um, someone that’s going to do a huge trade with me 
today if the ... if the 6s don’t go up too much.  So if you ...” Trader-Submitter G 
confirmed that he would try to assist. 

4.67 On 19 September 2008, and in line with the previous day’s discussions, Broker A 
booked two wash trades with Trader A. That day there were a number of 
communications between Trader A and Broker A. 

4.68 Trader A stated: “If you help me I’ll help you.”  Broker A explained to Trader A 
that: “we get like a bonus out of it…I mean we’re batting for ourselves at the 
moment so we get like 30 percent of the net…so it’s good mate. Thanks very 
much.” Trader A explained that he would continue to use wash trades to pay 
extra commission to Martins to compensate Broker A for his assistance with 
Trader A’s LIBOR requests but emphasised that: “it’s a two-way street…the main 
thing for me [is] as long as the LIBORs don’t go too mad.”  

4.69 Broker A told Trader A: “we always fight your side but yesterday we did make a 
****ing extra big effort, mate.  Really did.  I mean and we…we did sort of take 
the piss out of it a bit as well and it worked so it’s ****ing good work…We had a 
word with a few people so it’s happy days, mate.”  Broker A further explained: “I 
mean you can’t, you can’t always do that, like, because they, they just tell us to 
**** off but every once in a while we get away with doing it but obviously 
yesterday was a big one so it was worth doing.” 

4.70 The facilitation of the wash trades usually involved a number of other Brokers.  
On occasion the Brokers asked their clients to participate in these trades in 
exchange for promises of entertainment.  For example, on 26 March 2009 Broker 
E called Trader B at Panel Bank 4 and stated: “All right listen. I need you mate. … 
I need your money. I ... oh, you’ll be looked after in Vegas. I promise you. It’s 
only a month away. Is there any chance you’ll be able to wash this switch 
through today?” 

4.71 Trader B agreed and Broker E replied: “Okay, mate, listen. That’s perfectly fine 
and, er, I won’t ... it’s not going to be ****ing every month occurrence. It’s ... 
it’s just like it’s the end of our quarter now, so I won’t pester you with that every 
month, no way, I appreciate what you’re doing anyway, right? You’ll be looked 
after, mate. Don’t worry about that. All right. So, um, so do I just ... we’ll do it 
today or tomorrow. I’ll do it ... try and put it through today?” 

Collusion with other Traders 

4.72 Even after Trader A left UBS in September 2009, Martins continued to help 
another trader at UBS attempt to manipulate JPY LIBOR.  They did this because 
Trader A’s trading book remained with UBS and was a source of potential 
business for Martins. 

4.73 For example, on 2 December 2009, Trader C at UBS contacted Broker A to say: 
“"mate you think 3s can come lower by 1bp tonight?...i may get a bit hurt if not".  
Broker A indicated that he would attempt to assist by offering spoof orders to the 
market: "I’ll try and offer it out a bit ok".  

4.74 Martins assisted Traders at other Panel Banks. For example, Trader B at Panel 
Bank 4 sought assistance from Martins to manipulate the other Panel Banks’ JPY 
LIBOR submissions in order to benefit his own Trading Positions. 
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4.75 For example, on 26 June 2009 Trader B called Broker E and asked: “Has [Trader 
A] been asking you to put LIBORs up today?”  Broker E replied: “He wants ones 
and threes a little bit lower and sixes probably about the same as where they are 
now. He wants them to stay the same.”  Trader B stated, “I want them lower…”. 
Broker E replied, “Alright, well, alright, alright, we’ll work on it.” 

4.76 Later that day, Broker E recounted his efforts to Trader B: “Alright okay, alright, 
no we’ve okay just confirming it. We’ve, so far we’ve spoke to [Panel Bank 6]. 
We’ve spoke to a couple of people so we’ll see where they come in alright. We’ve 
spoke, basically… basically we spoke to [Panel Bank 6, Panel Bank 7, Panel Bank 
5], who else did I speak to? [Panel Bank 8]. “There are a couple of other boys I 
spoke to but as a team we’ve basically said we want a bit lower so we’ll see where 
they come in alright?” 

Extent of Martins’ involvement in JPY LIBOR manipulation 

4.77 Whilst Broker A was the principal Broker who colluded with Trader A to attempt to 
manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate, the collusion extended to other Brokers 
on the JPY and Arbitrage Desks.  A number of these Brokers were Managers 
including Brokers C and D. 

4.78 Several other JPY Desk Brokers who did not directly participate in the collusive 
conduct were nevertheless aware that Broker A received requests from Trader A 
to assist him in his attempts to influence the LIBOR submissions of other Panel 
Banks. 

4.79 A number of the Brokers on the JPY Desk were also aware of the wash trades. 
They were aware that these trades were exceptionally large and served no 
legitimate commercial purpose for the counterparties. 

Principle 5 – conclusion 

4.80 During the Relevant Period, Trader A made at least 600 requests to Martins in an 
attempt to manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate. 

4.81 The majority of requests were made directly to Broker A but a small number were 
made to other Brokers on the JPY Desk. 

4.82 Martins did not always accommodate Trader A’s requests, typically when it 
believed that those requests were so unreasonable that no Panel Bank would 
follow such suggestions (and even making them would cost Martins its 
credibility). But Martins did sometimes accede to Trader A’s requests. Particularly 
on dates where Trader A had large Trading Positions whose profitability would be 
determined by the published JPY LIBOR rate or when there was a promise of a 
wash trade with Trader A. 

4.83 Martins’ motivation for colluding with Trader A to manipulate the published JPY 
LIBOR rates was to secure additional revenue for the firm and thereby increased 
bonuses for its Brokers. 

Principle 3 breaches: systems and controls failings 

4.84 During the Relevant Period, Martins’ risk management systems and controls were 
both inadequate and ineffective to enable the monitoring and oversight of its 
Brokers’ activities. 
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Inadequate policies and practices 

4.85 With the exception of a compliance manual introduced in February 2008, Martins 
demonstrated a near complete absence of basic policies and practices designed to 
meet regulatory standards; there was no compliance monitoring programme; 
there were no risk reviews to assess the adequacy of Martins’ systems and 
controls and there was no staff training and competence programme in place. 

Ineffective compliance function and poor compliance culture 

4.86 The culture of Martins’ business gave undue weight to revenue generation at the 
expense of promoting a culture of regulatory compliance.  Martins’ employees and 
Managers were incentivised to focus heavily on revenue and there were no 
incentives to reward for adherence to internal controls or to penalise for non-
compliance. 

4.87 Martins prioritised Broker retention, which made it reluctant to introduce Broker 
controls for fear that this would prompt them to move to competitor firms.  The 
compliance department was discouraged from introducing initiatives that might 
affect Brokers. A staff member stated that the compliance department had: 
“nothing to do with that front office” and that any issue with Broker conduct was 
sorted out amongst the Brokers themselves. 

4.88 Martins failed to recognise the risks associated with its brokerage activities 
including the risk that Brokers would collude with Traders.  The compliance 
culture at Martins was complacent. Managers close to the broking business felt 
that: “good common sense could apply and, as and when any issue arose, this 
would be raised with the appropriate people.” This was an unacceptable approach 
to risk management. 

4.89 Consequently, the compliance culture was exceptionally weak. 

Limited training 

4.90 Save for training on anti-money laundering in the latter part of the Relevant 
Period, Martins conducted no other staff compliance training during the Relevant 
Period. As a result, Brokers were generally unaware of their regulatory 
obligations. 

Transaction Monitoring Systems & Management Information 

4.91 During the Relevant Period, Martins failed to conduct any transaction monitoring.  
There was no regular monitoring of the components or drivers of revenue 
(interest rates, deal sizes, maturities). 

4.92 There was no system in place to monitor for daily revenue spikes. Such 
fundamental checks almost certainly would have detected the wash trades that 
were integral to the LIBOR misconduct described above. 

4.93 The wash trades would have been readily detectable because of their size. During 
the Relevant Period the average brokerage per trade for the JPY Desk was £490, 
whereas the commission for the wash trades ranged from about £6,000 to almost 
£30,000. Other than to check for “fat-finger” entries, Martins did not have 
systems in place to identify exceptionally large trades. 
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4.94 The wash trades also caused very noticeable spikes in revenue for the JPY Desk.  
During the Relevant Period, the JPY Desk’s average daily revenue was about 
£14,000. On days when wash trades were executed its revenue ranged from 
about £30,000 to just over £75,000. The majority of such days were in the upper 
part of this range and a number resulted in revenues making daily records for the 
JPY Desk. 

4.95 Further, the nature of the wash trades should also have marked them out as 
unusual. The trades were executed on the same day, in the same amount, 
between the same counterparties and effectively cancelled each other out. 

4.96 The wash trades were often executed on dates close to the calculation of desk 
revenue for bonus purposes. 

4.97 Martins’ failure to detect the wash trades was not due to an absence of systems. 
Martin’s electronic monitoring system was capable of generating various reports 
which flagged large or unusual trades. In addition, it could also produce a daily 
report on desk revenue. But Martins failed to ensure that these daily desk reports 
were regularly produced and monitored. 

4.98 Martins’ senior Managers considered that they were close to the Brokers and well-
informed about their trading activities. They were content to rely on anecdotal 
information about individual desks and to do without any formal trade monitoring 
on the basis that: “experienced brokers knew what they were doing” and because 
senior Managers kept: “themselves briefed on what went on in the business by 
inter-acting with the brokers, for example socially after work”. 

Reporting lines 

4.99 There was inadequate supervision and oversight by Managers of Brokers. 
Reporting lines were unclear. Managerial responsibilities were at best poorly 
defined, if they existed at all.  Managers ran their Desks as they saw fit with no 
upward reporting obligation and no monitoring of their managerial performance. 
Instead, Martins thought it sufficient simply to monitor financial performance and 
were unconcerned with any other aspect of Desk or Broker performance. 

4.100 Martins’ lack of adequate systems, controls, supervision and monitoring 
throughout the Relevant Period meant that the widespread LIBOR misconduct 
went undetected and continued unabated throughout the Relevant Period. 

Prior Compliance Reviews 

4.101 Various weaknesses in Martins’ systems and controls had been flagged in a 
compliance gap analysis completed by independent compliance consultants in 
2005 and 2006.  Martins was therefore aware of pre-existing weaknesses in its 
compliance framework but failed to take action to rectify these. 

5. FAILINGS 

5.1. The regulatory provisions relevant to this Final Notice are referred to in Annex A. 

Principle 5 

5.2. During the Relevant Period, Martins acted improperly and breached Principle 5 by 
failing to observe proper standards of market conduct. 
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5.3. Its Brokers colluded with Trader A as part of a co-ordinated attempt to influence 
JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the 
final published JPY LIBOR rate. 

5.4. In particular, on or around dates when the level of the final published JPY LIBOR 
rate was of particular significance to the profitability of Trader A’s Trading 
Positions, Martins through its Brokers: 

5.4.1 requested that Panel Banks make specific JPY LIBOR submissions at 
levels that would benefit Trader A; 

5.4.2 provided misleading Run-Throughs to Panel Banks; and 

5.4.3 created spoof orders, with the aim of influencing Panel Banks’ views of 
the cash market so that they would make JPY LIBOR submissions at 
levels that benefitted Trader A. 

5.5 Martins assisted Trader A because he was a significant client who accounted for a 
substantial proportion of the revenue of the JPY Desk. 

5.6 Martins also entered into wash trades with UBS, in order to facilitate corrupt 
brokerage payments to Martins as reward for its attempts to influence the JPY 
LIBOR submissions of Panel Banks. 

5.7 Martins’ misconduct created a significant and unacceptable risk that the published 
JPY LIBOR rates would be manipulated and the integrity of LIBOR would be 
impugned. 

Principle 3 

5.8 During the Relevant Period, Martins breached Principle 3 by failing to take 
reasonable care to organise and control its affairs responsibly and effectively, 
with adequate risk management systems or effective controls in place to monitor 
and oversee its broking activity. In summary, Martins; 

5.8.1 had minimal policies and procedures in place to govern individual 
Brokers’ behaviour; 

5.8.2 had no effective compliance function and a poor compliance culture; 

5.8.3 provided limited compliance training for Brokers; 

5.8.4 had no effective transaction monitoring; and 

5.8.5 had reporting lines and responsibilities which were unclear. 

5.9 Martins’ lack of adequate systems, controls, supervision and monitoring 
throughout the Relevant Period meant that the serious and widespread LIBOR 
misconduct went undetected and continued unabated throughout the Relevant 
Period. 

6. SANCTION  

6.1 The FCA’s policy on the imposition of financial penalties and public censures is set 
out in DEPP.  The detailed provisions of DEPP are set out in the Annex. 
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6.2 In determining the financial penalty, the FCA has had regard to this guidance.  
The FCA’s current penalty regime applies to breaches that take place on or after 6 
March 2010.  However, most of the Relevant Period falls under the previous 
penalty regime, so DEPP in its pre-6 March 2010 form has been applied.  The FCA 
has also had regard to the provisions of ENF relevant to the pre-28 August 2007 
part of the Relevant Period. 

6.3 The FCA considers the following DEPP factors to be particularly important in 
assessing the sanction. 

Deterrence - DEPP 6.5.2G(1) 

6.4 The principal purpose of a financial penalty is to promote high standards of 
regulatory and market conduct by deterring persons who have committed 
breaches from committing further breaches and helping to deter other persons 
from committing similar breaches, as well as demonstrating generally the benefits 
of compliant business.  The FCA considers that the need for deterrence means 
that a very significant fine on Martins is appropriate. 

Nature, seriousness and impact of the breach - DEPP 6.5.2G(2) 

6.5 Martins’ breaches were extremely serious. Martins’ breaches took place 
consistently over several years and encompassed numerous incidents involving a 
number of Brokers and Managers on two separate Desks.  Indeed, during the 
Relevant Period, it was an accepted practice on the JPY Desk to attempt to 
manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate for the benefit of Trader A and UBS.  In 
total, at least three individuals (including one Manager) on two desks participated 
in the attempts to manipulate LIBOR. A further individual was involved in 
facilitating the wash trades which were executed to compensate Martins for their 
efforts. The misconduct greatly magnified the impact of Trader A’s efforts to 
manipulate JPY LIBOR by giving him the opportunity to influence a much larger 
number of Panel Banks than he could influence directly himself. 

6.6 The misconduct included the deliberate dissemination of false suggestions of the 
appropriate JPY LIBOR rate to Panel Banks as part of a co-ordinated attempt to 
manipulate JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks. 

6.7 There were also serious systemic weaknesses in Martins’ systems and controls 
throughout the Relevant Period. It had no effective compliance function and a 
poor compliance culture. Martins was overly focussed on revenue and was 
complacent about the compliance risks it faced. 

6.8 LIBOR is a benchmark reference rate in a number of relevant markets, including 
markets in over-the-counter and exchange-traded derivatives contracts.  LIBOR 
also has a wider impact on other markets.  The integrity of benchmark reference 
rates such as LIBOR is of fundamental importance both to UK and international 
financial markets. Martins’ misconduct threatened the integrity of those 
benchmarks and confidence in, and the stability of, the UK financial system. 

6.9 Martins could have caused serious harm to other market participants if the 
published LIBOR rates were affected by its actions on any given day.  Indeed, by 
targeting a number of specific Panel Banks to influence their submissions, Martins 
was therefore more likely to have affected the overall published LIBOR rates than 
any individual Panel Bank or Trader acting on their own. 
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The extent to which the breach was deliberate or reckless - DEPP 6.5.2G(3) 

6.10 The FCA does not conclude that Martins (as a firm) engaged in deliberate 
misconduct.  Nevertheless, the improper actions of a number of Brokers involved 
in the misconduct were deliberate and Martins was reckless in failing to ensure 
that its compliance culture and systems and controls were adequate to meet its 
regulatory obligations.  Martins, because of a poor culture and weak systems and 
controls, failed to prevent the deliberate, reckless and frequently blatant actions 
of its employees. 

The size, financial resources and other circumstances of the firm DEPP 6.5.2G(5) 

6.11 In deciding on the level of penalty, the FCA has had regard to the size and the 
financial resources of Martins. 

The amount of benefit gained or loss avoided - DEPP 6.5.2G(6) 

6.12 Martins sought to influence Panel Banks’ LIBOR submissions in order to assist one 
of its clients (UBS) and thereby secure additional revenue for itself.  During the 
Relevant Period, Martins received from UBS approximately £177,654 in 
commission income for trades Martins facilitated for Trader A, and a further 
£258,151 in corrupt payments, by way of the wash trades, for assistance with the 
collusion. 

Conduct following the breach - DEPP 6.5.2G(8) 

6.13 In determining the appropriate level of penalty, the FCA considered the level of 
cooperation provided by Martins during the course of the FCA’s investigation.  

6.14 Martins cooperated with the investigation into its LIBOR misconduct. Importantly, 
Martins proactively provided information to the FCA regarding the wash trades 
which assisted this and other LIBOR investigations. 

6.15 The FCA’s investigation would have taken much longer to conclude without 
Martins’ cooperative approach. In addition, Martins has made significant 
compliance improvements since the misconduct outlined in this Final Notice was 
detected. The FCA also notes that there have been significant staff and 
management changes at the firm. 

Other action taken by the FCA - DEPP 6.5.2G(10) 

6.16 On 25 September 2013, the FCA issued a final notice against ICAP with respect to 
the firm’s collusion with Panel Banks in the attempted manipulation of LIBOR.  
The FCA has considered Martins’ misconduct relative to ICAP’s in determining the 
appropriate financial penalty. 

Quantum of financial penalty 

6.17 Taking into account all the factors listed above, in particular the relative 
seriousness of the conduct, as compared with ICAP and the size and financial 
resources of Martins as compared with ICAP, the FCA would have imposed a 
penalty of £3,600,000 on Martins. Given Martins’ financial circumstances 
however, in particular, the fact that Martins would be unable to pay a penalty of 
this amount (together with the other regulatory liabilities that Martins faces in 
relation to LIBOR), the FCA has reduced the fine by 75% to £900,000 and has 
agreed to accept payment in instalments over three years. 
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7. PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

Decision maker 

7.1 The decision which gave rise to the obligation to give this notice was made by the 
Settlement Decision Makers. 

7.2 This Final Notice is given under, and in accordance with section 390 of FSMA.   

Manner of and time for Payment  

7.3 The financial penalty is to be paid over a period of three years, as follows: 

7.3.1 The first year, 2014 to 2015 - £105,000 is payable, divided into four equal 
payments of £26,250, falling due: 

a. Within 14 days of 15 May 2014; 
b. On or before 29 August 2014; 
c. On or before 29 December 2014; and 
d. On or before 29 April 2015. 

 
7.3.2 The second year, 2015 to 2016 - £210,000 is payable, divided into four 

equal payments of £52,500, falling due: 

a. On or before 29 August 2015; 
b. On or before 29  December 2015; 
c. On or before 29 April 2016; and 
d. On or before 29 August 2016. 

 
7.3.3 The third year, 2016 to 2017 - £315,000 is payable, divided into four equal 

payments of £78,750, falling due: 

a. On or before 29 December 2016; 
b. On or before 29 April 2017; 
c. On or before 29 August 2017; and 
d. On or before 29 December 2017. 

 
If the financial penalty is not paid  

7.4 If any instalment is not paid by the due date for that instalment then the 
remainder of the financial penalty becomes payable immediately and in full.  The 
FCA may recover the outstanding amount as a debt owed by Martins and due to 
the FCA. 

Publicity  

7.5 Sections 391(4), 391(6) and 391(7) of FSMA apply to the publication of 
information about the matter to which this notice relates.  Under those 
provisions, the FCA must publish such information about the matter to which this 
notice relates as the FCA considers appropriate.  The information may be 
published in such manner as the FCA considers appropriate.  However, the FCA 
may not publish information if such publication would, in the opinion of the FCA, 
be unfair to you or prejudicial to the interests of consumers or detrimental to the 
stability of the UK financial system. 

7.6 The FCA intends to publish such information about the matter to which this Final 
Notice relates as it considers appropriate. 
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FCA contacts 
 

7.7 For more information concerning this matter generally, please contact  
Patrick Meaney (ex. 67420) or Maria O’Regan (ex. 67544) at the FCA. 

 

 

  

_________________________________ 

Matthew Nunan 

Project Sponsor 

Financial Conduct Authority, Enforcement and Financial Crime Division 
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RESUME  
 

 Since the 1960s, Lowey Dannenberg Cohen & Hart, P.C. (“Lowey Dannenberg”) has 

represented sophisticated clients in complex litigation involving federal securities, commodities 

and antitrust violations, healthcare cost recovery actions, and shareholder and board actions.   

 Lowey Dannenberg has recovered hundreds of millions of dollars for these clients, which 

include Fortune 100 companies such as Aetna, Inc., Anthem, Inc., CIGNA, Humana, and 

Verizon, Inc.; some of the nation’s largest pension funds, e.g., the California State Teachers’ 

Retirement System, the New York State Common Retirement Fund, and the New York City 

Pension Funds; and sophisticated institutional investors, including Federated Investors, Inc., who 

has more than $355 billion in assets under management.    

 For its more than ten years of service to Fortune 100 health insurers in opt-out litigation 

involving state and federal fraud claims, Aetna and Humana publicly anointed Lowey 

Dannenberg their “Go To” outside counsel in a 2013 and 2014 survey published in Corporate 

Counsel Magazine. 

LOWEY DANNENBERG’S COMMODITY PRACTICE 

  LANDMARK COMMODITY CLASS ACTION RECOVERIES 

 Lowey Dannenberg successfully prosecuted, as court appointed lead or co-lead counsel 

or individual plaintiff’s counsel, the most important and complex commodity manipulation 

actions since the enactment of the Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”).  
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 Sumitomo 

 In In re Sumitomo Copper Litigation (“Sumitomo”), Master File No. 96 CV 4854 

(S.D.N.Y.) (Pollack, J.), Lowey Dannenberg was appointed as one of three executive committee 

members.  Stipulation and Pretrial Order No. 1, dated October 28, 1996, at ¶ 13.  Plaintiffs’ 

counsel’s efforts in Sumitomo resulted in a settlement on behalf of the certified class of more 

than $149 million, which is the largest class action recovery in the history of the CEA.  In re 

Sumitomo Copper Litig., 182 F.R.D. 85, 95 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).  One of the most able and 

experienced United States District Court judges in the history of the federal judiciary, the 

Honorable Milton Pollack, took note of counsel’s efforts in Sumitomo in various respects, 

including the following:  

 
The unprecedented effort of Counsel exhibited in this case led to their successful 
settlement efforts and its vast results.  Settlement posed a saga in and of itself and 
required enormous time, skill and persistence.  Much of that phase of the case 
came within the direct knowledge and appreciation of the Court itself.  Suffice it 
to say, the Plaintiffs’ counsel did not have an easy path and their services in this 
regard are best measured in the enormous recoveries that were achieved under 
trying circumstances in the face of virtually overwhelming resistance.   

In re Sumitomo Copper Litig., 74 F. Supp. 2d 393, 396 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).  What Judge Pollack 

found to be “the skill and persistence” of counsel in Sumitomo will be brought to bear to 

represent the Class here as well.   

 In re Natural Gas 

 Lowey Dannenberg served as co-lead counsel in In re Natural Gas Commodity 

Litigation, Case No. 03 CV 6186 (VM) (S.D.N.Y.) (“In re Natural Gas”), which involved 
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manipulation by more than 20 large energy companies of the price of natural gas futures 

contracts traded on the NYMEX.  Plaintiffs alleged that defendants, including El Paso, Duke, 

Reliant, and AEP Energy Services, Inc., manipulated the prices of NYMEX natural gas futures 

contracts by making false reports of the price and volume of their trades to publishers of natural 

gas price indices across the United States, including Platts.  Lowey Dannenberg won significant 

victories throughout the litigation including: 

◦      defeating defendants’ motions to dismiss (In re Natural Gas, 337 F. Supp. 2d 498 

(S.D.N.Y. 2004));  

◦      prevailing on a motion to enforce subpoenas issued to two publishers of natural gas 

price indices for the production of trade report data (In re Natural Gas, 235 F.R.D. 199 

(S.D.N.Y. 2005)); and 

◦      successfully certifying a class of NYMEX natural gas futures traders who were 

harmed by defendants’ manipulation of the price of natural gas futures contracts traded on the 

NYMEX from January 1, 2000 to December 31, 2002.  In re Natural Gas, 231 F.R.D. 171, 179 

(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (granting class certification), petition for review denied, Cornerstone Propane 

Partners, LP, et al. v. Reliant Energy Services, Inc., et al., Docket No. 05-5732 (2d Cir. August 

1, 2006).   

 The total settlement obtained in this complex litigation—$101 million—is the third 

largest recovery in the history of the CEA. 
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 Amaranth 

 Lowey Dannenberg serves as co-lead counsel in In re Amaranth Natural Gas 

Commodities Litigation, Master File No. 07 Civ. 6377 (S.D.N.Y) (SAS) (“Amaranth”).  

Amaranth is a certified CEA class action alleging manipulation of NYMEX natural gas futures 

contract prices in 2006 by Amaranth LLC, one of the country’s largest hedge funds, prior to its 

widely-publicized multi-billion dollar collapse in September 2006.  Significant victories 

achieved by Lowey Dannenberg in the Amaranth litigation include: 

◦  On April 27, 2009, plaintiffs’ claims for primary violations and aiding-and-

abetting violations of the CEA against Amaranth LLC and other Amaranth defendants were 

sustained.  Amaranth, 612 F. Supp. 2d 376 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). 

◦ On April 30, 2010, the Court granted plaintiffs’ motion for pre-judgment 

attachment pursuant to Rule 64 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Section 6201 of the 

New York Civil Practice Law and Rules against Amaranth LLC, a Cayman Islands company and 

the “Master Fund” in the Amaranth master-feeder-fund hedge fund family.  Amaranth, 711 F. 

Supp. 2d 301 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). 

◦ On September 27, 2010, the Court granted plaintiffs’ motion for class 

certification.  Amaranth, 269 F.R.D. 366 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).  In appointing Lowey Dannenberg as 

co-lead counsel for plaintiffs and the Class, the Court specifically noted “the impressive resume” 

of Lowey Dannenberg and that “plaintiffs’ counsel has vigorously represented the interests of the 

class throughout this litigation.”  On December 30, 2010, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 

denied Amaranth’s petition for appellate review of the class certification decision.  
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◦ On April 11, 2012, the Court entered a final order and judgment approving the 

$77.1 million dollar settlement reached in the action. The $77.1 million dollar settlement is more 

than ten times greater than the $7.5 million joint settlement achieved by the Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) 

against Amaranth Advisors LLC and represented the fourth largest class action recovery in the 

85-plus year history of the CEA.  

 Pacific Inv. Mgmt. Co. (“PIMCO”) 

 Lowey Dannenberg served as counsel to certified class representative Richard Hershey in 

a class action alleging manipulation by PIMCO of the multi-billion dollar market of U.S. 10-

Year Treasury Note futures contracts traded on the Chicago Board of Trade (“CBOT”).  The case 

settled in 2011 for $118,750,000, the second largest recovery in the history of the CEA.    

CURRENT PROSECUTION OF COMMODITY CLASS ACTIONS 

 Lowey Dannenberg continues to prosecute, as court appointed lead or co-lead counsel or 

individual plaintiff’s counsel, the most important and complex commodity manipulation actions 

since the enactment of the CEA.   

 Sullivan v. Barclays PLC et al. 

 Lowey Dannenberg is leading the prosecution against numerous global financial 

institutions responsible for the setting of the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“Euribor”), a global 

reference rate used to benchmark, price and settle over $200 trillion of financial products.  

Several Defendants in this litigation, which alleges violations of the CEA, Sherman Act and 

RICO, have already paid billions in fines to regulators for manipulating Euribor, and defendant 
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Barclays Bank plc has been granted conditional leniency from the DOJ pursuant to ACPERA for 

alleged anticompetitive conduct relating to Euribor.  On December 15, 2015, Judge Castel 

preliminarily approved a $94 million settlement with Barclays plc and related Barclays’ entities 

and appointed Lowey Dannenberg as Co-Class Counsel to the Settlement Class.  See Sullivan v. 

Barclays plc, No. 13-cv-2811 (PKC), Order Preliminarily Approving Class Action Settlement 

and Conditionally Certifying a Settlement Class (ECF No. 234).   

 Laydon v. Mizuho Bank, Ltd. et al.; Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. et al. v. 

UBS AG et al. 

 Lowey Dannenberg serves as court-appointed sole lead counsel in Laydon v. Mizuho 

Bank, Ltd. et al. 12-cv-03419 (S.D.N.Y.) (Daniels, J.))(“Euroyen”), a proposed class action 

against some of the world’s largest financial institutions arising from their intentional and 

systematic manipulation of the London Interbank Offered Rate for the Japanese Yen and 

Euroyen TIBOR (the Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate).  The case alleges violations of the CEA, 

the Sherman Act, RICO and common law.  Several Defendants named in the Euroyen rate-

rigging lawsuit have already pled guilty to criminal charges of price fixing and paid billions in 

fines to regulators, and defendant UBS AG has been granted conditional leniency from the U.S. 

Department of Justice (“DOJ”) pursuant to the Antitrust Criminal Penalty Enhancement and 

Reform Act (“ACPERA”) for alleged anticompetitive conduct relating to the Euroyen market.  

 Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. v Credit Suisse Group AG et al.  

 Lowey Dannenberg is court-appointed sole lead counsel against the numerous global 

financial institutions responsible for the setting of the Swiss Franc LIBOR.  The case alleges that 
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the institutions manipulated Swiss Franc LIBOR and Swiss Franc LIBOR-based derivatives 

prices, in violation of the CEA, Sherman Act and RICO.  The case is currently pending before 

Judge Sidney H. Stein.  Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. v Credit Suisse Group AG et al., 

Case No. 15-cv-871 (S.D.N.Y.). 

 Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. v Barclays Bank plc et al. 

 Lowey Dannenberg is leading the prosecution against the numerous global financial 

institutions responsible for the setting of Pound Sterling LIBOR, alleging the manipulation of 

Sterling LIBOR and the prices of Sterling LIBOR-based derivatives, in violation of the CEA, 

Sherman Act and RICO.  The case is currently pending before Judge Vernon S. Broderick.  

Sonterra Capital Master Fund Ltd. v Barclays Bank plc et al., Case No. 15-cv-3538 (VSB) 

(S.D.N.Y.).   

 In re London Silver Fixing Ltd., Antitrust Litig. 

 Lowey Dannenberg is serving as co-lead counsel on behalf of a class of silver investors, 

including Commodity Exchange Inc. (“COMEX”) silver futures contracts traders, against the 

banks that allegedly colluded to fix the London Silver Fix, a global benchmark that impacts the 

value of more than $30 billion in silver and silver financial instruments.  The case alleges 

violations of the CEA and antitrust laws.  In appointing Lowey Dannenberg, the Court praised 

Lowey Dannenberg’s experience, approach to developing the complaint, attention to details, and 

the expert resources that the firm brought to bear on behalf of the class.  See In re London Silver 

Fixing Ltd., Antitrust Litig., Case No. 14-md-2573 (VEC), ECF No. 17 (November 25, 2014) 

(S.D.N.Y.) (Caproni, J.).  
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 Kraft Wheat Manipulation 

 Lowey Dannenberg is court-appointed co-lead counsel for a class of wheat futures and 

options traders pursuing claims against Kraft Foods Group, Inc. and Mondelēz Global LLC 

alleging Kraft manipulated the prices of Chicago Board of Trade wheat futures and options 

contracts.  The case is currently pending in the Northern District of Illinois before Judge Edmond 

E. Chang.  Ploss v. Kraft Foods Group, Inc. et al.,15-cv-2937 (N.D. Ill.).  

 Optiver 

 Lowey Dannenberg serves as co-lead counsel in a proposed class action alleging Optiver 

US, LLC and other Optiver defendants manipulated NYMEX light sweet crude oil, heating oil 

and gasoline futures contracts prices in violation of the CEA and antitrust laws.  In re Optiver 

Commodities Litigation, Case No. 08 CV 6842 (S.D.N.Y.) (LAP), Pretrial Order No. 1, dated 

February 11, 2009.  The Honorable Loretta A. Preska of the Southern District of New York 

granted final approval of a $16.75 million settlement in June 2015. 

  In re Rough Rice Futures Litigation 

 Lowey Dannenberg serves as co-lead counsel in a putative class action involving the 

alleged manipulation of rough rice futures and options traded on the CBOT, in violation of the 

CEA.  In re Rough Rice Futures Litigation, Case No. 11-cv-618 (JAN) (N.D. Ill.).  Plaintiffs 

allege that, between at least October 1, 2007 and July 31, 2008, defendants repeatedly exceeded 

CBOT rough rice position limits for the purpose of manipulating CBOT rough rice futures and 

option contract prices. The Honorable John W. Darrah of the Northern District of Illinois granted 

final approval of the settlement in August 2015. 
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 White v. Moore Capital Management, L.P. 

 Lowey Dannenberg is counsel to a class representative in an action alleging manipulation 

of NYMEX palladium and platinum futures prices in 2007 and 2008. White v. Moore Capital 

Management, L.P., Case No. 10 CV 3634 (S.D.N.Y.) (Pauley, J.).  A settlement in the amount of 

$70 million settlement received final approval in 2015.    

 In re Crude Oil Commodity Futures Litigation  

 Lowey Dannenberg is counsel to a proposed class representative and large crude oil 

trader in a proposed class action involving the alleged manipulation of NYMEX crude oil futures 

and options contracts.  In re Crude Oil Commodity Futures Litigation, Case No. 11-cv-03600 

(S.D.N.Y.) (Forrest, J.).  The Court granted final approval to a $16.5 million settlement in 

January 2016.   

LOWEY DANNENBERG’S OTHER PRACTICE AREAS 

ANTITRUST AND PRESCRIPTION OVERCHARGE LITIGATION 

 Lowey Dannenberg is the nation’s premier litigation firm for health insurers to recover 

overcharges for prescription drug and other medical products and services.  Our skills in this area 

are recognized by the largest payers for pharmaceuticals in the United States, including Aetna, 

CIGNA, Humana, and Anthem, Inc. (formerly WellPoint), who consistently retain Lowey 

Dannenberg, either on an individual or a class basis, to assert claims against pharmaceutical 

manufacturers for conduct, including monopoly and restraint of trade, resulting in overpriced 

medication.    
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 In 1998, Lowey Dannenberg filed the first-ever generic delay class action antitrust cases 

for endpayers (a term reflecting consumers and health insurers).  Those cases were centralized by 

the JPML under the caption In re Cardizem CD Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 1278 (E.D. 

Mich.). 

 Lowey Dannenberg serves as the lead class counsel for indirect purchaser endpayers in 

the following generic delay antitrust class action lawsuits (1) prosecuting motions to certify 

litigation classes; (2) taking depositions of fact and expert witnesses; and (3) prosecuting and/or 

defended summary judgment motions:   

• In re Cardizem CD Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 1278 (E.D. Mich.).  Class 
certification, 200 F.R.D. 326 (E.D. Mich 2001), Affirmance of partial summary 
judgment for plaintiffs, 332 F.3d 896 (6th Cir. 2003), $80 million class 
settlement.  

• In re Terazosin Hydrochloride Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 1317 (S.D. Fla.).  
Certification of 17-state litigation class, 220 F.R.D. 672 (S.D. Fla. 2004), 
Approval of 17-state settlement (after submission of final pretrial order, jury 
interrogatories and motions in limine) for $28.7 million, 2005 WL 251960 (July 8, 
2005). 

• In re Wellbutrin XL Antitrust Litigation, Civ. No. 08-2433. Certification of 6-state 
litigation class, 282 F.R.D. 126 (E.D. Pa. 2011), Sustaining class pleading of New 
York antitrust claims, the first post-Shady Grove decision to so hold—756 F. 
Supp. 2d 670 (E.D. Pa. 2010).  Partial settlement for $11.75 million (unreported).  
The case continues against the non-settling defendant. 

 Lowey Dannenberg has prosecuted and won three landmark decisions in favor of third 

party payer health insurers in prescription drug cases: 

• In re Avandia Marketing Sales Practices and Products Liability Litigation, 685 
F.3d 353 (3d Cir. 2012), cert. denied, sub nom. GlaxoSmithKline v. Humana Med. 
Plans, Inc., 81 U.S.L.W. 3579 (Apr. 15, 2013) (establishing Medicare Advantage 
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Organization’s reimbursement recovery rights under the Medicare Secondary 
Payer Act).   

• Desiano v. Warner-Lambert, 326 F.3d 339 (2d Cir. 2003) (establishing the direct 
(non-subrogation) rights of commercial health insurers to recover overcharges 
from drug companies for drugs prescribed to their insureds).  The case was 
subsequently settled for a confidential amount for 35 health insurers. 

• In re Neurontin Mktg. & Sales Practices Litigation, 712 F.3d 51 (1st Cir. 2013) 
(holding drug manufacturers accountable to health insurers for RICO claims 
attributable to marketing fraud).   

 Lowey Dannenberg has defended and won dismissals for health insurers in the following 

class actions: Wurtz v. Rawlings Co., LLC, 933 F. Supp. 2d 480 (E.D.N.Y. 2013; Meek-Horton v. 

Trover Solutions, 910 F. Supp. 2d 690 (S.D.N.Y. 2013); Potts v. Rawlings Co., LLC, 897 F. 

Supp. 2d 185, 2012 (S.D.N.Y. 2012); Kesselman v. The Rawlings Company, LLC, 668 F. Supp. 

2d 604 (S.D.N.Y. 2009); Elliot Plaza Pharmacy v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare, 2009 WL 702837 

(N.D. Okla. March 16, 2009); Main Drug, Inc. v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare, 475 F.3d 1228 (11th 

Cir. 2007), aff’g, Main Drug, Inc. v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare, 455 F. Supp. 2d 1323 (M.D. Ala. 

2006) and 455 F. Supp. 2d 1317 (M.D. Ala. 2005); and Medfusion Rx, LLC v. Humana Health 

Plan, Inc., Case No. CV-08-PWG-0451-S (N.D. Ala.) (2008). We are currently defending the 

class action lawsuit Roche, et al. v. Aetna, Inc., et al., Civ. 13-1377 (JHR) (D.N.J.). 

 In 2013, America’s Health Insurance Plans, a national association representing the health 

insurance industry, hired Lowey Dannenberg to represent it before the United States Supreme 

Court as amicus curiae in FTC v. Actavis, Inc., 133 S. Ct. 2223 (2013), concerning how “pay-

for-delay” agreements between brand name drug companies and generic companies should be 

evaluated under federal antitrust law. We also successfully secured the first reported precedent 
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reinvigorating class certification under New York’s Donnelly (Antitrust) Act in federal court in 

the wake of the Supreme Court’s Shady Grove Orthopedic Assocs. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 130 S. Ct. 

1431 (2010) decision.  In re Wellbutrin XL Antitrust Litig., 756 F. Supp. 2d 670, 677-80 (E.D. 

Pa. 2010). 

 Lowey Dannenberg is also currently prosecuting on behalf of its clients the following 

cases:  

• In re Nexium (Esomeprazole) Antitrust Litig., 12–md–02409–WGY (D. Mass.).  Lowey 
Dannenberg represents 116 individual third party payer health insurers who have opted 
out of the certified litigation class in Nexium and filed separate actions in Pennsylvania 
state court. Cariten Insurance Company, et al. v. AstraZeneca AB, et al., No. 002106 (Pa. 
Court of Common Pleas); Time Insurance Company, et al. v. AstraZeneca AB, et al., No. 
001903 (Pa. Court of Common Pleas). After being removed, our motions for remand 
were granted by two separate federal courts. Time Ins. Co. v. AstraZeneca AB, 2014 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 140110 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 1, 2014); Cariten Insurance Company et al v. 
AstraZeneca AB, 1:14-cv-13873-WGY, ECF No. 52 (D. Mass. Nov. 20, 2014).  These 
matters are currently in the early stages of litigation.  

• Aggrenox Litigation,  Lowey Dannenberg represents Humana Inc. in a generic delay 
antitrust case against defendant Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the 
Aggrenox brand manufacturer, and generic manufacturer Barr Pharmaceuticals Inc. 
(later acquired by Teva Pharmaceuticals), before Judge Underhill in the District of 
Connecticut, Humana Inc. v. Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co. KG, et al., 
No. 3:14-cv-00572 (D. Conn.) (SRU).  Class actions on behalf of direct and indirect 
purchaser plaintiffs are pending in the same multidistrict litigation.  In re Aggrenox 
Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 2516 (D. Conn.) (SRU).  The litigation asserts claims 
under state antitrust law, claiming a $100 million co-promotion agreement was 
disguised pay-for-delay, and as a result, Humana has overpaid and continues to 
overpay for Aggrenox.  On March 23, 2015, the Court sustained all but two of 
Humana’s state law antitrust claims.  In re Aggrenox Antitrust Litig., 2015 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 35634 (D. Conn. Mar. 23, 2015).   

• Lidoderm Litigation, Lowey Dannenberg represents Government Employees Health 
Association (“GEHA”) in a generic delay antitrust case pending before Judge Orrick 
in the Northern District of California, concerning Lidoderm, the brand name for a 
prescription pain patch for the treatment of after-shingles pain, sold by Endo 
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Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Teikoku Pharma USA, and Teikoku Seiyaku Co., Ltd.  
Government Employees Health Association v. Endo Pharmaceuticals, Inc., et al., No. 
3:14-cv-02180-WHO (N.D. Cal.).  Class actions on behalf of direct and indirect 
purchaser plaintiffs are pending in the same multidistrict litigation.  In re Lidoderm 
Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 2521 (N.D. Cal.).  On May 5, 2015, Judge Orrick 
granted in part and denied in part defendants’ motion to dismiss GEHA’s Second 
Amended Complaint, sustaining GEHA’s claims under the laws of 32 states.  In re 
Lidoderm Antitrust Litig., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58979 (N.D. Cal. May 5, 2015). 

SECURITIES LITIGATION 

 Our clients’ cases have involved financial fraud, auction rate securities, options 

backdating, Ponzi schemes, challenges to unfair mergers and tender offers, statutory appraisal 

proceedings, proxy contests and election irregularities, failed corporate governance, stockholder 

agreement disputes, and customer/brokerage firm arbitration proceedings.   

 Our investor litigation practice group has recovered billions of dollars in the aggregate.  

But the value of our accomplishments is measured by more than dollars.  We have also achieved 

landmark, long term corporate governance changes at public companies, including reversing 

results of elections and returning corporate control to the companies’ rightful owners, its 

stockholders.   

 Lowey Dannenberg’s public pension fund clients include the New York City Pension 

Funds, the New York State Common Retirement Fund, the Maryland Employees’ Retirement 

System, the Ohio Public Employees’ Retirement Plan, and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

State Employees’ Retirement System.  Representative institutional investor clients include 

Federated Investors, Inc., Glickenhaus & Co., Millennium Partners LLP, Karpus Investment 
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Management LLP, Amegy Bank, Monster Worldwide Inc., Zebra Technologies, Inc., and 

Delcath Systems, Inc.   

 Recent Recoveries 

 Recent achievements for our securities clients include the following:  

• In re Beacon Associates Litigation, Civ. Act. No. 09-CV-0777 (S.D.N.Y.); In re J.P. 
Jeanneret Associates, Inc., et al., 09-cv-3907 (S.D.N.Y.).  Lowey Dannenberg 
represented several unions, which served as Lead Plaintiffs, in litigation arising from 
Bernie Madoff’s Ponzi scheme. On March 15, 2013, the Honorable Colleen 
McMahon of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York 
granted final approval of the $219.9 million settlement of Madoff feeder-fund 
litigation encompassing the In re Beacon and In re Jeanneret class actions.  Lowey 
Dannenberg as Liaison Counsel was instrumental in achieving this outstanding result.  
The settlement covered several additional lawsuits in federal and New York state 
court against the Settling Defendants, including suits brought by the United States 
Secretary of Labor and the New York Attorney General.  Plaintiffs in these cases 
asserted claims under the federal securities laws, ERISA and state laws arising out of 
hundreds of millions of investment losses sustained by unions and other investors in 
Bernard Madoff feeder funds.  The extraordinary recovery represents approximately 
70% of investors’ losses.  This settlement, combined with money the victims are 
expected to recover from a separate liquidation of Madoff assets, is expected to 
restore the bulk of the pension funds for the local unions and other class members.  In 
granting final approval, Judge McMahon praised both the result and the lawyering in 
these coordinated actions, noting that “[i]n the history of the world there has never 
been such a response to a notice of a class action settlement that I am aware of, 
certainly, not in my experience,” and that “[t]he settlement process really was quite 
extraordinary.”  In her written opinion, Judge McMahon stated that “[t]he quality of 
representation is not questioned here, especially for those attorneys (principally from 
Lowey Dannenberg) who worked so hard to achieve this creative and, in my 
experience, unprecedented global settlement.”  In re Beacon Associates Litig., 09 
CIV. 777 CM, 2013 WL 2450960, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. May 9, 2013). 

• As lead counsel for the New York City Pension Funds, Lead Plaintiff in In re Juniper 
Networks, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. C-06-04327 JW (N.D. Cal), in 2010 we achieved a 
settlement in the amount of $169.5 million, one of the largest settlements in an 
options backdating case, after more than three years of hard-fought litigation.   
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• We successfully challenged a multi-billion-dollar merger between Xerox Corp. and 
Affiliated Computer Systems (“ACS”) which favored Affiliated’s CEO at the expense 
of our client, Federated Investors, and other ACS shareholders.  In following 
expedited proceedings, we achieved a $69.0 million settlement as well as structural 
protections in the shareholder vote on the merger.  The settlement was approved in 
2010.  In re ACS Shareholder Litigation, Consolidated C.A. No. 4940-VCP (Del. 
Ch.).   

• We represented the New York State Common Retirement Fund as Lead Plaintiff in In 
re Bayer AG Securities Litigation, 03 Civ. 1546 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y.), a securities fraud 
class action, arising from Bayer’s marketing and recall of its Baycol drug.  Lowey 
Dannenberg was appointed as lead counsel for the New York State Common 
Retirement Fund at the inception of merits discovery, following the dismissal of the 
New York State Common Retirement Fund’s former counsel.  The class action was 
settled for $18.5 million in 2008.   

• Lowey Dannenberg’s innovative strategy and aggressive prosecution produced an 
extraordinary recovery in the fall of 2005 for the New York City Pension Funds in the 
WorldCom Securities Litigation, substantially superior to that of any other WorldCom 
investor in either class or opt-out litigation.  Following our advice to opt out of a class 
action in order to litigate their claims separately, the New York City Pension Funds 
recovered almost $79 million, including 100% of their damages resulting from 
investments in WorldCom bonds.  In re WorldCom Securities Litigation, Master File 
No. 02 Civ. 3288 (DLC) (S.D.N.Y.).   

• In 2008, Lowey Dannenberg successfully litigated an opt-out case on behalf of our 
client Federated Investors, Inc., arising out of the Tyco Securities Litigation.  The 
client asserted claims unavailable to the class (including a claim for violation of § 18 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and a claim for violations of the New Jersey 
RICO statute).  Pursuit of an opt-out strategy resulted in a recovery of substantially 
more than the client would have received had it merely remained passive and 
participated in the class action settlement.   

Case 1:15-cv-05844-GBD-HBP   Document 189-5   Filed 02/01/16   Page 16 of 21



 
 
 

{2545 / MISC / 00133761.DOC v1} 16 
 

 

• On March 19, 2007, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New 
York approved a $79,750,000 settlement of a class action, in which Lowey 
Dannenberg acted as Co-Lead Counsel, on behalf of United States investors of Philip 
Services Corp., a bankrupt Canadian resource recovery company. $50,500,000 of the 
settlement was paid by the Canadian accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche, LLP, 
which Lowey Dannenberg believes is the largest recovery from a Canadian auditing 
firm in a securities class action, and among the largest obtained from any accounting 
firm.  In re Philip Services Corp., Securities Litigation, 98 Civ. 835 (AKH) 
(S.D.N.Y.)  Earlier in the litigation, the United States Court of Appeals for the 
Second Circuit issued a landmark decision protecting the rights of United States 
citizens to sue foreign companies who fraudulently sell their securities in the United 
States.  DiRienzo v. Philip Services Corp., 294 F.3d (2d Cir. 2002).   

• Lowey Dannenberg acted as co-lead counsel for a class of seatholders seeking to 
enjoin the merger between the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and 
Archipelago Holdings, Inc.  As a result of the action, the merger terms were revised, 
providing the seatholders with more than $250 million in additional consideration.  In 
addition, the NYSE agreed to retain an independent financial adviser to report to the 
Court as to the fairness of the deal to the NYSE seatholders.  Plaintiffs also provided 
the Court with their expert’s analysis of the new independent financial adviser’s 
report.  Both reports were provided to the seatholders prior to the merger vote.  The 
Court noted that “these competing presentations provide a fair and balanced view of 
the proposed merger and present the NYSE Seatholders with an opportunity to 
exercise their own business judgment with eyes wide open.  The presentation of such 
differing viewpoints ensures transparency and complete disclosure.”  In re New York 
Stock Exchange/Archipelago Merger Litigation, (N.Y. Sup. Ct. December 5, 2005).   

• On September 25, 2006, Lowey Dannenberg helped Laddcap Value Partners win an 
emergency appeal, reversing a federal district court’s order disqualifying the votes 
Laddcap had solicited to replace the board of directors of Delcath Systems, Inc.  Prior 
to our involvement in the case, on September 20, 2006, Laddcap, which was 
Delcath’s largest stockholder, had been enjoined by the district court from submitting 
stockholder consents it had solicited on the grounds of unproven claimed violations of 
federal securities law.  After losing an injunction proceeding in the district court on 
September 20, 2006, and with the election scheduled to close on September 25, 2006, 
Laddcap hired Lowey Dannenberg to prosecute an emergency appeal, which was won 
on September 25, 2006, the last day of the election period.  Shortly thereafter, the 
case was settled with Laddcap gaining seats on the board, reimbursement of expenses, 
and other benefits.  Delcath Systems, Inc. v. Laddcap Value Partners, 2006 WL 
27239981 (2d Cir. Sept. 25, 2006).   
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• Lowey Dannenberg represented Karpus Investment Management in its successful 
proxy contest and subsequent litigation to prevent the transfer of management by 
Citigroup to Legg Mason of the Salomon Brothers Municipal Partners Fund.  We 
defeated the Fund’s preliminary injunction action which sought to compel Karpus to 
vote shares it had solicited by proxy but withheld from voting in order to defeat a 
quorum and prevent approval of the transfer.  Salomon Brothers Mun. Partners Fund, 
Inc. v. Thornton, 410 F. Supp. 2d 330 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).   

• Lowey Dannenberg represented Glickenhaus & Co., a major registered investment 
advisor and, at the time, the second largest stockholder of Chrysler, in an individual 
securities lawsuit against DaimlerChrysler AG.  Successful implementation of the 
firm’s opt-out strategy led to a recovery for its clients far in excess of that received by 
other class members.  See In re DaimlerChrysler AG Sec. Litig., 197 F. Supp. 2d 42 
(D. Del. 2002); In re DaimlerChrysler AG Sec. Litig., Civ. Action 269 F. Supp. 2d 
508 (D. Del. 2003).   

• Following a three-day bench trial in a statutory appraisal proceeding, the Delaware 
Chancery Court awarded our clients, an institutional investor and investment advisor, 
$30.43 per share plus compounded prejudgment interest, for a transaction in which 
the public shareholders who did not seek appraisal were cashed out at $28 per share.  
Doft & Co. v. Travelocity.com, Inc., No. Civ. A. 19734, 2004 WL 1152338 (May 20, 
2004), modified, 2004 WL 1366994 (Del. Ch. June 10, 2004).   

• In MMI Investments, LP v. NDCHealth Corp., et al., 05 Civ. 4566 (S.D.N.Y.), Lowey 
Dannenberg filed an individual action on behalf of hedge fund, MMI Investments.  
The client’s complaint asserted claims for violations of the federal securities laws and 
the common law, including claims not available to the class, most notably a claim for 
violation of § 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and a claim for common law 
fraud.  After aggressively litigating the client’s claims, the Firm obtained a substantial 
settlement, notwithstanding the fact that the class claims were dismissed.   

• Lowey Dannenberg, as Co-Lead Counsel on behalf of an institutional investor, 
obtained an injunction from the Delaware Supreme Court, enjoining a proposed 
merger between NCS Healthcare, Inc. and Genesis Health Ventures, Inc., which 
accepted our argument that the NCS board had breached its fiduciary obligations by 
agreeing to irrevocable merger lock-up provisions.  As a result of the injunction, the 
NCS shareholders were able to obtain the benefit of a competing takeover proposal 
by Omnicare, Inc. of 300% more than that offered in the enjoined transaction, 
providing NCS’s shareholders with an additional $99 million.  Omnicare, Inc. v. NCS 
Healthcare, Inc., 818 A.2d 914 (Del. 2003).   
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• Lowey Dannenberg successfully represented an affiliate of Millennium Partners, a 
major private investment fund, in litigation in the Delaware Chancery Court that 
resulted in the voiding of two elections of directors of meVC Draper Fisher Jurvetson 
Fund 1, Inc., a NYSE-listed closed end mutual fund, on grounds of breach of 
fiduciary duty, and in a subsequent proxy contest litigation in the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of New York, that resulted in the replacement 
of the entire board of directors with Millennium’s slate.  meVC Draper Fisher 
Jurvetson Fund 1, Inc. v. Millennium Partners, 260 F. Supp. 2d 616 (S.D.N.Y. 2003); 
Millenco L.P. v. meVC Draper Fisher Jurvetson Fund 1, Inc., 824 A.2d 11 (Del. Ch. 
2002).   

• In a case in which Lowey Dannenberg acted as Lead Counsel, we obtained a $27.25 
million settlement on behalf of our client the Federated Kaufmann Fund and a class of 
purchasers of securities of CINAR Corporation.  The court found that “the quality of 
[Lowey Dannenberg’s] representation has been excellent.”  In re CINAR Securities 
Litigation, Master File No. 00 CV 1086 (E.D.N.Y., Dec. 2, 2002).   

• In proceedings in which Lowey Dannenberg acted as co-counsel to a Bankruptcy 
Court-appointed Estate Representative, the firm obtained recoveries in a fraudulent 
conveyance action totaling $106 million.  In re Reliance Securities Litigation, MDL 
1304 (D. Del. 2002).   

LOWEY DANNENBERG’S RECOGNIZED EXPERTISE 

 The attorneys of Lowey Dannenberg have been repeatedly recognized by the courts as 

expert practitioners in the field of complex litigation.   

 For example, on March 15, 2013, the Honorable Colleen McMahon of the United States 

District Court for the Southern District of New York granted final approval of the $219 million 

settlement of Madoff feeder-fund litigation encompassing the In re Beacon and In re 

Jeanneret class actions.  In a subsequent written decision, with glowing praise, Judge McMahon 

stated: 

• “The quality of representation is not questioned here, especially for those 
attorneys (principally from Lowey Dannenberg) who worked so hard to achieve this creative 
and, in my experience, unprecedented global settlement.” 
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• “I thank everyone for the amazing work that you did in resolving these 
matters. Your clients - all of them - have been well served.” 

• “Not a single voice has been raised in opposition to this remarkable settlement, or 
to the Plan of Allocation that was negotiated by and between the Private Plaintiffs, the NYAG 
and the DOL.” 

• “All formal negotiations were conducted with the assistance of two independent 
mediators - one to mediate disputes between defendants and the investors and another to 
mediate claims involving the Bankruptcy Estate.  Class Representatives and other plaintiffs 
were present, in person or by telephone, during the negotiations. The US Department of Labor 
and the New York State Attorney General participated in the settlement negotiations.  Rarely 
has there been a more transparent settlement negotiation.  It could serve as a prototype 
for the resolution of securities-related class actions, especially those that are adjunctive 
to bankruptcies.” 

• “The proof of the pudding is that an astonishing 98.72% of the Rule 23(b)(3) 
Class Members who were eligible to file a proof of claim did so (464 out of 470), and only 
one Class Member opted out [that Class Member was not entitled to recover anything 
under the Plan of Allocation]. I have never seen this level of response to a class action 
Notice of Settlement, and I do not expect to see anything like it again.” 

• “I am not aware of any other Madoff-related case in which counsel have 
found a way to resolve all private and regulatory claims simultaneously and with the 
concurrence of the SIPC/Bankruptcy Trustee.  Indeed, I am advised by Private Plaintiffs' 
Counsel that the Madoff Trustee is challenging settlements reached by the NYAG in other 
feeder fund cases [Merkin, Fairfield Greenwich] which makes the achievement here all the 
more impressive.” 

In Juniper Networks, Inc. Securities Litigation, the Court, in approving the settlement, 

acknowledged that “[t]he successful prosecution of the complex claims in this case required the 

participation of highly skilled and specialized attorneys.”  In re Juniper Networks, Inc., C06-

04327, Order dated August 31, 2010 (N.D. Cal.).  In the WorldCom Securities Litigation, the 

Court repeatedly praised the contributions and efforts of the firm. On November 10, 2004, the 

Court found that “the Lowey Firm . . . has worked tirelessly to promote harmony and efficiency 
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in this sprawling litigation. . . . [Lowey Dannenberg] has done a superb job in its role as Liaison 

Counsel, conducting itself with professionalism and efficiency. . . .”  In re WorldCom, Inc. 

Securities Litigation, 2004 WL 2549682 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 10, 2004).   

In the In re Bayer AG Securities Litigation, 03 Civ. 1546 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 15, 2008), 

Judge William H. Pauley III, in his order approving a settlement of $18.5 million for the class of 

plaintiffs, noted that the attorneys from Lowey Dannenberg are “nationally recognized complex 

class action litigators, particularly in the fields of securities and shareholder representation,” that 

“provided high-quality representation.”  In re Bayer AG Securities Litigation, 2008 WL 

5336691, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 15, 2008).   

In the In re Luminent Mortgage Capital, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. C07-4073 (N.D. 

Cal.), Judge Phyllis J. Hamilton noted in the hearing for final approval of settlement and award 

of attorneys’ fees that “[t]he $8 million settlement…is excellent, in light of the circumstance.” 

Judge Hamilton went on to say that “most importantly, the reaction of the class has been 

exceptional with only two opt-outs and no objections at all received.”  In re Luminent Mortgage 

Capital, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. C07-4073-PJH, Hearing on Plaintiff’s Motion for Final 

Approval of Settlement/Plan of Allocation and for an Award of Attorneys’ Fees and 

Reimbursement of Expenses, April 29, 2009.   
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	FCA
	FINAL NOTICE
	To:   Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd (Martins)
	Address:  Cannon Bridge House, 25 Dowgate Hill, London EC4R 2BB
	Reference Number: 187916
	Date:   15 May 2014
	1. ACTION
	1.1. For the reasons given in this notice, the FCA hereby imposes on Martins a financial penalty of £630,000 in accordance with section 206 of FSMA. 
	1.2. The FCA would have fined Martins £3,600,000, subject to the appropriate discount (if applicable) under the FCA’s executive settlement procedures. Given Martins’ financial circumstances however, in particular, the fact that Martins would be unable to pay a penalty of this amount (together with the other regulatory liabilities that Martins faces in relation to LIBOR), the FCA has reduced the fine by 75% to £900,000 and has agreed to accept payment in instalments over three years.
	1.3. Martins agreed to settle at an early stage of the FCA’s investigation and therefore qualified for a 30% (Stage 1) discount under the FCA’s executive settlement procedures.  Were it not for this discount, the FCA would have imposed a financial penalty of £900,000 on Martins.

	2. SUMMARY OF REASONS
	2.1. The FCA has taken this action because, during the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2010, Martins breached Principles 5 and 3 through misconduct relating to the calculation of JPY LIBOR.
	2.2. In breach of Principle 5, Brokers at Martins colluded with a Trader at UBS (Trader A) as part of a co-ordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate.
	2.3. In breach of Principle 3, Martins failed to have adequate risk management systems or effective controls in place to monitor and oversee its broking activity.
	LIBOR
	2.4. LIBOR is a benchmark reference rate fundamental to the operation of both UK and international financial markets.  Its integrity is of fundamental importance to confidence in the financial system.
	2.5. LIBOR was, at the relevant time, published daily in a number of currencies and maturities and set according to a definition published by the BBA.  It was based on interbank borrowing in the London market and Panel Banks made daily submissions to the BBA to enable LIBOR to be calculated.
	2.6. During the Relevant Period, Brokers at Martins acted improperly and breached Principle 5 by failing to observe proper standards of market conduct. Its Brokers colluded with Trader A as part of a coordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate.
	2.7. Brokers at Martins attempted to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks by suggesting to the Panel Banks that they make JPY LIBOR submissions at levels requested by Trader A.
	2.8. Brokers at Martins knew that the levels requested by Trader A were incorrect or misleading and they understood that Trader A was attempting to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate in order to improve the profitability of his Trading Positions.
	2.9. Brokers at Martins were in regular contact with Panel Banks. On occasion, they provided Panel Banks with “Run-Throughs”. A Run-Through was Martins’ assessment (purportedly based on the knowledge it had gained through its participation in transactions in the market and its general view of the market) of the correct level of JPY LIBOR.
	2.10. In particular, on or around dates when the level of the final published JPY LIBOR rate was of particular significance to the profitability of Trader A’s Trading Positions, the Brokers:
	2.10.1 requested that Panel Banks make specific JPY LIBOR submissions at levels that would benefit Trader A;
	2.10.2 provided misleading Run-Throughs to Panel Banks. They were misleading because they did not reflect their independent assessment of the market but instead took into account JPY LIBOR levels requested by Trader A, and
	2.10.3 created false (or “spoof”) orders, with the aim of influencing Panel Banks’ views of the cash market so that they would make JPY LIBOR submissions at levels that benefitted Trader A.
	2.11 Martins assisted Trader A because he was a significant client who accounted for a substantial proportion of the revenue of the JPY desk at Martins.
	2.12 UBS, through Trader A, also entered into “wash trades” (i.e. risk free trades that cancelled each other out and which had no legitimate commercial rationale) with Martins, in order to facilitate corrupt brokerage payments to Brokers as a reward for their attempts to influence the JPY LIBOR submissions of  Panel Banks.
	2.13 At least three Brokers, one of whom was also a Manager, colluded with Trader A in attempting to manipulate the published JPY LIBOR rate.  At least one other Broker facilitated the wash trades.  At least one other Manager was aware that wash trades had been executed to pay Brokers additional brokerage payments.
	2.14 In total, UBS made at least 600 requests to Martins during the Relevant Period. Although Brokers did not usually accommodate these requests, they followed them on specific occasions, when Trader A had large fixings or when they were keen to boost their commission.
	2.15 Martins’ breaches of Principle 5 were extremely serious.  Its misconduct gave rise to a risk that the published JPY LIBOR rate would be manipulated and undermined the integrity of that rate. Martins’ collusion with UBS, and Martins’ provision of misleading Run-Throughs to several Panel Banks, significantly increased the risk of manipulation of the published JPY LIBOR rate. This was because the averaging process applied to submissions as part of the calculation of the published rate means that the risk of manipulation is greater if more than one Panel Bank’s submission has been manipulated.
	2.16 The use of spoof orders by Brokers further aggravated this risk.
	2.17 During the Relevant Period, Martins breached Principle 3 by failing to take reasonable care to organise and control its affairs responsibly and effectively, with adequate risk management systems or effective controls in place to monitor and oversee its broking activity.
	2.18 Martins failed to have adequate systems and controls in place during the Relevant Period to address the risk of collusion between Brokers and their clients.
	2.19 Martins had minimal policies and procedures in place to govern individual Broker behaviour and those that were in place were inadequately designed and easily circumvented.
	2.20 Martins had no effective compliance function with limited training for Brokers and no effective compliance monitoring to detect Broker misconduct.  There was an absence of effective transaction monitoring procedures, such as might reasonably have detected the wash trades.
	2.21 Martins’ reporting lines and responsibilities were unclear at every level, including amongst senior management, meaning that responsibility for compliance oversight of individual Brokers was unclear and effectively uncontrolled as a result.
	2.22 Martins’ lack of adequate systems, controls, supervision and monitoring throughout the Relevant Period meant that this serious and widespread misconduct went undetected and continued unabated throughout the Relevant Period.
	Penalty
	2.23 The integrity of benchmark reference rates such as LIBOR is of fundamental importance to both UK and international financial markets.  Martins’ misconduct could have caused serious harm to other market participants.  Martins’ misconduct also undermined the integrity of LIBOR and threatened confidence in and the stability of the UK financial system.
	2.24 The misconduct of certain Brokers was routine and widely known within the firm.  They engaged in this serious misconduct in order to serve their own interests.  The duration and extent of Martins’ misconduct was exacerbated by its inadequate systems and controls.
	2.25 The FCA therefore considers it is appropriate to impose a very significant financial penalty of £900,000 on Martins in relation to its misconduct during the Relevant Period.


	3. DEFINITIONS
	3.1. The following definitions are used in this notice:

	4. FACTS AND MATTERS
	Background
	LIBOR and interest rate derivative contracts
	4.1. LIBOR is the most frequently used benchmark for interest rates globally; it is referenced in transactions with a notional outstanding value of at least USD 500 trillion. During the Relevant Period, LIBOR was published for ten currencies and fifteen maturities. JPY LIBOR is a widely used benchmark rate.
	4.2. Interest rate derivatives contracts typically contain payment terms that refer to benchmark rates. LIBOR is by far the most prevalent benchmark rate used in over-the counter interest rate derivatives contracts and exchange traded interest rate contracts.
	4.3. LIBOR was, at the relevant time, published on behalf of the BBA.  LIBOR (in each relevant currency) was set by reference to the assessment of the interbank market made by a number of Panel Banks.  The Panel Banks were selected by the BBA.  Each Panel Bank contributed rate submissions each business day.
	4.4. These submissions were not averages of the relevant Panel Banks’ transacted rates on a given day. The BBA required Panel Banks to exercise their judgement in evaluating the rates at which money may be available to them in the interbank market when determining their submissions.
	4.5. During the Relevant Period, the LIBOR definition published by the BBA and available to participants in UK and international financial markets was as follows:
	“The rate at which an individual contributor panel bank could borrow funds, were it to do so by asking for and then accepting interbank offers in reasonable market size just prior to 11:00 London time.”
	4.6. The definition of LIBOR required submissions related to funding from the Panel Banks.  It did not allow for consideration of factors unrelated to borrowing or lending in the interbank market, such as Trading Positions.
	4.7. During the Relevant Period (particularly during the financial crisis), there was very little interbank lending to guide LIBOR submitters at Panel Banks. Submitters at those Panel Banks therefore came to rely increasingly on broker-provided market colour and Run-Throughs to inform their LIBOR submissions.
	Martins’ role in the financial markets and LIBOR
	4.8. Martins is a voice broker, acting for institutional clients transacting in the wholesale financial markets.  During the Relevant Period, Martins’ main role was to bring together counterparties to execute trades in return for commissions and where necessary, to provide information to clients. 
	4.9. The information Martins provided to its clients included advice as to where it believed the published LIBOR rates would be set on particular days.
	4.10. Amongst other things, as a broker, Martins helps facilitate interbank funding by introducing and assisting clients (including Panel Banks) to negotiate: (i) deposits and loans; and (ii) trades in relation to interest rate derivatives products that are directly referenced to LIBOR rates.  This provides Martins with particular market insight into cash trading prices and expected published LIBOR rates. Based on this insight Martins is able to provide clients (including Panel Banks) with suggestions, in Run-Throughs, as to where LIBOR may set on particular dates.
	Martins’ internal structure
	4.11. Martins is organised into various “desks” of Brokers.  Each desk specialises in facilitating trades in different currencies and financial products on behalf of its clients.
	4.12. In addition to their basic salary, Brokers were also paid a bonus that represented a percentage of net profit generated on a quarterly basis. Any agreed bonus was shared between the Brokers on the desk.  During the Relevant Period, 30 percent of this net profit amount was paid to the Brokers and 70 percent was retained by Martins.
	4.13. On most desks bonuses were calculated on an individual basis.  However, the JPY Desk was different in that commission income from all of its Brokers was pooled.  The JPY Desk comprised eight to ten Brokers and the bonus was shared equally between each of these Brokers.
	4.14. During the Relevant Period, the Arbitrage Desk was responsible for executing trades for institutional clients (including Panel Banks) in relation to instruments between different currencies, including JPY.
	Principle 5 breaches:  attempts to manipulate JPY LIBOR rates
	Martins’ collusion with Trader A
	4.15. During the Relevant Period, Brokers colluded with Trader A as part of a co-ordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate.
	4.16. Brokers attempted to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks by suggesting to the Panel Banks that they make JPY LIBOR submissions at levels requested by Trader A.
	4.17. Trader A usually made his requests to Broker A. If Broker A was unavailable he would then make his requests to Broker B, who was one of Broker A’s colleagues on the JPY Desk.
	4.18. For example, on 18 July 2008, Trader A wanted a lower one month JPY LIBOR rate. In a Bloomberg exchange with Broker A, Trader A identified the JPY LIBOR submission made by Panel Bank 1 the previous day as: “a joke”. Trader A asked whether Broker A had: “spoken to [Panel Bank 1] re his 1m fix”. 
	4.19. Panel Bank 1 was a client of Broker B. At Broker A’s request, Broker B called Trader-Submitter A, Panel Bank 1’s JPY LIBOR submitter. Broker B requested that he set his one month JPY LIBOR submission at: “65…got someone asking here…if you can…or as low as possible basically”. Trader-Submitter A agreed to set Panel Bank 1’s one month JPY LIBOR submission at 0.63.
	4.20. Panel Bank 1’s one month JPY LIBOR submission was 0.63 that day, down from 0.71 on the previous day. This resulted in Panel Bank 1 moving to equal thirteenth in the ranking of Panel Banks, from equal first on the previous day.
	4.21. Occasionally, Broker A was assisted by Brokers on both the JPY Desk and on the Arbitrage desk.
	4.22. For example, on 25 February 2009, Trader A telephoned Broker A and stated that he wanted lower JPY LIBOR submissions in each of the one, three and six month maturities (or “tenors”). Trader A added that he was: “just trying to think who you might be able to ****ing lean on a bit today…it’s really important to get the threes down for me…”.
	4.23. Trader A asked Broker A to approach  various Panel Banks, including Panel Bank 2 and Panel Bank 3, in order to suggest that they lower their three month JPY LIBOR submissions. Later that day, Broker A spoke with Trader-Submitter B, the JPY LIBOR submitter at Panel Bank 2: 

	5. FAILINGS
	5.1. The regulatory provisions relevant to this Final Notice are referred to in Annex A.
	Principle 5
	5.2. During the Relevant Period, Martins acted improperly and breached Principle 5 by failing to observe proper standards of market conduct.
	5.3. Its Brokers colluded with Trader A as part of a co-ordinated attempt to influence JPY LIBOR submissions made by Panel Banks, in an attempt to manipulate the final published JPY LIBOR rate.
	5.4. In particular, on or around dates when the level of the final published JPY LIBOR rate was of particular significance to the profitability of Trader A’s Trading Positions, Martins through its Brokers:

	6. SANCTION 
	7. PROCEDURAL MATTERS
	Decision maker
	7.1 The decision which gave rise to the obligation to give this notice was made by the Settlement Decision Makers.
	7.2 This Final Notice is given under, and in accordance with section 390 of FSMA.  
	7.3 The financial penalty is to be paid over a period of three years, as follows:
	7.4 If any instalment is not paid by the due date for that instalment then the remainder of the financial penalty becomes payable immediately and in full.  The FCA may recover the outstanding amount as a debt owed by Martins and due to the FCA.
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